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Highlights 
•  delivered strong earnings growth, lifting post tax earnings for the 2005/2006 financial year to $140.8 million,  

an increase of 59% over the prior year (restated for AIFRS)

•  future development pipeline approaching $5 billion widely spread both geographically and by product type

•  the largest retirement village owner and operator in Australia and New Zealand

•  a master planned community presence in all three states along the Eastern seaboard

Market CapitalisationDistributions

Performance
Snapshot
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Divisional Operating Profit

 Retirement 45%
 RVG 8%
 Development 19%
 Mulpha FKP 3%
 Land 13%
  Property Investment  

& Funds Management 10%
 Other 2%

Recurring Income

 Recurring 63%
 Non-Recurring 37%
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FKP Property Group is one of Australia’s leading property and investment groups with 
operations spanning Australia and New Zealand and a ranking as an ASX top 200 company.

FKP successfully operates with an integrated business model, drawing on expertise in 
development (comprising commercial, industrial, retail and residential), construction, land 
subdivision, retirement village ownership and management, investment and property and 
asset management.

FKP’s growth is underpinned by a commitment to deliver outstanding property and investment  
solutions that provide valuable returns to both our securityholders and customers.

Company
Profile
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I am proud to introduce the 2006 Annual Report for FKP Property Group  

after yet another outstanding year. FKP again delivered strong earnings 

growth, lifting post tax earnings for the 2005/2006 financial year to 

$140.8 million, an increase of 59% over the prior year (restated for 

AIFRS). The headline result translates to 76.6 cents of earnings per security. 

The distribution for the June 2006 half was 14.6 cents per security, bringing 

total distributions for the year to a record 28.8 cents. This was an increase of 

15% over the previous year, continuing a strong growth trend stretching back 

for many years. 

The 2005/2006 year was another period of strong activity by FKP Property 

Group, details of which are included in the Managing Director’s Report. 

The growth was particularly evident in the Retirements and Developments 

Divisions. More importantly, acquisitions and organic growth achieved during 

the year have set a solid platform for the delivery of higher earnings in the 

years ahead. 

After balance date, in September 2006, the Group announced the purchase 

from private interests of Wilbow Corporation, an acquisition that adds to the 

depth of the Group’s residential and commercial land bank at an attractive 

time in the property cycle. This announcement was accompanied by an 

institutional capital raising that added approximately $112.8m to the Group’s 

equity base. 

The year saw the retirement from the Board of Mr Des Forrester, who was 

one of the founders of the Group, running the successful construction division 

for some years. Des can be very proud of his contribution to the Group, both 

as an executive and later as a Director, and on behalf of the Board I wish him 

every success in his future endeavours. 

The Board also welcomed the addition of Mr Seng Huang Lee in February.  

Mr Lee is best known in Australia as the Executive Chairman of Mulpha 

Australia Ltd, but he also has extensive business interests throughout South 

East Asia. The Mulpha Group has established a formidable reputation for its 

investment and operating skills, and we are delighted that Mulpha has elected 

to invest in a strategic holding in FKP Property Group. 

The management team and their staff have again excelled. It is to their credit 

that they have successfully managed the day to day operations through a 

period of significant growth, with the Group’s market capitalisation having 

increased nearly four-fold in the last two years. On behalf of the Board,  

I extend my sincere gratitude and congratulations on a job well done.

I thank securityholders for their continued support, and I look forward  

to seeing as many of you as possible at the Annual General Meeting on  

30 November 2006. 

 

Ben Macdonald 

Chairman

Chairman’s
Report
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In my report to securityholders last year, I described the 2004/2005 year 

as an “extraordinary” one for the FKP Property Group. I am delighted 

to now report, twelve months later, that the 2005/2006 year saw the 

Group move to an even higher level, highlighted by record earnings and 

distributions, with a number of strategic initiatives being made that will 

hold the Group in good stead for years to come. 

The net profit for the year was $140.8m, an increase of 59% over the prior 

year. The result included a number of non-operating gains and losses, and 

the operating profit after tax was $107.7m. This was also a record result, 

representing an increase of 22% over the prior year. The operating result 

reflected earnings of 58.6 cents per security.

The Group was active on many fronts in 2005/2006, both in terms of existing 

business growth and acquisitions. 

The most significant growth was attained by the Group’s retirements  

business, including the formation of a joint venture with Macquarie Bank 

known as Retirement Villages Group (“RVG”). During the year, RVG made a 

number of successful acquisitions, both in Australia and New Zealand. By the 

end of the period, FKP Property Group held the dominant industry position 

throughout Australasia, and the strong earnings detailed in this report  

vindicate the Group’s strategy of increasing its investment in this area.

Managing
Director’s Report

The Group’s development pipeline is 
diversified as to location and product type.
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The Developments Division also produced a very strong result, and it was 

pleasing to see that contributions were made by all three states in which the 

division operates, namely Queensland, New South Wales and Victoria. The 

Group has actively pursued a strategy of broadening its development base 

away from Queensland in the past few years, and the strong results achieved 

by the teams in the southern states reflect the success of this strategy. The 

Group is now well positioned in terms of both geographic and product 

diversity to optimise its exposure to the development cycle in coming years. 

The Chairman has mentioned the extension of our close relationship with the 

Mulpha Group of companies. In December 2005, the FKP Property Group 

settled the first leg of its eventual 49.9% acquisition of Mulpha Norwest (now 

Mulpha FKP), and the acquisition performed slightly ahead of expectations in 

its first six months. We are confident that the relationship will open up many 

opportunities for both groups in coming years. 

The results from the Land Division were down on the previous year, but 

this was expected given that the residential markets returned to normal after 

several very strong years. Nothing illustrates the transformation that FKP 

Property Group has undergone in recent years better than the fact that a 

significant lift in total profit was achieved despite the earnings from the Land 

Division having reduced. Barely three years ago the Group’s Peregian Springs 

land holdings were generating more than half of total earnings, and the Group 

has deliberately sought in that time to diversify its operations to make it less 

reliant upon a strong residential sector. 

Securityholders will be aware that for some years, the Group has pursued 

a strategy of increasing its proportion of income from recurring sources to 

50% by 2008. I am pleased to report that the target was achieved ahead 

of schedule, with 63% of earnings being achieved from these sources in 

2005/2006. Progress towards that goal had been rapid, improving from 35% 

in 2004/2005, and 18% in 2003/2004. 

As well as Retirements income, the other source of recurring earnings is from 

the Group’s Property Investment and Funds Management Division. It was a 

very active year for the division, which returned a record profit. The highlight 

was the successful launch of the unlisted FKP Core Plus Fund, targeted at 

wholesale investors. It is a credit to the division that assets under management 

are currently running at virtual full occupancy. 

At June 2006, FKP Property Group had total assets of $2,260m throughout 

Australia and New Zealand, and shareholders’ funds of $693m. The 

latter figure was further increased in September 2006 by a very successful 

institutional capital raising of more than $112m. Following the acquisition of 

the Wilbow Group, also in September 2006, the Group now has a forward 

development pipeline approaching $5 billion. 

FKP Property Group has been, by any measure, one of the most successful 

Australian property companies in recent years. The Group’s achievement in 

being able to deliver strong growth while lifting the share of recurring income 

is an outcome of which I am very proud. The executive team will be working 

hard in 2006/2007 to enhance the level of performance even further, and we 

are targeting growth in distributions of a further 10%. 

The results for 2006/2007 will be weighted more heavily towards the second 

half, as a number of developments are not anticipated to be completed until 

near the end of the financial year. These include the Horton Park apartment 

project, the Sabaya project in Port Douglas and the Campbelltown industrial 

subdivision in New South Wales.

PETER BROWN 

Managing Director & CEO

Left to right: Lexington Corporate, Norwest Business Park, Sydney. 
Hillsborough Heights Village, Auckland, New Zealand.
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Clockwise from top left: Leanne - Retirement; Adam - Construction; Angela & Jessica - Reception; Dylan - IT; Thanh - Retirement; Jenny - Legal & Compliance; Laurie - IT; Anita - Sales & Marketing; Rob - Retirement; Frank - Estimating;  
Pam & Sue - Retirement; Melissa - Retirement; Mike - Construction; Luke - Construction; Sharon - Retirement; John - Development; Jodie - Development; Kim - Development; Michelle - Human Resources; Linda - Retirement.

Our
People
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RETIREMENT 
INVESTMENT DIVISION
The 2005/2006 financial year was an 

outstanding one for the division, in which it 

firmly consolidated its position as the leading 

owner/operator of retirement villages in 

Australia. The profit for the period was  

$81.2 million, an increase of 20% over the (AIFRS restated) result  

from the prior year.

At June 30 2006, the total value of all units owned by the division exceeded 

$1,100 million. This is a tremendous base from which to derive future 

earnings, and the ongoing results from this division are a key component of 

the Group’s strategy to increase its earnings from recurring sources. 

The cash generated from deferred management fees and capital gains share 

paid by departing residents climbed to $22.5m in 2005/2006. This was 41%  

higher than in the previous year, and an impressive 28% higher when the 

impact of acquisitions is excluded. The recent boom in residential prices ensures  

that the level of capital gains share will remain high for many years to come. 

During the year the Group acquired the operations of the National Retirements  

Company (NRC), which added 14 villages to the Group’s portfolio, based 

in Brisbane, the Gold Coast and Adelaide. This acquisition, together with 

the development of new units, saw the Group’s portfolio expanded to 

approximately 5,300 units at year-end, located within 42 separate villages 

across five states. The integration of this acquisition has proceeded smoothly, 

with no disruption to the day-to-day experiences of the residents.

The retirement village sector has come to be seen as a very attractive 

investment over the past twelve months. Financial institutions such as 

Macquarie Bank, AMP and Babcock and Brown have made investments in 

the sector, and many of the major property groups have announced plans to 

gain or increase their exposure. This has resulted in prices of mature villages 

increasing, and the value of the Group’s investments has lifted accordingly. 

However, retirement villages are first and foremost about service,  

and as well as being well positioned in terms of the scale of its investment,  

FKP Property Group has developed an enviable reputation for the quality  

of its management.

A major initiative during the year was the consolidation of all villages under 

the single brand name of “Aveo – Live Well”. Residents have a high regard for 

the quality of the Group’s management, but until recently the division has 

operated under a number of different brand names, reflecting the fact that the 

villages had largely been acquired from a variety of owners. 

The FKP Property Group intends to make “Aveo – Live Well” the first name 

thought of by aspiring residents, and to this end a continual improvement 

process is in place to ensure that service levels remain at the forefront of the 

industry. As well as managing its own villages, the division will also manage the  

Australian operations of the Retirement Villages Group (owned in joint venture 

with Macquarie Bank), and the brand will increase its exposure as a result. 

The division will look to further consolidate its position as the leader in the 

industry in coming years.

Further acquisitions are being sought, but with prices having moved higher in 

the last twelve months, it will be more difficult to find villages that meet the 

Group’s strict investment and strategic criteria. Nonetheless, the Group’s 

many years of experience in evaluating and operating villages gives it a strong 

competitive advantage in the market.

Even without acquisitions, there is significant growth embedded within 

the division. FKP Property Group has an existing land bank to allow the 

development of a further 1,300 units, which would be a large portfolio in its 

own right. As well, many of the Group’s villages are located in prime areas of 

the major cities, and they lend themselves to redevelopment opportunities 

that will be explored in conjunction with the Group’s developments divisions.

The division is well-placed to increase its earnings further in 2006/2007, and 

with the overall age of the portfolio increasing every year, the level of cash 

earnings is expected to follow a similar growth path. 

Review
of Operations
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PROPERTy DEVELOPMENT DIVISION
FKP Property Group further increased the diversity of its exposure to 

the development sector in 2005/2006. The division’s operations in New 

South Wales have increased significantly in scale, with Victoria set to 

achieve similar growth in the next twelve months. 

The division posted a profit of $34.6 million, an increase of 33% over the 

prior year. This was a particularly pleasing result given that some sectors of the 

market remained relatively flat during the year. The impressive performance 

can be attributed to the Group’s policy of diversification, whereby its investment  

in the sector is widely spread both geographically and by product type. 

The earnings for the year were split between commercial (39%), residential 

(46%) and retirement (14%) developments. The Group is consciously 

employing more of its capital into the commercial area (office, retail, bulky 

goods and industrial), and expects to see these products being even more 

strongly represented in future. 

Construction costs, which had become overheated during the previous year, 

moderated during 2005/2006, and the Group’s construction arm is now 

engaged in a number of profitable external projects.

The division is well placed in terms of its land bank to deliver profits in coming 

years. Including some planned developments that are within the Wilbow 

portfolio (acquired in September 2006), the division currently has on hand  

a future pipeline of about $2.5 billion, much of which will be developed in  

the next five years. 

Queensland
The commercial, retail and industrial markets 

remain strong in Queensland. The division 

completed the final sales at the Gateway 

Industrial Estate before the end of the year. 

The division also completed the development of 

Stage 1 of the Redbank Plains Shopping Village, which has been retained by 

the stapled FKP Property Trust. The development application for Stages 2 & 3 

was lodged during the year.

Although the residential apartment market was softer than in recent years, 

a solid earnings contribution was derived from the sector. The “Soho” 

development in South Brisbane was completed and fully settled during the first 

half of the year. In the second half, the Group completed construction of the 

“Vue” project on Coronation Drive, Brisbane with approximately 65% of the 

project being sold within the year at budgeted margins. 

Development approval was received for Stage 1 of the high profile urban 

renewal project at Newstead, an inner city suburb of Brisbane. The Newstead 

project overall will be the Group’s largest project to date, and settlement of 

the site will follow the completion of remediation works being undertaken by 

a third party. 

The Group also received development approval for an industrial park at 

Mackay, which has been designed as a 90-lot subdivision. Although the Group 

is generally cautious about industrial exposure in regional areas, the city of 

Mackay is enjoying spectacular growth on the back of the strong resources 

industry. The Group’s development is underpinned by a significant level of 

pre-commitment from a major national distributor, and the project is expected 

to contribute to 2006/2007 earnings. 

Marketing and construction commenced on two new apartment projects, 

one in Maroochydore, and the other in Port Douglas. The presales response 

to date has been encouraging, and both of these projects are expected to 

generate earnings in the 2006/2007 year. 

The year also saw the completion and sale of about 100 new retirement 

units. This is somewhat lower than the preferred target, but particularly in the 

second half of the financial year there was strong competition from the high 

volume of pre-existing units available for resale. 

The division is well positioned in terms of future earnings. The project at 

Milton (inner Brisbane) is likely to be larger in scale than first envisaged, and in 

2005/2006 the Group also consolidated sites for another significant inner-city 

(Albion, Brisbane) mixed-use development. In addition, the division entered 

into a joint venture to redevelop a retail site at Marsden Park (suburban 

Brisbane), and will develop a bulky goods centre at Browns Plains (suburban 

Brisbane) for the stapled FKP Property Trust.

Above left to right: Glen Brown, General Manager Retirement.  
Matthew Miller, Queensland Manager.

Below left to right: Metlifecare Pinesong, Titirangi, Auckland. 
Aveo Clayfield, Brisbane. Gateway Industrial Estate, Pinkenba, Brisbane.  
Vue Apartment Development, Milton, Brisbane.
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New South Wales
It is now several years since the Group 

made the strategic decision to establish 

development operations in New South Wales, 

and 2005/2006 was a milestone year in the 

evolution of this operation to a significant 

profit contributor in the long-term.

The highlight of the year was the completion of the Lexington Corporate 

commercial strata development at Sydney’s Norwest Business Park. The 

development was completed ahead of schedule, and about 60% of the 

project was pre-sold at high margins. The balance of the development is 

expected to be sold in 2006/2007.

The other project completed during the year was a small apartment 

development at Rosebery in Sydney. With the downturn in the Sydney 

apartment investment market, the rate of sales is behind original expectations, 

but the enquiry rate has increased since the completion of the development, 

once aspiring buyers could see first hand the quality of the finished product. 

A number of quality sites were acquired during the year, and the projects on 

hand should deliver strong earnings streams, particularly from 2007/2008 

onwards. As well as a further stage of the Lexington Corporate project, the 

division has industrial sites at Warriewood and Campbelltown, a commercial 

strata project at Brookvale, a retail site at Mt Annan (Western Sydney),  

and a further stage of apartments at Rosebery. 

The division will also be undertaking a greenfield retirements development  

on the South Coast and is searching for other opportunities.

With the increase in activity, the division has established a construction 

capacity, in order to replicate the successful model enjoyed by the 

development division in Queensland. The growth in staff numbers, necessary 

to deliver on the development pipeline, saw the division move to larger 

premises during the year, located at Quay St in Sydney. The building is owned 

by the FKP Core Plus Fund. 

Victoria
Like New South Wales, this is a relatively  

new division that is scaling up its  

activities in accordance with the Group’s 

strategic objective of diversifying its 

development activities. Nonetheless,  

the division was profitable in 2005/2006,  

a very promising result so early in its history. 

One of the principal achievements in the year was the completion of the 

Carringbush commercial strata development at Collingwood in Melbourne. 

The units were targeted at the leasing market, and progress has been very 

strong. The individual units have been well received by investors, and will 

continue to provide a source of earnings in 2006/2007.

The division has also completed the sell-out of its land subdivision project at 

Torquay, south-west of Melbourne. 

Review
of Operations
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During the year, the division capitalised on the strong industrial market in 

Melbourne by acquiring two sites, at Campbellfield and Carrum Downs. 

These sites collectively provide nearly 80 hectares of high-quality land, and 

they will be developed in joint venture with the FKP Core Plus Fund.

A significant event after the balance date was the Group’s acquisition of 

the privately-held Wilbow Corporation. As well as providing a number of 

high-quality land subdivision projects, the acquisition also includes seven 

commercial developments within Melbourne and other parts of Victoria.  

The largest of these, at Hawthorn, will be a mixed-use project with an end 

value of more than $130m.

The Wilbow acquisition will provide immediate scale to the development 

division in Victoria, and as in New South Wales, the division is currently adding 

staff and is seeking new premises. 

LAND DIVISION
The profit contribution made by the Land 

Division was down on the previous year, but 

this was in accordance with its budget, in what 

was a difficult year for the residential markets. 

Sales at the Group’s flagship development at 

Peregian Springs held up better than in many other parts of the country, on 

the back of continuing strong migration to the Sunshine Coast, and the high 

quality of this master planned community. A profit of $24.3m was achieved 

through a combination of sales of super lots and 121 regular lots. Prices and 

margins were maintained at the previous year’s levels. 

A milestone achievement was the obtaining of development approval for 

the Group’s holding at Coolum Ridges, which adjoins Peregian Springs. Civil 

works are expected to commence at Coolum Ridges shortly, and the two 

estates, which will be operated and marketed jointly, provide a future land 

bank of approximately 1,700 lots in one of Australia’s fastest growing regions. 

The combination of increased interest rates and higher petrol prices is 

likely to see demand for land remain relatively subdued during 2006/2007. 

Accordingly, the Group has budgeted a slightly lower contribution from 

the division next year. However, the longer-term value of the holding is 

undiminished, and the Group will continue to receive a reliable stream of 

earnings from these estates for years to come.

With the residential market having come off its peak, the Group has been 

actively searching for land of similar quality to add scale and longevity to the 

division’s earnings. The acquisition of Wilbow Corporation after balance date 

has provided 14 land projects, of which two will become significant-sized 

master planned communities. These are located at Point Cook in Melbourne 

(2,200 lots), and Rochedale in Brisbane (1,000 lots). The acquisition will 

also provide a number of smaller projects for the future, as well as some 

completed inventory that will immediately add to the Group’s turnover. 

Together with the residential land holdings acquired as part of the 49.9% 

acquisition of Mulpha FKP, the Group now has a master planned community 

presence in all three states along the Eastern seaboard. The total number 

of lots now exceeds 8,500, which positions the Group as one of Australia’s 

leading developers of residential land. The division is well placed to take 

advantage of the inevitable recovery in the residential markets, as its holdings 

comprise quality land in areas of short supply. 

Above left to right: Evian Delfabbro, New South Wales Manager;  
Jason Smith, Victoria Manager; Bryan Jackson, General Manager - Land.

Below left to right: Lexington Corporate, Norwest Business Park, Sydney.  
Metrolink Business Park, Campbellfield, Victoria.  
Peregian Springs Master Planned Community, Sunshine Coast.
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of Operations
PROPERTy INVESTMENT 
AND FuNDS 
MANAGEMENT DIVISION
The Property Investment and Funds 

Management Division posted a strong result  

of $18.6 million, more than double its earnings 

in the previous year. Excluding a non-operating profit of $1.2 million 

from the revaluation of Trust properties, the profit during the period  

was $17.4 million. 

By year-end, the division managed assets for a variety of stakeholders. As well 

as assets in the stapled FKP Property Trust, the division now has two externally 

managed funds, namely the FKP Commercial Property Trust No.1, and the 

new FKP Core Plus Fund.

The stapled FKP Property Trust sold its holding at 31 Queen Street Melbourne 

during the year for a profit of $5.8 million. Since that time, the Trust has 

actively rebuilt its portfolio, acquiring the in-house developed Redbank Plains 

Shopping Village. Stage 1 of the village was completed during the year, with 

two further stages to be completed. 

Since the balance date, the Trust announced the purchase of a commercial 

property at Lonsdale Street in Melbourne, to restore the Melbourne weighting  

post Queen Street. In addition, the Trust has announced the purchase of an 

existing bulky goods centre at Browns Plains in Brisbane, which has further 

development potential. Inclusive of those acquisitions, the Trust now owns, 

is developing, or has committed to purchase, properties with a total value in 

excess of $200 million, which are spread geographically through the Eastern 

seaboard. Occupancy within the Trust’s assets was 99.5% at period end. 

During the year, the Group successfully launched the unlisted FKP Core 

Plus Fund, which was designed to appeal to wholesale institutional investors. 

Inclusive of gearing, the targeted size of the fund ranges from $200m to 

$300m. The Fund will comprise a mixture of active core assets (providing 

immediate yield), and development exposure to be undertaken in joint 

ventures with FKP Property Group. The Group intends to maintain a minority 

interest in the Core Plus Fund, and at the present time is close to completing 

the sell-down of equity. 

As manager of the FKP Core Plus Fund, the division has already made a 

number of investments for the Fund, including income producing office 

properties in Sydney, Melbourne and Brisbane. Occupancy in these assets 

has been lifted from an average of 82% when acquired during the year, to 

100% at year-end. The Core Plus Fund has also agreed to enter into joint 

development arrangements with the Group in respect of industrial subdivision 

developments at two locations in Melbourne. 

The Group’s first external fund, FKP Commercial Property Trust No.1, 

continues to perform strongly. Its holding at 120 Edward Street Brisbane  

was revalued to $82 million at year-end, reflecting the strong commercial 

property market in Brisbane. Since its inception, this fund has consistently 

delivered returns to unitholders above the levels forecast in the Information 

Memorandum.

The past twelve months have continued to witness strong competition for 

quality property assets from both institutional and private sources. The division 

continues to search for assets on an opportunistic basis, and believes that each 

of its purchases to date represent value in a strengthening market. The quality 

of the commercial and retail pipeline being developed by FKP Developments 

holds the division in good stead in terms of obtaining future product, without 

the need to compete for scarce assets at compressed yields. 

Review
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EQuITy-ACCOuNTED 
INVESTMENTS
During the year, the Group made two 

significant equity investments in externally 

managed vehicles, both of which performed 

above expectations.

In September 2005, the Group announced a joint venture with Macquarie 

Bank (known as RVG) to acquire mature retirement villages. In the first half, 

the joint venture acquired 100% of the operations of PLC in New Zealand, 

and acquired a controlling interest (82%) in Metlifecare Limited, the leading 

retirement village owner-operator in New Zealand. In June 2006, the joint 

venture acquired 100% of Retirement Services Australia (RSA), whose villages 

are based in Victoria.

At year-end, RVG owned approximately 3,800 units, with a further 680 units 

in the development pipeline. Additional investors have recently been  

brought into the venture, and FKP’s share of RVG currently stands at 48%.

FKP’s equity accounted share of profits in 2005/2006 from RVG was  

$72.7 million. This figure includes bargain gains on acquisition of $60.4 million, 

which have been excluded from operating profit.

The New Zealand operations continue to be managed by their own executive  

teams, but FKP Property Group will manage the day-to-day operations of 

RSA, and also undertake its development, sales and marketing functions. 

During the year, the Group also completed arrangements with Mulpha 

Australia Ltd (Mulpha) to acquire a 49.9% interest in Mulpha FKP. Its assets 

include the highly acclaimed Norwest Business Park in Sydney, plus a portfolio 

of residential lots in growth corridors of Sydney.

The transaction will occur in two stages, the first of which saw the Group 

acquire a 38% interest in December 2005, for cash consideration of  

$66.8 million, plus the issue of approximately 11.6 million securities to 

Mulpha. It is expected that the second tranche of this acquisition will occur 

within 2006/2007, with the Group’s interest increasing to 49.9%, in  

consideration of the issue of a further 7.9 million FKP Property Group securities.

Notwithstanding difficult trading conditions in the Sydney residential market, 

the acquisition was modestly accretive to earnings per security in the 

2005/2006 financial year, with the Group’s equity accounted share of profits 

being $5.0 million after tax.

This acquisition met FKP’s strategic objective of increasing its presence in New 

South Wales, and the Group expects to enhance its development pipeline by 

undertaking selected commercial developments within the Norwest Business 

Park. Mulpha FKP has recently finalised plans to develop a 6,000 sq metre 

commercial project within the business park, and this development will be 

managed by the Group.

With the increasing size of the Group, it can be expected that more of its 

profits will be sourced from ventures with other parties. This allows the 

Group to diversify its sources of income, while reducing the need to use its 

balance sheet to 100% fund every acquisition. As such, a challenge for FKP 

Property Group will be to choose partners whose cultural values match its 

own, and who complement the Group’s skill base. In Mulpha and Macquarie 

Bank, the Group has identified two excellent partners who strongly meet 

these criteria, and both relationships are expected to grow over time. 

Above left to right: Adam Learmonth, Fund Manager.  
Darryl Guihot, Chief Financial Officer.

Below left to right: 399 Lonsdale Street, Melbourne. 
10 Quay Street, Sydney. 
Norwest Business Park, Sydney.
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As a committed corporate citizen FKP works to identify needs within 
the broader community and lend its support to make a difference.

In early 2006 FKP launched a strategic partnership with the youngcare 
Foundation, a charity dedicated to providing nursing accommodation and 
support to young individuals. The issue of young people living in aged care facilities  
is an emerging issue affecting the lives of more than 6000 young Australians.

To date, FKP and its staff have raised more than $60,000 for the charity 
through a variety of fundraising initiatives. FKP’s construction division is also 
providing project management and construction services to assist youngcare 
to build its first 18-bed apartment facility at Sinnamon Park in Brisbane.

FKP has also provided major sponsorship support to a number of Surf Life 
Saving Clubs including the Peregian Beach and Coolum Beach Surf Life Saving 
Clubs on the Sunshine Coast and the Jan Juc Surf Life Saving Club in Victoria.

In addition, FKP has continued to develop long term partnerships within 
the Sunshine Coast community through a number of endeavours. FKP’s 
support has varied from hosting corporate charity days at the Peregian 
Springs Golf Club for organisations including the Variety Club and the Hear 
and Say Centre, to sponsorship of key local events, including the Noosa and 
Mooloolaba Triathlons and the Noosa Jazz Festival. 

FKP’s fundraising in New South Wales has included fundraising support in 
aid of the Cancer Council, Rotary and Lions Clubs and Children’s Medical 
Research Institute. 

On a national level, FKP continues to be a proud sponsor of E-tree, an 
incentive scheme designed to encourage shareholders of Australian companies 
to receive their shareholder communications electronically.

Commitment to making
a difference in the local community

Right: FKP staff fundraising for the youngCare Foundation.
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Board
of Directors

B W Macdonald  
Non Executive Chairman (Age 7�) 

Joined the Board in 1993 and 
elected Chairman in October 
2004. Since retiring in 1985 
as Joint Managing Director of 
Macdonald Hamilton and  
Co Ltd, he has served as 
a director of a number of 
Australian public companies, 
including Perpetual Trustees 
Australia Ltd (Chairman), AMP 
Society (Australia Board), Placer 
Pacific Ltd, CSR Limited,  
Allgas Energy Ltd, Queensland 
Cotton Holdings Limited and 
Brisbane Lions Football Club 
Limited. His current  
directorships include AP Eagers 
Ltd (Chairman), and Reef 
Corporate Services Limited 
(Chairman). Mr Macdonald  
was also a director of Bank  
of Queensland Limited  
and Casinos Austria  
International Limited.

P R Brown LLB(Hons) B.Com.  
Managing Director  
& Chief Executive Officer (Age 40)

Joined the Board as Managing 
Director in February 2003. 
He has in excess of 20 years 
experience in property 
having held senior executive 
positions in national ASX listed 
companies, including Thakral 
Holdings Group Ltd, Walker 
Corporation Limited and 
Australand Holdings Limited.

D C Crombie BEc  

Non Executive Director  
& Deputy Chairman (Age 62)

Joined the Board in 2001.  
He has had more than 35 
years experience in company 
management, mainly in rural 
industries and organisations. 
He has also been involved in 
property development activities 
on the Sunshine Coast and 
Brisbane. He stepped down 
as Managing Director of GRM 
International Pty Ltd in June 
2000 and remains on the Board. 
He is currently President of the 
National Farmers’ Federation 
Limited, President of the 
Queensland Rugby union and 
Chairman of the Australian Rural 
Leadership Foundation Limited.

R T Forrester 
Non-Executive Director (Age 55)

Joined the Board in 1987 and 
served as Managing Director 
up until 2003. He is a founding 
director of FKP Limited with 
over 30 years experience in 
construction and property 
development. He was a member  
of the university of the Sunshine 
Coast Council from 1996 
to 2002 serving as deputy 
Chancellor from 1998.  
He was also the founding 
Chairman of Matthew Flinders 
Anglican College.

P Parker 
Non-Executive Director (Age 60)

Joined the Board in 1987. He 
is a founding director of FKP 
Limited with over 35 years 
experience as a real estate 
agent and property developer. 
He is a registered real estate 
agent having operated real 
estate businesses in Darwin 
and on the Sunshine Coast. 
He spent 7 years in Brisbane 
and the Northern Territory in 
a marketing capacity for one 
of Queensland’s largest land 
developers. In 1975, Mr Parker 
moved to the Sunshine Coast 
and subsequently established 
his own real estate business 
expanding into property 
management, body corporate 
administration and the sale and 
leasing of commercial buildings.

L R McKinnon BA LLB M.Com.  
Non Executive Director (Age 5�)

Joined the Board in May 2005. 
He has extensive experience 
in property and other financing 
gained through more than  
25 years in investment 
banking. He was responsible 
for establishing the property 
finance business of Bankers 
Trust Australia Limited in 1993 
and in 1999 he set up his 
own specialist financial group, 
Winchester Property Services 
Limited. He is also a director 
of Gresham Property Funds 
Management Limited which 
manages mezzanine loan funds 
for property development  
and investment.

SH Lee  
Non-Executive Director (Age �2) 

Joined the Board in February 
2006. Mr Lee has over 10 
years experience in property 
development and financial 
services. Mr Lee is the 
Executive Chairman of Mulpha 
Australia Limited and Mulpha 
International Bhd. Mr Lee has 
held directorships in the E & 
I Bank in the Philippines, Sun 
Hung Kai & Company Limited 
in China, Lippo Ltd, a Chinese 
financial services and property 
development company, and 
Auric Pacific Ltd in Singapore.
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The Directors present their Report together with the Financial Statements of the FKP Property Group (‘Combined 
Group’) consisting of FKP Limited (‘Parent Entity’) and its Controlled Entities and FKP Property Trust (‘Property Trust’) for 
the year ended 30 June 2006 and the Auditor’s Report thereon.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of FKP Limited and FKP Funds Management Limited, as Responsible Entity of FKP Property Trust, during 
the year and until the date of this Report are:

B W Macdonald: Non-Executive Chairman (Age 73).
Joined the Board in September 1993 and elected Chairman in October 2004. Since retiring in 1985 as Joint Managing 
Director of Macdonald Hamilton and Co Ltd, Mr Macdonald has served as a director of a number of Australian public 
companies including Perpetual Trustees Australia Ltd (Chairman), AMP Society (Australia Board), Placer Pacific Ltd,  
CSR Limited, Allgas Energy Ltd, Queensland Cotton Holdings Limited and Brisbane Lions Football Club Limited.  
Mr Macdonald is currently a director of AP Eagers Ltd (Chairman) (January 1992 to date), and Reef Corporate Services 
Limited (Chairman). Mr Macdonald was also a director of Bank of Queensland Limited from July 1992 to April 2003 and 
Casinos Austria International Limited from October 1994 to September 2004.

P R Brown: LLB (Hons) B Com Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (Age 40).
Joined the Board as Managing Director in February 2003. Mr Brown has in excess of 20 years experience in property 
development having held senior executive positions in national ASX listed companies including Thakral Holdings Group 
Ltd, Walker Corporation Limited and Australand Holdings Limited. Mr Brown has been a Director of Forest Place Group 
Limited since December 2003.

R T Forrester: Non-Executive Director (Age 55).
Joined the Board in July 1987 and served as Managing Director until 2003. Mr Forrester is a founding director of FKP 
Limited with over 30 years experience in construction and property development. Mr Forrester was a director of Forest 
Place Group Limited from December 2003 to April 2004. Mr Forrester was a member of the University of the Sunshine 
Coast Council from 1996 to 2002 serving as Deputy Chancellor from 1998 and was also the founding chairman of 
Matthew Flinders Anglican College.

P Parker: Non-Executive Director (Age 60).
Joined the Board in July 1987. Mr Parker is a founding director of FKP Limited with over 35 years experience as a real 
estate agent and property developer. Mr Parker is a registered real estate agent having operated real estate businesses 
in Darwin and on the Sunshine Coast, and spent 7 years in Brisbane and the Northern Territory in a marketing capacity 
for one of Queensland’s largest land developers. In 1975, Mr Parker relocated to the Sunshine Coast and subsequently 
established his own real estate business expanding into property management, body corporate administration and the 
sale and leasing of commercial buildings. Mr Parker has been a Director of Forest Place Group Limited since March 2004.

D C Crombie: BEc Non-Executive Director (appointed Deputy Chairman on 31 January 2006) (Age 62).
Joined the Board in August 2001. Mr Crombie has more than 35 years experience in company management, mainly in 
rural industries and organisations. Mr Crombie stepped down as Managing Director of GRM International Pty Ltd in June 
2000 and remains on the Board. Mr Crombie has been involved in property development activities on the Sunshine 
Coast and in Brisbane. Mr Crombie is currently President of the National Farmers’ Federation Limited, President of 
Queensland Rugby Club and Chairman of Australian Rural Leadership Foundation Limited. 

L R McKinnon: BA LLB, MCom Non-Executive Director (Age 52).
Joined the Board in May 2005. Mr McKinnon has extensive experience in property and financing gained through more 
than 25 years in investment banking. Mr McKinnon was responsible for establishing the property finance business of 
Bankers Trust Australia Limited in 1993. In 1999 Mr McKinnon set up his own specialist financial group, Winchester 
Property Services Limited. Mr McKinnon is also a Director of Gresham Property Funds Management Limited which 
manages mezzanine loan funds for property development and investment.

SH Lee: Non-Executive Director (Age 32) (appointed Director of FKP Limited on 9 February 2006 
and Director of FKP Funds Management Limited on 29 June 2006).
Joined the Board in February 2006. Mr Lee has over 10 years experience in property development and financial 
services. Mr Lee is the Executive Chairman of Mulpha Australia Limited and Mulpha International Bhd. Mr Lee has held 
directorships in the E & I Bank in the Philippines, Sun Hung Kai & Company Limited in China, Lippo Ltd, a Chinese 
financial services and property development company, and Auric Pacific Ltd in Singapore.

D J Forrester: Non-Executive Director (Age 53) (Resigned 28 October 2005).
Joined the Board in July 1987. Founding Director of FKP Limited with over 30 years experience in construction and 
property development. Mr Forrester relocated to the Sunshine Coast in 1981 to become Construction Manager of the 
building division. From 1986 to June 2000 Mr Forrester was the Managing Director of FKP Constructions Pty Ltd with 
responsibility for all construction activities Australia wide.

All Directors shown were in office from the beginning of the year until the date of this Report, unless otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of Directors’ meetings (including Meetings of Committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended 
by each of the Directors of the Combined Group during the financial year were:

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
AUDIT  

COMMITTEE
REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE
HELD 1 ATTENDED HELD 1 ATTENDED HELD 1 ATTENDED

B W Macdonald 11 11 4 4 2 2
P R Brown 11 11 - - 2 1
R T Forrester 11 8 - - 2 2
P Parker 11 9 - - - -
D J Forrester 2 5 5 - - - -
D C Crombie 11 8 4 4 - -
L R McKinnon 11 9 4 4 - -
SH Lee 3 4 4 - - - -

1 Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year.
2 Resigned 28 October 2005.
3 Appointed 9 February 2006. 

Directors’ Report 
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COMPANY SECRETARY
T Toner was Group Company Secretary from 1 July 2005 to 23 December 2005. M Pearson was Acting Group 
Company Secretary from 12 December 2005 to 29 May 2006.

S Stewart: LLB (Hons), LLM (Appointed 29 May 2006).

Ms Stewart was appointed as Group Company Secretary to the Combined Group in May 2006. In addition to her 
role as Group Company Secretary, she is General Legal Counsel. Ms Stewart is responsible for the Legal, Company 
Secretarial, Corporate Governance and Compliance functions within the Combined Group. Prior to joining FKP,  
Ms Stewart practised for 18 years in corporate and property law.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Combined Group during the course of the financial year were:

• development and management of retirement villages;

• investment in, and management of, retail, commercial and industrial property;

• development for resale of land, residential, retail, commercial and industrial property;

• commercial, industrial and residential building and construction for the Combined Group and external parties;

• funds and asset management; and

• property and project marketing.

STATE OF AFFAIRS
There have been no material changes in the state of the Combined Group’s affairs since the date of the last Report, 
other than as disclosed in this Report and the accompanying Financial Statements.

REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
These accounts are presented for the first time under Australian International Financial Reporting Standards (‘AIFRS’), with 
the prior period results being restated for comparative purposes.

During the previous financial year (2004 / 2005), the Combined Group took its present form, with the stapling of FKP 
Limited to the FKP Property Trust. This financial year was therefore the first full year of operations in the stapled form.

The profit after tax attributable to stapled securityholders was $140.8m, an increase of 59% over the previous 
corresponding period. Earnings per security during the period were 76.6 cents per security (‘cps’), an increase of 38% 
over the previous corresponding period.

The profit for the year ended 30 June 2006 was as follows:

COMBINED

2006 
$’000

2005 
$’000

Profit from ordinary activities before related income tax expense 198,494 122,972
Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities (53,768) (32,567)
Net profit 144,726 90,405
Net profit attributable to minority interests (3,914) (2,081)
Net Profit attributable to members of the Combined Group 140,812 88,324

Operating Profit
The net profit of $140.8m earned in the period was calculated after including certain gains and losses that are not of an 
operating nature. This includes bargain gains on acquisitions earned by the Retirement Villages Group (‘RVG’), in which 
the Combined Group has an equity accounted interest ($42.3m after tax), and a write-off of goodwill on the Combined 
Group’s purchase of an interest in Mulpha FKP Pty Ltd (formerly Mulpha Norwest Pty Ltd) amounting to $10.3m.  
The latter arose because of the requirement to calculate the acquisition price utilising the price of the Combined Group’s 
securities on the date of settlement (December 2005), some eight months after the commercial arrangements had been 
concluded. The price of the Combined Group’s securities had risen strongly in the intervening period. 

The profit of $140.8m also includes unrealised revaluation gains on assets owned by FKP Property Trust amounting to $1.2m.

When these non-operating gains and losses are excluded, the operating profit for the year was $107.7m, translating to 
earnings per security of 58.6 cents. These represent increases of 22% and 6% respectively. 

Distributions
The Combined Group will pay a final distribution for the year of 14.6 cps, for a total ordinary distribution of 28.8 cps. 
This represents an increase of 15% on the 25.0 cps paid in respect of the previous financial year.

Divisional Profit Contribution
The Retirements Division contributed $81.2m towards earnings before interest and tax (‘EBIT’), an increase of 20% on 
prior year. Cash received from deferred management fees (‘DMF’) and capital gains was $22.5m, an increase of 41%.

The increase in profits partly reflects the acquisition during the year of the operations of the National Retirement 
Company (‘NRC’), which added approximately 1,300 individual units to the Combined Group’s portfolio. This 
acquisition, together with the lease of new units developed on the existing land bank, saw total units owned at the end 
of the year increase to approximately 5,300 units. The improved performance also reflects the higher cash component 
received on the rollover of existing units, which reached 9% of the portfolio during the year.

During the year the division launched its new brand ‘Aveo – Live Well’ on a national basis. 

The Developments Division contributed EBIT of $34.6m, an increase of 33% over prior year. Strong results were 
achieved from the Lexington Corporate development at Sydney’s Norwest Business Park, which was completed  
in June 2006, and 60% pre-sold. The success of this development underscores the benefits of the Combined  
Group’s strategic decision to diversify its development activities to other parts of the eastern seaboard in addition to  
South East Queensland.

Other strong contributions to the development profit were recorded by the Vue residential apartment project in inner 
Brisbane, the Gateway industrial project in Brisbane (now fully sold) and the Collingwood strata commercial project 
in Melbourne. At the end of the period, the Combined Group had a Board-approved development pipeline with an 
estimated completion value of nearly $2 billion.

The Land Division contributed $24.3m to EBIT in 2005 / 2006. As in past years, the majority of this profit was sourced 
from the Combined Group’s holding at Peregian Springs, on Queensland’s Sunshine Coast. The profit was sourced from 
a mixture of super lot sales and 121 sales of regular lots.

During the financial year, the Combined Group received development approval for its Coolum Ridges estate, which is 
adjacent to the existing Peregian Springs holding. Civil works are scheduled to commence in early 2006/2007. 

The Property Investments and Funds Management Division continued to grow in scale during the year. The EBIT 
contribution grew from $8.9m to $18.6m, with operating earnings of $17.4m after certain unrealised revaluation gains 
are excluded. 

Directors’ Report continued
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At the end of the period, the FKP Property Trust had investment properties that were owned, under development, or 
committed to be purchased totalling in excess of $200m. The completed assets within the Trust had occupancy of 99.5%.

During the period the division launched an external fund, the FKP Core Plus Fund, designed to appeal to investors 
seeking enhanced returns from a mixture of income producing assets and development projects. By year end, more than 
$50m of external equity had been committed from a range of investors. The three active core assets owned by this fund 
had 100% occupancy at period end.

The Combined Group now holds significant equity accounted interests in a number of external vehicles. At June 2006, 
these included RVG, Mulpha FKP, interests in two retirement village syndicates managed by the Combined Group, and 
an interest in the FKP Core Plus Fund. The Combined Group also has entered into a number of joint development 
arrangements with the Core Plus Fund, and the Combined Group’s interest is equity accounted.

During the period, these interests in aggregate resulted in equity accounted profits of $81.6m before tax.

Capital Structure and Gearing
As part consideration for the acquisition of its interest in Mulpha FKP Pty Ltd, the Combined Group issued 11,583,333 
securities to Mulpha Australia Ltd in December 2005. Including issues of new securities under the Distribution 
Reinvestment Plan, the number of securities on issue at the end of the financial year was 191,161,904.

Interest bearing debt at the end of the financial year was $497m, including $60m owed to Mulpha FKP. At the end of 
the financial year, net interest bearing debt stood at 22% of book assets, or 72% of equity. The Combined Group has 
undrawn facilities of approximately $89m.

Current Assets and Liabilities
The Balance Sheet of the Combined Group discloses total current assets of $319m and current liabilities of $1,018m. At 
face value, this would appear to indicate short-term pressures on the cash flow of the Combined Group. However, this 
arises because of the requirement under AIFRS to classify Resident Obligations, in full, as a Current Liability, whereas the 
asset to which this relates, ‘Investment Properties’, is required to be classified as a non-current asset. 

In practice, the rate at which the Combined Group’s retirements’ residents vacate their units, and hence the rate 
at which the Resident Obligations will fall due for repayment, can be estimated on the basis of statistical tables. The 
Combined Group’s best estimate is that of the total Resident Obligation of $801m, only $59m is expected to be paid 
within the next twelve months. Further, if this amount was repayable, it is estimated that incoming contributions of more 
than $81m would be received from new residents.

Based on these estimated events, the ratio of current assets to current liabilities can be alternatively viewed as 1.5 to 1.

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS
Dividends and distributions paid or declared by the Consolidated Group to members since the end of the previous 
financial year were:

DIVIDENDS/
DISTRIBUTIONS CENTS PER SECURITY

TOTAL AMOUNT 
$’000

FRANKED 
% 1

DATE OF 
PAYMENT

Final 2005 15.20 26,755 66 14 October 2005
Interim 2006 14.20 26,901 33 13 April 2006
Final 2006 14.60 27,909 57 13 October 2006

1 The franked percentage is a weighted average percentage incorporating the Property Trust distribution, which is unfranked.

All the franked dividends paid or declared by the Combined Group since the end of the previous financial year were 
franked at a tax rate of 30%. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Combined Group undertakes property development in various states. It is subject to State legislation regulating land 
development. Consents, approvals and licences are generally required for all developments and it is usual for them to be 
granted subject to conditions. The Combined Group complies with these requirements by ensuring that all necessary 
consents, approvals and licences are obtained prior to any project being commenced and consents, approvals and 
licences are implemented in order to ensure compliance with conditions. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, all 
activities are, and have been undertaken, in compliance with these requirements.

EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this Report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Parent Entity and the Responsible 
Entity, to affect significantly the operations of the Combined Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs 
of the Combined Group in future years. Further developments by the time of the AGM will, as appropriate, be reported 
in the Chairman’s address to that meeting.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
The Combined Group will continue to pursue its target of increasing the profitability of its major business segments 
during the next financial year. Further information about likely developments in the operations of the Combined Group 
and the expected results of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this Report because 
disclosure of the information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Combined Group.

OPTIONS
During or since the end of the financial year, the Combined Group has not granted any options over unissued ordinary 
securities to the Directors or employees of the Combined Group. No options are currently on issue.

REMUNERATION REPORT
A Remuneration Report attached at Page 23 provides details of the remuneration and equity holdings of Directors and 
key management personnel and forms part of the Directors’ Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each Director in the issued capital of the Combined Group, at the date of this Report is as follows:

ORDINARY SECURITIES
2006 2005

B Macdonald 27,113 27,113
P Brown 387,912 -
R Forrester 7,012,937 7,012,937
P Parker 12,741,934 12,741,934
D Forrester 1,194,445 1,194,445
D Crombie 106,726 98,737
L McKinnon - -
SH Lee - -

Directors’ Report continued
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS

Indemnification
Pursuant to the Constitution of the Parent Entity all Directors and Officers, past and present, have been indemnified 
against all liabilities allowed under the law. The Parent Entity has entered into agreements with each of the following 
current Directors: B Macdonald, P Brown, R Forrester, P Parker, D Crombie, L McKinnon and SH Lee - to indemnify 
those Directors against all liabilities to another person which may arise from their position as Directors of the Combined 
Group to the extent permitted by law. The agreements stipulate that the Parent Entity will meet the full amount of any 
such liabilities, including reasonable legal costs and expenses.

Insurance Premiums
During or since the end of the previous financial year, the Combined Group has paid premiums in respect of Directors’ 
and Officers’ liability insurance contracts, for the Current and Former Directors and Officers, including Executive Officers 
and Secretaries of the Combined Group. 

Under the terms of the insurance contracts, disclosure of the extent of the cover and the amount of the premium is 
prohibited by a confidentiality clause.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Combined Group has a formally constituted Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. The members of the Audit 
Committee are D C Crombie (Chairman), B W Macdonald and L R McKinnon.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
During the year PKF, the Combined Group’s Auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to statutory duties. 
The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the Auditor and in accordance with advice 
provided by the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those auditor services during the year by the Auditor is 
compatible with, and did not compromise, the Auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (C’th) 
(Corporations Act) for the following reasons:

•  all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Combined Group and 
have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the  
Auditor; and

•  the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to Auditor independence as set out in 
Professional Statement F1 Professional Independence, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the Auditor’s own 
work, acting in a management capacity for the Combined Group, acting as an advocate for the Combined Group or 
jointly sharing risks or rewards. 

The following amounts were paid or are payable by the Combined Group for non audit services:

2006 
$

PKF Chartered Accountants:
Procedures reports 5,800
Review of proposed accounting treatment of acquisition of investments 52,150
Due diligence and costs associated with preparation of Assurance Report 3,500
Taxation compliance services 4,000

65,450
KPMG Australia:
Taxation compliance services 31,092

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
We confirm that we have obtained a declaration of independence from the Auditors which is set out on Page 22.

ROUNDING
The Combined Group, the Parent Entity and the Property Trust are all entities of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 
98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the Financial Report have been rounded 
to the nearest one thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors: 

 

 

B W MACDONALD P R BROWN

Chairman   Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 

Dated at Brisbane 18 September 2006.

Directors’ Report continued
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To: The Directors of FKP Limited and FKP Funds Management Limited as Responsible Entity for FKP Property Trust. 

As lead engagement partner for the audit of FKP Property Group comprising FKP Limited and its Controlled Entities and FKP 
Property Trust for the year ended 30 June 2006, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

(a)  no contraventions of the Auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act in relation to the Audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the Audit. 

 

 

PKF      C G Bellamy

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS  Partner 

Dated at Brisbane 18 September 2006.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration for the Year Ended 30 June 2006
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The Board has established a Remuneration Committee which is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration 
arrangements for Directors, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel. The  
members of the Remuneration Committee are B W Macdonald, R T Forrester and P R Brown. The Combined Group’s 
remuneration policy is to ensure that remuneration packages properly reflect the person’s duties and responsibilities and 
that the remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people of the highest quality.

The remuneration structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the 
achievement of strategic objectives and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for securityholders.  
The remuneration structures take into account a range of factors, including the following:

• the capability and experience of the key management personnel;

• the requirement to utilise those skills in the furtherance of the Combined Group’s strategic objectives;

• the performance of the key management in their particular role;

• the Combined Group’s overall performance;

• the remuneration levels being paid by competitors for similar positions; and

• the need to ensure continuity of executive talent and smooth succession planning.

In assessing the performance of a particular executive, regard is had to more than the immediate profit and loss 
performance. The nature of property development and investment is such that decisions are constantly being taken that 
will not have profit repercussions for several years. Examples include the acquisition of land for future development, 
the process of development itself, the opening of new offices and the development of new retirement villages where 
significant DMF proceeds may not be received for several years. Moreover, the evaluation of executive performance also 
has regard to the executive’s effectiveness in developing a capable support team and in showing leadership qualities and 
instilling positive cultural vales within his or her division.

Remuneration packages include a mix of fixed remuneration, performance-based remuneration and  
equity-based remuneration.

Fixed Remuneration
Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges 
related to employee benefits including motor vehicles, car parking and other specified benefits), as well as employer 
contributions to superannuation funds.

Remuneration levels are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee through a process that considers the 
factors outlined above.

Performance Based Remuneration
With the exception of the Non-Executive Directors, all employees may receive bonuses based on the achievement of 
goals relating to the performance of the Combined Group (including annual performance relative to budget and a range 
of quantitative and qualitative factors in the case of the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and other key 
management personnel). 

Equity Based Remuneration
Options may be issued under the Employee Option Plan (‘EOP’). The exercise price and any other terms and conditions 
of the option are determined at the discretion of the Board. Whilst in the past no performance hurdles have been set 
by the Board which must be achieved before an option can be exercised, the EOP does not preclude the Board from 
setting such hurdles for any future issue of options pursuant to the EOP. No options were issued during the financial year.

During the financial year Security Appreciation Rights were issued to a number of employees. Each Security Appreciation 
Right entitles the holder to a cash payment equal to the increase in the market value of a stapled security over a period 
subject to the Combined Entity meeting performance criteria specified by the Board.

Discussion on the Relationship Between the Remuneration Policy  
and the Combined Group’s Performance
In considering the Combined Group’s performance and the benefits for securityholders’ wealth the Remuneration 
Committee have had regard to the following in respect of the current financial year and the previous four financial years:

2006 2005 2004* 2003* 2002*
Net profit $’000 140,812 88,324 36,676 26,741 17,090
EPS (cents) 76.6 55.5 30.7 23.5 15.1
Dividends/distributions $’000 54,810 77,332 19,862 13,752 11,326
DPS - special (cents) - 25.0 - - -
DPS - ordinary (cents) 28.8 25.0 15.0 12.0 10.0
Security price at year end $ 5.25 2.83 2.82 3.00 1.13
Market capitalisation $’000 1,003,589 498,128 373,194 343,689 128,076
Return of capital $’000 - 99,837 - - -

* Numbers prepared under AGAAP and have not been restated to AIFRS.

The Remuneration Committee considers that the Combined Group’s remuneration policy, including the mix of 
performance-based and equity-based remuneration components, is generating desirable outcomes. The evidence of this 
is the performance of the Combined Group over the last five years where:

• EPS has increased on average by 51% per annum;

• DPS has increased on average by 31% per annum; and

•  the security price has increased from $1.13 at 30 June 2002 to $5.25 at 30 June 2006, an average increase of 61% 
per annum.

It is emphasised again, however, that the Remuneration Committee looks at a range of factors in addition to historical 
performance when evaluating the contribution of the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and other key 
management personnel. 

Remuneration Report 



24 FKP 2006 ANNUAL REPORT

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL’S REMUNERATION
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of the remuneration of each of the key management personnel 
including each of the five named officers of the Combined Group receiving the highest emoluments are detailed below.

Directors
The names and position held by each person holding a position of Director of the Combined Group during the financial 
year were:

B Macdonald Chairman (Non-Executive)
P Brown Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer
R Forrester Non-Executive Director
P Parker Non-Executive Director
D Crombie Non-Executive Director
D Forrester Non-Executive Director (resigned 28 October 2005)
L McKinnon Non-Executive Director
SH Lee Non-Executive Director (appointed 9 February 2006)

Key Management Personnel
The names and position held by each person being key management personnel of the Combined Group during the 
financial year were:

D Guihot Chief Financial Officer (appointed 27 September 2004)
G Brown General Manager – Retirements
M Miller Manager - Queensland
E Delfabbro Manager - New South Wales
J Smith Manager - Victoria 
S Stewart Group Company Secretary (appointed 29 May 2006)
T Toner Group Company Secretary (resigned 23 December 2005)
T Russell General Manager - Investments (resigned 21 November 2005)
S Ponton Manager – Victoria (resigned 1 April 2005)
C Macdonald General Manager – Retirements (resigned 31 December 2004)

REMUNERATION OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Director Fees
In 2002, shareholders resolved that the maximum amount payable to Non-Executive Directors should not 
exceed $500,000. For the current financial year the Chairman received $150,000. Messrs Crombie, Forrester and 
Parker are entitled to a base fee of $50,000 per annum and retirement benefits. Messrs McKinnon and Lee are each 
entitled to a fee of $65,000 per anum but are not eligible for retirement benefits. These fees cover all main board 
activities. Additional fees are paid to members of the following Board Committees:

• Audit Committee: $5,000 to the Chairman, $1,000 to each other Committee Member; and

• Remuneration Committee: no additional fees are payable.

Retirement Benefits
The Combined Group Directors’ Retirement Scheme applies only to Directors first appointed before 30 June 2004.  
The Scheme provides certain benefits to Non-Executive Directors who have served in that capacity for in excess of five 
years. The benefit payable is the total average annual remuneration paid to a Director for the three years immediately 
prior to the Director’s retirement less any payment made in respect to superannuation. This scheme has not been 
approved by securityholders as the scheme complies with that allowed under the Corporations Act.

Performance Based Remuneration
Non-Executive Directors do not receive any performance based remuneration.

Equity-Based Remuneration
Pursuant to the Combined Group’s Directors’ Securities Plan (‘DSP’), which was approved at the 2002 AGM and 
amended at the 2003 and 2004 AGMs, eligible Non-Executive Directors can elect to receive their Directors’ fees by 
way of securities in the Combined Group, in lieu of cash, after taking into account any FBT payable by the Combined 
Group. Securities allocated under the DSP can either be issued by the Combined Group or purchased on market.

REMUNERATION OF THE MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer has a contract of employment commencing from 10 February 2003 
and expiring on 30 June 2008. It allows for a base salary of $400,000 per annum, with annual increases of 10% during 
the initial term, commencing from 1 July 2004. For the financial year just ended, Mr Brown’s base salary was $484,000.

In addition to his base salary, Mr Brown also receives an accommodation allowance amounting to $75,000 per 
annum. Mr Brown’s employment may be terminated by either himself or by the Combined Group on the giving of 
6 month’s prior written notice or by payment in lieu. Mr Brown will be entitled to receive a severance payment equal to 
24 months’ base salary if his employment is terminated in the following circumstances:

•  if following a merger, reconstruction or takeover of the Combined Group, he is not appointed the most senior 
executive officer of the merged or reconstructed group; or

•  if at the instigation of the Board, he ceases to be the most senior executive officer of the Combined Group (other than 
as a result of serious breach, misconduct or similar event).

The Managing Director is entitled to 8 days sick leave and 20 days annual leave. Accruals and payments in respect of 
these entitlements are disclosed as ‘Primary’ remuneration. Accrued and paid entitlements to long service leave are 
disclosed as ‘Other Long Term Benefits’ remuneration. 
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Performance Based Remuneration
The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer’s performance based remuneration package is divided into  
two components:

•  a short term (annual) performance bonus which must not exceed the amount payable to Mr Brown in the form of 
the base salary for the year (subject to the achievement of performance objectives as set by the Board). Mr Brown 
can elect to take 50% or more of the bonus by way of securities in the Combined Group (‘Performance Bonus 
Shares’). The performance objectives set by the Board annually take into account the following performance indicators: 
profitability, progress towards the strategic plan, leadership, culture and investment community profile; and

•  an annual super bonus equal to 2.5% of the amount by which net profit after tax (NPAT) exceeds Board approved 
targets (providing that the actual NPAT for the year is at least 120% of approved targets). In accordance with the terms 
of the Managing Director’s employment agreement, an amount of $1.75m has been accrued in the 2005 / 2006 
Financial Statements.

Equity Based Remuneration
At the 2005 Annual General Meeting, shareholders approved amendments to the Managing Director’s Security Plan 
pursuant to which 387,912 stapled securities (‘Retention Bonus Securities’) were issued to Mr Brown at the weighted 
average price of securities during the 5 trading days before the date of the 2005 Annual General Meeting. The Parent 
Entity lent the whole of the purchase price for the Securities to Mr Brown on an interest free basis. All distributions 
received by Mr Brown, after deducting the amount equal to the tax payable by Mr Brown on the distributions, are 
applied in reduction of the loan balance.

Subject to certain exceptions under the Managing Director’s Security Plan, the Retention Bonus Securities will be 
subject to a trading restriction until 10 February 2008. If Mr Brown leaves the employment of the Parent Entity prior 
to 10 February 2008 the Parent Entity has the discretion to buy back the Retention Bonus Securities for a purchase 
price equal to the outstanding balance of the loan, as a result extinguishing the loan, or to require Mr Brown to sell the 
Retention Bonus Securities, and pay the proceeds of sale to the Parent Entity less any attributable brokerage or income 
tax liability.

If Mr Brown remains in the employment of the Parent Entity until 10 February 2008, the Retention Bonus Securities will 
be released from the trading restriction and the Parent Entity’s option to buy back, or require the sale of, the securities 
will terminate. The Parent Entity will forgive any outstanding balance of the loan at 10 February 2008 to the extent to 
which it exceeds $485,000.

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Remuneration packages include a mix of fixed remuneration, performance based remuneration and equity  
based remuneration.

Fixed Remuneration
Fixed remuneration consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis and includes any FBT charges 
related to employee benefits including motor vehicles, car parking and other specified benefits), as well as employer 
contributions to superannuation funds.

The key management personnel are entitled to 8 days sick leave and 20 days annual leave. Accruals and payments in 
respect of these entitlements are disclosed as ‘Primary’ remuneration. Accrued and paid entitlements to long service 
leave are disclosed as ‘Other Long Term Benefits’ remuneration. 

Performance Based Remuneration
Employees may receive bonuses determined at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee depending on the 
Combined Group’s overall performance and contribution of the employee to that performance and the achievements of 
the employee in positioning the Combined Group for future profitability.

Bonuses approved for payment in September 2006 relating to key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 
2006 are detailed below.

Equity Based Remuneration
The Combined Group provides equity-based remuneration to key management personnel and all eligible employees 
through the operation of the following plans:

• Employee Security Plan (‘ESP’);

• Employee Option Plan (‘EOP’); and

• Security Appreciation Rights Plan (‘SARP’).

During the financial year two issues of securities, each to the value of $1,000 per employee, were made to qualifying 
employees, including a number of the key management personnel, under the ESP. No securities were issued to key 
management personnel under the EOP.

Security Appreciation Rights were issued to a number of employees under the SARP. Each Security Appreciation Right 
entitles the holder to a cash payment equal to the increase in the market value of a stapled security over a period subject 
to the Combined Group meeting performance criteria specified by the Board.

Further details of the plans are provided in Note 28 ‘Share Based Payments’.

Termination Benefits
Notice periods and termination benefits as required by the law apply to each of the key management personnel except 
in the case of the following key management personnel:

•  the Chief Financial Officer may terminate his employment or have his employment terminated by the Combined 
Group, on 26 weeks notice;

•  the Group Company Secretary may terminate her employment or have her employment terminated by the 
Combined Group, on 13 weeks notice; and

•  the General Manager NSW may terminate her employment or have her employment terminated by the Combined 
Group, with a sliding scale notice period of up to 12 weeks based on years of service.
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DIRECTORS 
NON-EXECUTIVE

SHORT TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS POST EMPLOYMENT
EQUITY 

COMPENSATION OTHER COMPENSATION

SALARY & FEES 
$

BONUS 
$

NON- 
MONETARY 

BENEFITS 
$

SUPER BENEFITS 
$

OTHER POST 
EMPLOYMENT 

BENEFITS 2 
$

VALUE OF 
SECURITIES 

$

OTHER LONG 
TERM BENEFITS

$

TERMINATION 
BENEFITS 

$
TOTAL 

$

PROPORTION OF 
REMUNERATION 

PERFORMANCE RELATED 
%

B Macdonald
2006 150,000 - - - 109,565 - - - 259,565 -

2005 124,389 - - 7,569 73,405 - - - 205,363 -

D Crombie
2006 45,872 - - 4,128 - - - - 50,000 -

2005 45,872 - - 4,128 - - - - 50,000 -

R Forrester
2006 45,872 - - 4,128 45,870 - - - 95,870 -

2005 45,872 - - 4,128 22,935 - - - 72,935 -

P Parker
2006 45,872 - - 4,128 5,435 - - - 55,435 -

2005 38,739 - - 11,261 10,870 - - - 60,870 -

D Forrester
2006 - - - - - - - - - -

2005 - - - - - - - - - -

L McKinnon 
2006 67,744 - - 6,097 - - - - 73,841 -

2005 6,289 - - - - - - - 6,289 -

SH Lee 1
2006 19,878 - - 1,789 - - - - 21,667 -

2005 - - - - - - - - - -

J Jamieson
2006 - - - - - - - - - -

2005 45,872 - - 4,128 - - - 380,627 430,627 -

MANAGING 
DIRECTOR

P Brown
2006 515,221 2,201,717 27,614 39,879 - 285,982 4 6,126 - 3,076,539 71.6

2005 478,733 346,133 31,446 36,254 - 200,000 3 903 - 1,093,469 31.7

Total
2006 890,459 2,201,717 27,614 60,149 160,870 285,982 6,126 - 3,632,917 60.6

2005 785,766 346,133 31,446 67,468 107,210 200,000 903 380,627 1,919,553 18.0

 
1 Mr Lee was appointed to the Board in February 2006.
2 Other post employment benefits include movement in accrued retirement benefits during the year.
3 Represents the pro rata entitlement to the Retention Bonus Securities of $1.0 million for the period from 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005.
4 Managing Director’s Security Plan.

Remuneration Report continued



FKP 2006 ANNUAL REPORT 27

KEY MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL

SHORT TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
POST 

EMPLOYMENT
EQUITY 

COMPENSATION
OTHER 

COMPENSATION

SALARY & FEES 
$

BONUS 
$

NON-MONETARY 
BENEFITS 

$
SUPER BENEFITS 

$
CASH-SETTLED SARP 

$

OTHER LONG TERM 
BENEFITS

$

TERMINATION
BENEFITS

$
TOTAL

$

PROPORTION OF
REMUNERATION

PERFORMANCE RELATED
%

D Guihot
2006 322,476 170,000 13,970 12,096 27,632 - - 546,174 36.2

2005 248,561 94,000 - 9,231 - - - 351,792 26.7

G Brown
2006 251,106 100,000 13,633 32,920 19,737 10,166 - 427,562 28.0

2005 238,657 100,000 9,522 21,138 - 2,057 - 371,374 26.9

M Miller
2006 235,000 75,000 - 31,507 23,685 1,148 - 366,340 26.9

2005 184,775 125,000 4,871 16,125 - - - 330,771 37.8

E Delfabbro
2006 223,801 125,000 5,264 29,844 23,685 2,725 - 410,319 36.2

2005 216,874 75,000 7,195 19,054 - 500 - 318,623 23.5

J Smith
2006 210,770 50,000 17,141 14,041 23,685 - - 315,637 23.3

2005 71,352 - 3,889 5,734 - - - 80,975 -

S Stewart
2006 14,384 - - 1,294 - - - 15,678 -

2005 - - - - - - - - -

C MacDonald
2006 - - - - - - - - -

2005 62,164 - 2,653 42,629 - - 295,641 403,087 -

T Russell
2006 158,110 - 14,838 25,254 - - 31,399 229,601 -

2005 234,467 100,000 25,567 23,772 - - - 383,806 26.1

T Toner
2006 166,269 - 9,804 20,458 - - - 196,531 -

2005 199,014 75,000 41,663 16,511 - 3,622 - 335,810 22.3

S Ponton
2006 - - - - - - - - -

2005 160,606 - 4,004 15,696 - - 43,453 223,759 -

Total
2006 1,581,916 520,000 74,650 167,414 118,424 14,039 31,399 2,507,842 25.5

2005 1,616,470 569,000 99,364 169,890 - 6,179 339,094 2,799,997 20.3

CASH BASED SHARE APPRECIATION PLAN
2006 KEY  
MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL

EXERCISE 
PRICE

HELD AT 
1 JULY 2005

GRANTED 
DURING  

THE YEAR
HELD AT 

30 JUNE 2006

VESTED & 
EXERCISABLE AT 

30 JUNE 2006

D Guihot $2.82 - 70,000 70,000 -
S Stewart - - - - -
M Miller $2.82 - 60,000 60,000 -
E Delfabbro $2.82 - 60,000 60,000 -
G Brown $2.82 - 50,000 50,000 -
J Smith $2.82 - 60,000 60,000 -

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
All options refer to options over stapled securities of the Combined Group, which are exercisable on a one-for-one basis 
under the Combined Group’s Employee Option Plan (‘EOP’). Directors are not entitled to participate in the EOP. 

Options and Rights Over Equity Instruments Granted as Remuneration
During the reporting period, no options over stapled securities were granted to any Director, key management 
personnel or employee.

No options have been granted since the end of the financial year and there are no options currently on issue under the EOP. 

Exercise of Options Granted as Remuneration
During the reporting period, no stapled securities were issued on the exercise of options previously granted as remuneration. 
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This Statement outlines the main corporate governance practices in place and the extent to which the Combined 
Group has followed the recommendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council throughout the year, including 
recommendations made by the Implementation Review Group of the ASX issued on 31 March 2004, unless otherwise 
stated. In this Statement the Council’s document published on 31 March 2003 is referred to as ‘the Guidelines’. 

This Statement and information identified therein is available on the Combined Group’s website at www.fkp.com.au 
under the Corporate Governance Section. 

PRINCIPLE 1: BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
The Board’s primary role is the creation of long term securityholder value through the implementation of efficient internal 
controls; adopting high ethical standards in behaviour; respecting the aspirations of the Combined Group’s employees; 
offering high quality products to the market; committing to good and constant improvement of its corporate governance 
practices and acting as a good corporate citizen in the community in which the Combined Group operates. 

The specific values and responsibilities adopted by the Board are detailed in the Board Charter available on the 
Combined Group’s website. 

For many years the Board has developed and implemented policies and practices which ensure that the Combined 
Group complies with the recommendations and principles set out in the Guidelines, while recognising that in a dynamic 
group with a small board the relationships among Directors, and particularly the relationship between the Chairman  
and the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, cannot be fully regulated and documented. The Board 
acknowledges that ultimately the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the delivery of the 
Board’s strategic direction. 

PRINCIPLE 2: BOARD STRUCTURE
During the financial year the Board comprised the following: 

FROM TO
NUMBER OF NON-

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
NUMBER OF EXECUTIVE 

DIRECTORS

1 July 2005 28 October 2005 6 1
29 October 2005 8 February 2005 5 1
9 February 2006 30 June 2006 6 1

The names, skills and experience of the Directors who held office during the financial year and as at the date of this 
Statement and the period of office of each Director, are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

Independent Professional Advice
Each Director has the right, at the Combined Group’s expense, to seek independent professional advice in relation  
to the execution of Board responsibilities. Prior approval of the Chairman, which will not be unreasonably withheld,  
is required. Where appropriate, Directors share such advice with the other Directors. 

Independence of Directors
The Board considers that of the Non-Executive Directors who held office during the year, the following are independent: 

• B Macdonald 
• D Crombie 
• L McKinnon

Mr P Parker is a substantial securityholder and whilst Mr R Forrester is no longer a substantial securityholder, they 
together with Mr D Forrester are the founding Directors of the Parent Entity from its incorporation in 1987. They are 
also all past executive officers of the Combined Group but in the Board’s view these factors do not affect their capacity to 
act with independence in relation to any matters. 

The Board distinguishes between the concept of independence and the issues of conflict of interest or material personal 
interests which may arise from time to time. Wherever there is an actual or potential conflict of interest or material 
personal interest, the Board’s policies and procedures ensure: 

•  that the interest is fully disclosed and the disclosure is recorded in the register of Directors’ interests and in the  
Board minutes;

•  unless the Directors resolve to the contrary in accordance with the Corporations Act, the relevant Director is 
excluded from all considerations of the matter by the Board; and

•  unless the Directors decide to the contrary, the relevant Director does not receive any segment of the Board papers 
or other documents in which there is any reference to the matter. 

A copy of the Board’s Conflict of Interest policy is available on the Combined Group’s website. 

As the determination of independence remains a matter for the Board’s judgement, the Board confirms that all Directors 
considered to be independent meet the stated requirements for independence as recommended in the Guidelines, 
except that: 

•  Mr B Macdonald has been in office for almost 13 years, as disclosed in the Directors’ Report. The Board does not 
consider that the independence of a Director can be assessed by reference to an arbitrary and set period of time. The 
Combined Group has diverse operations which have grown considerably over the past 13 years and in the Board’s 
view derives benefits from having such long-serving Directors who can add value as they understand the Combined 
Group’s businesses and processes and can provide meaningful contribution to Board discussion, strategy and policy; and

•  from time to time conflicts of interest may arise, particularly having regard to the diversity of the Combined Group’s 
operations. These are dealt with in accordance with the procedure outlined above for dealing with conflicts. They do 
not affect the capacity of the relevant Director to act with independence in relation to all other matters. 

The Chairman of the Combined Group is an independent Non-Executive Director. 

The roles of Chairman and Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer are exercised by separate individuals. The 
Combined Group has published on its website its policy concerning the role of the Chairman. 

Nomination Committee
As the Combined Group has a relatively small Board, the full Board acted during the financial year as the nomination 
committee. The composition of the Board is continually under review by all Directors to ensure that the Board has the 
appropriate mix of expertise and experience. 

When a Board vacancy occurs, as did this year when Mr D Forrester retired, or where it is considered that the Board 
would benefit from the services of a new Director with particular skills, Directors are asked to nominate suitable 
candidates. The Board reviews potential candidates, with advice from external consultants if necessary and then appoints 
the most suitable candidate. 

PRINCIPLE 3: ETHICAL STANDARDS
Code of Conduct
Through established practices and policies the Board supports the need for Directors and employees to observe the 
highest standards of behaviour and business ethics. All Directors, managers and employees are expected to act with 
integrity, striving at all times to enhance the reputation and performance of the Combined Group. The Board’s policies 
reflect all the Guidelines. 

Appropriate training programs on the Combined Group’s internal policies support this process. 

A formal Code of Conduct which draws together all of the Combined Group’s existing policies has been reviewed and a 
summary of its main provisions is published on the Combined Group’s website. 
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Trading in Company Securities by Directors, Officers and Employees
The Board has established written guidelines, set out in its Insider Trading and Dealing in the Group’s Securities Policy, 
that restrict dealings by Directors and relevant employees in the Combined Group’s securities and in securities in other 
companies related to the Combined Group’s operations. 

The Insider Trading and Dealing in the Group’s Securities Policy complies with the Guidelines. It identifies certain periods 
when, in the absence of knowledge of unpublished price-sensitive information, Directors and relevant employees may 
buy or sell shares. These periods are the 30 days immediately following two trading days after the announcement of half 
year and full year results and following the Annual General Meeting. 

A copy of the Insider Trading and Dealing in the Group’s Securities Policy is available on the Combined Group’s website. 

PRINCIPLE 4: FINANCIAL REPORTING
Certification of Financial Reports
The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer state in writing to the Board each 
reporting period that the Combined Group’s Financial Reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the 
Combined Group’s financial condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards.

The Statements from the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are based on a 
formal sign off framework established throughout the Combined Group and reviewed by the Audit Committee as part of 
the six-monthly financial reporting process. 

Audit Committee
The Combined Group has an established Audit Committee (‘the Committee’) operating under written terms of 
reference approved by the Board. 

The Committee comprises three independent Non-Executive Members and the Chairman of the Committee is not the 
Chairman of the Board. The Combined Group complies with the recommendation in the Guidelines as well as Listing 
Rule 12.7 of the ASX. 

The names and qualifications of members of the Committee are set out in the Directors’ Report. Meetings of the 
Committee are attended, by invitation, by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, 
the Group Company Secretary, the engagement partner from the Combined Group’s external Auditor and such other 
senior staff or professional advisors as may be appropriate from time to time. 

The number of meetings of the Committee held during the year is set out in the Directors’ Report. 

The Committee operates under formal terms of reference (‘Charter’) approved by the Board which are reviewed annually.  
The functions and responsibilities of the Committee under its Charter comply with the recommendation in the Guidelines. 

Minutes of all Committee meetings are provided to the Board and the Chairman of the Committee also reports to the 
Board after each Committee meeting. The form of the minutes and of the Report complies with recommendations in 
the Guidelines. 

Auditor Independence
The external Auditor, PKF, has declared its independence to the Board. The Committee has examined detailed material 
provided by the external Auditor and by management and has satisfied itself that the standards for auditor independence 
and associated issues are fully complied with. 

The Combined Group complies with the reporting guidelines on Principle 4 in its Annual Report. 

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference are available on the Combined Group’s website. 

PRINCIPLE 5: MATERIAL DISCLOSURE
The Combined Group has established a Continuous Disclosure Policy which is intended to enhance the Combined 
Group’s compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. A 
copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available on the Combined Group’s website. 

The Group Company Secretary has primary responsibility for communications with the Australian Stock Exchange 
including responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the ASX Listing Rules and 
overseeing information sent to the ASX, securityholders and other interested parties. 

The Directors have obligations under a Disclosure of Interests and Transactions in Securities Agreement entered into 
with the Combined Group to inform the Combined Group of any trading by them in the Combined Group’s securities 
and of any other interests in contracts the Director may have with a Combined Group Entity. 

All announcements made to the ASX are published on the Combined Group’s website. 

PRINCIPLE 6: SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION
Communications Strategy
The Combined Group aims to keep securityholders informed of the Combined Group’s performance and all major 
developments in an ongoing manner. Information is communicated to securityholders through: 

•  the annual report, which is distributed to all securityholders (unless specifically requested otherwise);

•  the half-year Securityholders’ Report which is distributed to all securityholders (unless specifically requested otherwise), 
containing summarised financial information and a review of the operations during the period since the Annual Report; 
and

•  other correspondence regarding matters impacting on securityholders as required. 

All documents that are released publicly are made available on the Combined Group’s website. 

Securityholders are also encouraged to participate in the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability 
and identification with the Combined Group’s strategies and goals. Important issues are presented to securityholders as 
single resolutions. 

Securityholders can also register with the Combined Group’s share registry, Computershare Investor Services, to receive 
email notification when the above details, including ASX announcements, are posted onto the Combined Group’s 
website. To further promote the use of electronic communications to securityholders the Combined Group has joined 
the eTree initiative which is an incentive to encourage securityholders to receive communications from the Combined 
Group, such as Annual Reports, by way of email. Not only does this initiative reduce our costs, it also promotes 
environmental responsibility. 

Availability of Auditor at AGM
The Senior Engagement Partner of the Combined Group’s external Auditor, PKF, attends the Combined Group’s Annual 
General Meetings and is available to answer questions from securityholders about the Audit. The Chairman advises the 
securityholders of this at the commencement of each Annual General Meeting. 

PRINCIPLE 7: RISK MANAGEMENT
Oversight of the Risk Management Function
For many years the Board has developed and implemented polices and practices to try to ensure that the material 
risks facing the Combined Group are adequately identified, assessed, monitored and managed throughout the whole 
organisation. These include: 

•  annual budgets, divisional business plans and the Combined Group’s strategic plan, prepared for approval by Directors;

•  actual trading results for the Combined Group and each division are presented to the Board at each Board Meeting, 
compared against budget and forecast, with revised forecasts if required;

Corporate Governance continued
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•  comprehensive Board papers containing relevant operational, strategic, financial and legal information are prepared by 
each Divisional Group Manager and circulated to Directors before each meeting;

•  financial authority limits have been set by the Board to delegate the Board’s approval process of matters including 
site acquisitions and developments. Where the cost is above those delegated authorities’ approval of the full Board is 
required. Construction will not usually commence until the Board’s minimum level of pre-sale commitment has been 
achieved; and

•  Insurance cover appropriate to the size and nature of the Combined Group’s operations is carried to reduce the 
financial impact of any significant insurable losses. 

The Audit Committee is currently reviewing and assessing the adequacy of the existing risk management procedures 
adopted by the Combined Group. 

Internal Financial Controls
In view of its size, its divisional structure with divisional accounting functions, and considering cost effectiveness, the 
Combined Group relies on its financial management team, led by the Chief Financial Officer and the Financial Controller, 
to ensure effective internal controls are in place. This is done with regular consultation with the external auditors but is 
independent of them. 

The Chief Financial Officer reports in writing to, and attends, all Board meetings. The Chief Financial Officer also attends 
all meetings of the Audit Committee and provides written reports to that Committee, as required. 

Certification of Risk Management Controls
In conjunction with the Certification of Financial Reports under Principle 4, the Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer state in writing to the Board each reporting period that: 

•  the statement given in accordance with Principle 6 is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board; and

•  the Combined Group’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects. 

The Statements from the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are based on a 
formal sign off framework established throughout the Combined Group and reviewed by the Audit Committee as part of 
the six-monthly financial reporting process. 

A description of the Combined Group’s risk management policy and internal compliance and control system is intended 
to be made available on the Combined Group’s website. 

PRINCIPLE 8: BOARD PERFORMANCE
The Board provides induction programs for new Directors and complies with recommendations made in the latest 
external Board review in relation to independent professional advice, access to the Group Company Secretary, the 
appointment and removal of the Group Company Secretary and the provision of information, including requests for 
additional information. The Group Company Secretary attends all Board meetings. 

The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the induction, training and assessment of the 
Combined Group’s Executive Management Team. 

PRINCIPLE 9: REMUNERATION
The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for recommending and reviewing remuneration 
arrangements for the Directors, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Management 
Team. The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of such 
officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring 
maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and Executive Team. 

To assist in achieving these objectives, the Combined Group’s remuneration policy links the nature and amount of 
Directors’ and executives’ remuneration to the Group’s financial and operational performance. Executives may receive 
bonuses determined at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee depending on the Combined Group’s overall 
performance and contribution of the executive to that performance and the achievements of the executive in positioning 
the Combined Group for future profitability. 

Executives are those who are directly accountable and responsible for the operational management and strategic 
direction of the Group. 

Remuneration Committee
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee, comprising two Non-Executive Directors and the Managing 
Director and Chief Executive Officer. Their names and attendance at meetings of the Committee are set out in the 
Directors’ Report. 

The Committee’s responsibilities are detailed in a Charter, which has been approved by the Board and complies with the 
recommendation outlined in the Guidelines. A copy of the Charter is available on the Combined Group’s website. 

Structure of Remuneration
The structure of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration and that of executives is set out in the Remuneration Report 
within the Directors’ Report. 

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each Director of the Group and each key 
management personnel for the financial year are also disclosed in the Remuneration Report. 

Directors’ Retirement Benefits
In accordance with the current terms of Directors’ Retirement Scheme, retiring Non-Executive Directors who were 
appointed prior to 30 June 2004 will upon retiring after 5 years service, receive a benefit of three times the average 
annual remuneration in the three years preceding retirement. Included in this amount is superannuation accumulated 
under the Superannuation Guarantee provisions. This scheme has not been approved by shareholders as the scheme 
complies with that allowed under the Corporations Act. 

The Board has suspended this scheme for any new Non-Executive Directors appointed after 30 June 2004. 

Share and Option Plans
The Board is responsible for reviewing recommendations in respect to issues under the Combined Group’s security 
and option plans which were approved by securityholders in October 2004 as part of the implementation of the stapling 
strategy. Directors approve issues under the plans only after being satisfied that this is in accordance with the terms of 
securityholders’ approval. 

Securities issued under the plans are set out in the relevant section of the Directors’ Report. 

PRINCIPLE 10: ACCOUNTABILITY
The Combined Group has well-established policies, procedures and codes of conduct which seek to promote a culture 
of compliance with legal requirements and ethical standards. The Board recognises that managing “natural, human, 
social and other forms of capital” may also assist in creating value for shareholders. To this end the Board seeks, by the 
individual contributions of Directors and by encouraging activities of its executives, to uphold community standards and 
to maintain good relations with community and government organisations. However, the Board seeks to balance these 
considerations in order to ensure that the claims of “legitimate stakeholders” do not prejudice or diminish the legitimate 
expectations of shareholders. The Board does not support a process by which companies are regulated in their dealings 
in these areas, beyond the consideration of their programs to ensure compliance with legal and ethical standards. 

As indicated under Principle 3, a Code of Conduct which draws together all of the Combined Group’s policies and codes 
has been established and a summary of its main provisions is available on the Combined Group’s website. 

Corporate Governance continued
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Sale of goods     2 236,313 252,690 - - - -
Cost of sales      (175,397) (193,619) - - - -
Gross profit      60,916 59,071 - - - -

Revenue from rendering of services    2 61,007 47,278 127 120 12,395 13,879
Change in fair values of investment properties     93,671 91,800 - - 9,537 (2,669)
Other revenues from ordinary activities    2 9,823 4,931 16,915 85,722 13,104 8,080

Change in fair vale of resident loans     (23,259) (29,894) - - - -
Employee expenses     (31,302) (24,717) (15,893) (10,671) - -
Marketing expenses     (2,508) (3,478) - - - -
Occupancy expenses     (2,568) (2,169) (647) (538) - -
Administration expenses     (10,347) (11,117) (3,040) (3,938) (428) -
Impairment of equity accounted associate     (10,282) - (10,282) - - -
Other expenses     (9,819) (984) (882) (3,448) (3,675) (3,576)
Finance costs     3 (18,399) (8,919) (30,066) (10,143) (4,664) (4,893)
Share of net profits / (losses) of associates & joint ventures accounted for using the equity method  11 81,561 1,170 - - 430 -
Profit from Continuing Operations before Income Tax Expense    198,494 122,972 (43,768) 57,104 26,699 10,821

Income tax (expense) / benefit relating to ordinary activities   4(a) (53,768) (32,567) 11,515 (14,649) - -
Profit from Continuing Operations after Income Tax Expense    144,726 90,405 (32,253) 42,455 26,699 10,821

Net profit attributable to minority interests    21 (3,914) (2,081) - - - -
Net Profit after Income Tax Attributable to Equity Holders of the Combined Group  19 140,812 88,324 (32,253) 42,455 26,699 10,821

Profit attributable to members of FKP Property Trust     (26,699) (10,821) - - (26,699) (10,821)
Profit Attributable to Members of FKP Limited     114,113 77,503 (32,253) 42,455 - -

Earnings per Share 
Basic earnings per share - Combined Group    5 76.6 cents 55.5 cents
Diluted earnings per share - Combined Group    5 76.6 cents 55.5 cents

Basic earnings per share - FKP Limited     62.1 cents 48.7 cents
Diluted earnings per share - FKP Limited     62.1 cents 48.7 cents

The Income Statements are to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements set out on Pages 35 to 84.

Income Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2006
 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

NOTE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Current Assets: 
Cash & cash equivalents    6 5,134 29,124 596 21,312 706 4,869
Trade & other receivables    7 145,611 43,324 400,519 210,816 19,742 17,915
Inventories     9 146,645 80,298 - - 21,431 -
Other      12 22,073 13,205 4,021 1,377 993 539
Total Current Assets     319,463 165,951 405,136 233,505 42,872 23,323 
Non-Current Assets: 
Trade & other receivables    7 22,547 5,692 1,546 - 117,379 116,294
Other financial assets    8 3,469 3,465 57,256 61,893 - -
Inventories     9 128,567 133,791 - - - -
Investment properties    10 1,449,796 1,145,117 - - 112,753 134,566
Equity accounted investments    11 308,989 11,526 204,050 3,627 18,692 -
Property, plant & equipment    13 17,494 16,355 1,668 1,328 - -
Deferred tax assets    4(c) - - 4,296 999 - -
Intangible assets    14 8,565 8,321 - - - -
Other      12 772 4,549 - - 229 1,064
Total Non-Current Assets     1,940,199 1,328,816 268,816 67,847 249,053 251,924
Total Assets      2,259,662 1,494,767 673,952 301,352 291,925 275,247 
Current Liabilities: 
Trade & other payables    15 97,925 99,021 27,061 18,688 1,282 839
Interest bearing loans & borrowings    16 104,148 44 119,105 15,010 - -
Resident loans     801,395 607,116 - - - -
Current tax liabilities     3,546 4,899 3,547 4,890 - -
Provisions     17 11,414 29,413 948 18,363 8,040 9,171
Total Current Liabilities     1,018,428 740,493 150,661 56,951 9,322 10,010 
Non-Current Liabilities: 
Payables      15 2,916 10,415 - - - -
Interest bearing loans & borrowings    16 393,141 126,200 437,887 143,694 57,787 79,320
Deferred tax liabilities    4(d) 151,553 102,734 - - - -
Provisions     17 492 384 40 38 - -
Total Non-Current Liabilities     548,102 239,733 437,927 143,732 57,787 79,320
Total Liabilities     1,566,530 980,226 588,588 200,683 67,109 89,330
Net Assets      693,132 514,541 85,364 100,669 224,816 185,917 
Equity: 
Contributed equity    18 144,253 114,652 144,253 114,652 223,835 189,348
Retained profits    19 301,495 200,036 (58,889) (13,983) 981 (3,431)
Total Equity Interest     445,748 314,688 85,364 100,669 224,816 185,917 
Minority Interest: 
FKP Property Trust     224,816 185,917 - - - -
Minority interest    21 22,568 13,936 - - - -
Total Minority Interest     247,384 199,853 - - - -
Total Equity      693,132 514,541 85,364 100,669 224,816 185,917

The Balance Sheets are to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements set out on Pages 35 to 84.

Balance Sheets as at 30 June 2006
 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

NOTE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Balance at 1 July 2004     152,238 198,454 350,692 (2,191) 12,040 360,541
Changes in Equity       
Profit / (loss) for the period     - 77,503 77,503 10,821 2,081 90,405
        152,238 275,957 428,195 8,630 14,121 450,946
Dividends & distributions    20 - (75,921) (75,921) (12,061) - (87,982)
Issues of share capital    18 64,741 - 64,741 192,005 - 256,746
Equity transaction costs    18 (2,490) - (2,490) (2,657) - (5,147)
Disposal of interest in subsidiary     - - - - (185) (185)
Return of capital to FKP shareholders    18 (99,837) - (99,837) - - (99,837)
       
Balance at 30 June 2005     114,652 200,036 314,688 185,917 13,936 514,541
       
Balance at 1 July 2005     114,652 200,036 314,688 185,917 13,936 514,541
Changes in Equity       
Profit / (loss) for the period     - 114,113 114,113 26,699 3,914 144,726
        114,652 314,149 428,801 212,616 17,850 659,267
Dividends & distributions    20 - (12,654) (12,654) (22,287) - (34,941)
Issues of share capital    18 29,601 - 29,601 34,487 - 64,088
Increases in minority interest     - - - - 4,718 4,718
       
Balance at 30 June 2006     144,253 301,495 445,748 224,816 22,568 693,132

The Statements of Changes in Equity are to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements set out on Pages 35 to 84.

 ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF FKP LIMITED

 SHARE CAPITAL
RETAINED 
EARNINGS SUB TOTAL

FKP PROPERTY 
TRUST

MINORITY  
INTEREST TOTAL EQUITY

NOTE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Statements of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 30 June 2006
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities: 
Receipts from customers     264,495 304,392 38,984 3,538 18,539 12,640
Payments to suppliers & employees     (400,579) (244,645) (191,694) (39,271) (30,704) (4,218)
Interest received     4,549 1,921 2,700 3,387 12,567 5,017
Finance costs including interest & other costs of finance paid    (27,139) (8,582) (23,772) (12,748) (4,664) (5,353)
Income tax paid     (11,282) (14,671) (11,282) (14,647) - -
Dividends received     2 2 - 80,500 - -
GST recovered / (paid)     (3,066) (4,510) (2,858) 4,932 1,095 (522)
Net Cash provided by / (used in) Operating Activities    32(c) (173,020) 33,907 (187,922) 25,691 (3,167) 7,564
 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 
Payments for property, plant & equipment     (3,428) (9,965) (1,015) (257) - (214)
Proceeds from sale of property plant & equipment     156 3,797 - - - -
Payments for intangibles     - (362) - - - -
Payments for interest in syndicates     (1,024) (1,354) - - - -
Payments for investment properties     (5,767) (89,182) - - (21,661) (89,182)
Payments for other investments     (165,431) (144) (147,229) (144) (22,622) -
Payment for purchase of subsidiaries net of cash acquired    32(d) (60,498) - (65) - - -
Proceeds from sale of investment property     50,139 - - - 50,139 -
Proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiary     5,338 - 5,338 - - -
Proceeds from sale of held for trading financial assets     4 - - -  -
Net Cash provided by / (used in) Investing Activities     (180,511) (97,210) (142,971) (401) 5,856 (89,396)
 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities: 
Dividends & distributions paid     (41,505) (37,266) (25,236) (58,891) (16,269) (2,337)
Proceeds from issue of securities     - 232,786 - 64,741 - 192,006
Costs associated with issue of securities     - (5,147) - (2,490) - (2,657)
Payment for return of capital     - (99,837) - (99,837) - -
Advances to Parent Entity     - - - 152,266 - (149,772)
Advances to subsidiaries     - - - - - -
Proceeds of interest bearing loans & borrowings     506,850 91,000 433,497 120,800 37,077 48,551
Repayment of interest bearing loans & borrowings     (135,804) (111,847) (98,084) (197,000) (27,660) -
Net Cash provided by / (used in) Financing Activities     329,541 69,689 310,177 (20,411) (6,852) 85,791
 
Net increase in cash & cash equivalents     (23,990) 6,386 (20,716) 4,879 (4,163) 3,959
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the financial period   32(a) 29,124 22,738 21,312 16,433 4,869 910
Cash & Cash Equivalents at end of Financial Period    32(a) 5,134 29,124 596 21,312 706 4,869

The Statements of Cash Flows are to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements set out on Pages 35 to 84.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

NOTE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash Flow Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2006
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1.  STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The FKP Property Group (the ‘Combined Group’) is a group domiciled and incorporated in Australia. The Financial 
Report of FKP Property Group consists of the aggregated Financial Statements of the Combined Entity comprising FKP 
Limited and its Controlled Entities and FKP Property Trust (the ‘Combined Group’). None of the Entities whose securities 
are stapled is a Parent of the other Entity and the Entities do not have a common Parent. The Combined Financial Report 
has been drawn up in accordance with ASIC Class Order 05/642 relating to combining accounts under stapling and for 
the purpose of fulfilling the requirements of the Australian Stock Exchange (‘ASX’).

The Financial Report of the Combined Group was authorised for issue by the Directors on 18 September 2006.

The significant accounting policies which have been adopted in the preparation of the Financial Report are:

(a) Basis of Preparation of Financial Report
The Financial Report is a general purpose Financial Report, which have been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘AIFRS’), other authoritative pronouncements  
of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act.  
The Financial Report is presented in Australian dollars.

Compliance with IFRS

Australian Accounting Standards Include AIFRS. Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Notes of the Combined Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).

Application of AASB 1: ‘First Time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards’

The 2006 Financial Report is the first annual financial report of the Consolidated Entity to be prepared in accordance 
with AIFRS. AASB 1: ‘First Time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards’ has 
been applied in preparing these Financial Statements.

Financial Statements of the Combined Group until 30 June 2005 had been prepared in accordance with previous 
Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (‘AGAAP’). AGAAP differs in certain respects from AIFRS. When 
preparing the Combined Group Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2006, management has amended 
accounting and valuation methods applied in previous AGAAP Financial Statements to comply with AIFRS. The 
comparative figures have been restated to comply with AIFRS.

These accounting policies have been consistently applied by each entity within the Combined Group and there 
have been no changes in accounting policy during the current financial year other than change of interpretation of 
accounting for retirement villages under AIFRS as discussed in Note 36.

Stapling

The Combined Group is a Stapled Entity which comprises FKP Property Trust (‘the Trust’) and FKP Limited (‘Parent 
Entity’) and its Controlled Entities. The Group was established for the purpose of facilitating a joint quotation of the 
Trust and the Company on the ASX. The stapled securities cannot be traded or dealt with separately.

The constitutions of the Trust and the Parent Entity ensure that, for as long as the two Entities remain jointly quoted, 
the number of units in the Trust and the number of shares in the Parent Entity shall be equal and that unit holders 
and shareholders will be identical, except for the 10 units in the Trust owned by the Parent Entity.

On 12 November 2004, FKP Limited ceased to control FKP Property Trust as a result of the implementation of the 
stapling arrangement approved by the courts and FKP Limited shareholders. These same shareholders reinvested in 
and capitalised the Trust upon deconsolidation from the company.

FKP Limited has been identified as the acquirer and the Parent for the purposes of preparing the Combined  
Group’s Financial Statements. FKP Property Trust has been combined under the stapling arrangement and is 
identified as the Acquiree.

Trust capital is shown as outside equity interest in this financial report in accordance with UIG 1002: ‘Post-Date-
of-Transition Stapling Arrangements’. Although the interests of the Equity Holders of the Acquiree are treated as 
minority interests, the Equity Holders of the Acquiree are also the Equity Holders in the Acquirer by virtue of the 
stapling arrangement.

Historical Cost Convention

The Financial Report has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss, certain classes of 
property, plant and equipment and investment property.

(b) Principle of Consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Report combines the Financial Report of FKP Limited and its Controlled Entities and the 
FKP Property Trust (refer Note 31). The effects of all transactions between Entities in the Combined Group have 
been eliminated.

Apart from the Property Trust the minority interest comprises the aggregate of the equity of Controlled Entities, 
other than that held directly or indirectly by the Parent Entity, after making adjustments for unrealised profits and 
losses of Controlled Entities and other adjustments necessary to comply with Accounting Standards.

Associates

Associates are those entities in which the Combined Group has significant influence, but not control, over the 
financial and operating policies. In the Parent Entity’s Financial Statements investments in associates are carried at the 
lower of cost and recoverable amount.

In the Combined Group’s Financial Statements investments in associates are accounted for using Equity Accounting 
Principles. Investments in associates are carried at the lower of the equity accounted amount and recoverable 
amount. The Combined Group’s share of the associates’ net profit or loss is recognised in the Combined Income 
Statement after adjustments for dissimilar Accounting Policies and the elimination of unrealised profits and losses for 
both upstream and downstream transactions between the associate and any Entities in the Combined Group. 

Joint Ventures

The proportionate interests in the assets and liabilities of a joint venture activity have been incorporated in the 
financial statements under the appropriate headings. Details of the joint venture are set out in Note 25.

(c) Recoverable Amounts
The carrying amounts of non-current assets do not exceed the net amounts that are expected to be recovered 
through the cash inflows and outflows arising from the continued use and subsequent disposal of the assets. The 
expected net cash flows included in determining the recoverable amounts have been discounted to their present values.

Where a group of assets work together to generate net cash flows the recoverable amount test is applied to that 
group of assets.

Notes To The Financial Statements For The Year Ended 30 June 2006
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(d) Revenue Recognition
Sale of Goods

(i)  Land Subdivision

  Revenues from land subdivisions are recognised upon settlement of the contract of sale.

(ii) Residential Development Properties

   Revenues for the sale of residential development property are recognised when the developments are 
completed and sales are settled.

(iii) Commercial Development Projects

   Revenues from commercial development projects, being the development of commercial property, are 
recognised upon 100% completion of the project and on the exchange of unconditional sales contracts.

(iv) Construction Contracts

   Construction revenue received under fixed price contracts is recognised in accordance with the percentage of 
completion method. Stage of completion is measured by reference to actual costs incurred as a percentage of 
estimated total costs for each contract. Where it is probable that a loss will arise from a construction contract, 
the excess of total costs over revenue is recognised as an expense immediately.

Rendering of Services

When the outcome of a contract to provide services can be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised by reference 
to the percentage of the services performed, specifically:

(i)  Deferred Management Fees (‘DMF’)

   DMF on retirement village assets are earned whilst the resident occupies the independent living unit or  
serviced apartment and are recognised as income on a straight line basis over the residents’ expected tenure. 
The expected tenure is calculated with reference to ABS statistics for life expectancy and historical trends of  
roll-overs within the Group. DMF income is not discounted to present value, as the income is earned by 
reducing the existing resident loan obligation. More specifically:

  •   ‘entry’ based contracts - calculated on the anticipated final DMF receivable based on the entry market value 
amortised over the expected average period of tenure of the resident;

  •  ‘exit’ based contracts - calculated as the expected DMF receivable based on the current market value 
amortised over the expected average period of tenure of the resident.

(ii) Gross Rental Income

  Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(iii) Interest Revenue

   Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the 
financial asset.

(e) Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’)
Revenues, expenses and assets (other than receivables) are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables are 
stated with the amount of GST included, where applicable.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 
balance sheets.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows  
arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as 
operating cash flows.

(f)  Income Tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based 
on the Australian company income tax rate, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial 
Statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rate expected to apply when 
the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively 
enacted. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary 
differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences 
arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to 
these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the 
transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary timing differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and the 
tax bases of investments in Controlled Entities where the Parent Entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and liabilities 
are offset where the Entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to either settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly 
in equity.



FKP 2006 ANNUAL REPORT 37

Notes To The Financial Statements For The Year Ended 30 June 2006 continued

Tax Consolidation Legislation

The FKP Property Group and its wholly-owned Australian Controlled Entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003.

The Head Entity, FKP Limited and the Controlled Entities in the tax Consolidated Group continue to account 
for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each Entity in the Tax 
Consolidated Group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, FKP Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or 
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from Controlled 
Entities in the tax consolidated group.

The entities in the tax consolidated group have not entered into tax sharing/funding agreements. However, it is the 
intention of the directors that the tax consolidated group enter into a tax sharing agreement to limit the joint and 
several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a default by the head entity. It is also the intention of the 
directors that the tax consolidated group enter into a tax funding agreement where the wholly-owned entities fully 
compensate the head entity for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets related to unused tax losses or 
unused tax credits that are transferred to the head entity under the tax consolidation legislation. The transfer of such 
amounts to the head entity are recognised as intercompany receivables or payables.

Trust Taxation

Under current tax legislation the Trust is not liable for income tax, provided the taxable income and taxable capital 
gains are fully distributed to unit holders each year. The Trust fully distributes its taxable income in accordance with 
the Trust Deed. Tax allowances for building and plant equipment are distributed to unit holders in the form of a tax 
deferred component of distributions.

Tax losses and realised capital losses are not distributed to unit holders but are carried forward in the Trust to be 
offset against taxable income and future capital gains of the Trust.

(g) Receivables
Trade accounts receivable, amounts due from related parties and other receivables represent the principal amounts 
due at balance date plus accrued interest and less, where applicable, any provisions for doubtful accounts.

(h) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs have been assigned to inventory quantities 
on hand at balance date using the first in first out basis. Cost comprises all costs of purchase and conversion including 
material, labour, sub-contract charges and direct contract expenses and an appropriate proportion of fixed and 
variable overheads.

Property Held for Resale

Freehold and leasehold property held for resale is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(i)  Land Subdivision

   Cost includes the cost of acquisition and development. All holding costs such as borrowing costs, rates and 
taxes are expensed as incurred except where the subdivision is regarded as a qualifying asset.

(ii) Residential and Commercial Development Projects

   Costs include the costs of acquisition, development and holding costs (until the projects are brought to a 
marketable condition). Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where the development is regarded 
as a qualifying asset.

(iii) Construction Contract Work in Progress

   Construction contract work in progress consists of direct labour and materials, depreciation of plant and 
equipment used on contracts, project overheads, less provision for foreseeable losses.

(i)  Depreciation
All items of property, plant and equipment, other than investment property, freehold and leasehold land, are 
depreciated using the straight line method.

Depreciation rates used are as follows:

    DEPRECIATION RATE

Freehold buildings    2.5%
Nursing homes    2.5%
Leasehold improvements    2.5% - 20%
Plant & equipment    6% - 40%
Plant & equipment (leased asset)    7.5% - 20%
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(j)  Investment Property
Investment property comprises investment interests in land and buildings (including integral plant and equipment 
held for the purpose of letting to produce rental income). Investment property is carried at fair value, representing 
open-market value determined annually by external values. Changes in fair value are recorded in the Income 
Statement as part of other income.

Retirement Villages

Retirement villages are investment properties held to earn revenues and capital appreciation, comprising land and 
buildings intended to be held for the long term relating to independent living units, serviced apartments, common 
facilities and integral plant and equipment.

Investment properties are initially recorded at cost whilst being constructed or developed and are included in work 
in progress. On completion of a construction or development project, individual units and serviced apartments are 
leased at which time they are included in investment properties at fair value.

Investment properties are carried at fair value with any changes recorded in the Income Statement. The fair value 
is determined using the discounted cash flow valuation methodology. A rolling program of external valuations is 
undertaken so that each unit is independently valued every three years. During the intervening period, Management 
separately assesses the value of individual units on a six monthly basis to reaffirm valuations and reflect the most 
current pricing and market conditions.

(k) Business Combinations
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business 
combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or 
other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or 
assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of 
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Combined Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable 
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the Income Statement, but only after a 
reassessment of the identification measurement of the net assets acquired.

(l)  Impairment of Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an identifiable useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets 
(cash generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(m) Government Grants
Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Combined Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the Income Statement over the period 
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate for.

(n) Lease Incentives
Initial indirect costs incurred by the lessor which relate to an operating lease and lease incentives are deferred by the 
lessor and amortised over the lease term in proportion to the rental recognised in each financial year.

(o) Leased Assets
Leases under which the Combined Group assumes substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance Leases

Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and a lease liability equal to the present value of the minimum lease 
payments are recorded at the inception of the lease.

Lease liabilities are reduced by repayments of principal. The interest components of the lease payments are expensed.

Operating Leases

Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, except 
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

(p) Intangible Assets
Licenses to operate nursing homes and hostels acquired are carried at cost as they have an indefinite useful life. The 
licenses are issued for an unlimited period and there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is 
expected to generate net cash inflows for the Entity. Directors review the carrying value of licenses for impairment 
and write off as an expense any reduction of recoverable amount below cost.

The exclusive right to construct and market retirement villages for Forest Place Retirement Village Syndicates, 
acquired from third parties, is carried at cost and amortised against revenues arising from the completion of contracts 
for construction and sale of retirement village assets.

Directors review the carrying value of intangible assets regularly to determine whether the carrying amount exceeds 
recoverable amount and write off as an expense any reduction of recoverable amount below cost.

(q) Payables
Payables represent the principal amounts outstanding at balance date plus, where applicable, any accrued interest.

(r) Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings
Interest bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised on the Balance Sheet at their fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds 
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest rate method.
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(s) Finance Costs
Finance costs include interest, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings and amortisation of 
ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowing.

Finance costs are expensed as incurred unless they relate to qualifying assets. Qualifying assets are assets which take 
more than 12 months to get ready for their intended use or sale. Where funds are borrowed specifically for the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, the amounts of borrowing costs capitalised are those 
incurred in relation to that borrowing, net of any interest earned on those borrowings. For non-specific borrowings, 
borrowing costs are capitalised using a weighted average capitalisation rate.

(t) Resident Loans
Residential loans are measured at the principal amount less unearned income, plus the resident’s share of any 
increase in the market value of the underlying property at balance date.

Residential loans are non interest bearing and are payable at the end of the resident contract. In most cases this 
is greater than 12 months, however, they are classified as current liabilities because the Group does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement greater than 12 months.

(u) Employee Benefits
Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected 
to be settled within 12 months of the balance date are recognised as other payables in respect of service up to the 
balance date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long Service Leave

Long service leave is recognised in the employee benefits provision and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the balance date. Consideration is 
given to future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.

Employee Share and Option Plans

The Combined Group grants securities to certain employees. The fair value of securities issued to employees is 
charged as an expense when the issue occurs. Other than the costs incurred in administering the schemes, which 
are expensed as incurred, the scheme does not result in any expense to the Combined Group.

Superannuation Fund

The Combined Group contributes to an employee accumulation superannuation fund. Contributions are expensed 
against income as they are incurred.

Staff Incentive

In 2003 the Parent Entity introduced a staff incentive scheme. The scheme has two components - basic bonus 
scheme and premium bonus scheme. A basic bonus scheme is paid to most qualifying employees when the 
Combined Group exceeds Board approved financial benchmarks. A premium bonus is paid to those employees 
deserving recognition for exceptional performance.

The Combined Group recognises a liability and an expense for the incentive scheme based on the calculations 
determined by the basic bonus scheme and premium bonus scheme.

Security Appreciation Rights Plan (‘SARP’)

Security Appreciation Rights were issued to a number of employees under the SARP. Each Security Appreciation 
Right entitles the holder to a cash payment equal to the increase in the market value of a stapled security over a 
period subject to the Combined Group meeting performance criteria specified by the Board. 

The Combined Group recognises a liability and an expense being the difference in the estimated liability arising in 
the reporting period. The liability is estimated at the fair value of the SAR by applying an option-pricing model, taking 
into account the terms and conditions on which the SAR was granted, and the extent to which the employees have 
rendered service to date.

(v) Provisions
A provision is recognised when there is a legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the timing or amount of 
which is uncertain.

Warranty Maintenance

Provisions for warranty claims are made for claims received and claims expected to be received in relation 
to construction work performed prior to reporting date, based on historical claim rates, adjusted for specific 
information arising from internal quality assurance processes.

Significant uncertainties relate to estimates for construction provisions as these depend on circumstances particular 
to each site.

(w) Syndicate Put Options
The Combined Group has entered into put and call options as part of the syndicate arrangements for the Cleveland 
and Clayfield Villages. The estimated value of the put options exercised, but for which payment is not yet due, is 
recognised in the Financial Report as both an asset (rights to acquire syndicate shares) and a corresponding liability 
(put option liabilities).

The classification between Current and Non-Current is based on the commitment to make payment for these put 
options at the rate of one share per syndicate per calendar month.

(x) Rounding of Amounts
The Combined Group is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the Financial Report. Amounts in the Financial 
Report have been rounded off in accordance with the Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain 
circumstances, the nearest dollar.
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From Continuing Operations:
Sale of goods      199,281 232,743 - - - -
Construction contract revenue     37,032 19,947 - - - -
        236,313 252,690 - - - -
Rendering of Services: 

Rent received     12,692 13,807 127 120 12,395 13,879
Deferred management fees     30,355 15,694 - - - -
Property development fee     - 2,422 - - - -
Government grants     3,988 3,831 - - - -
Other      13,972 11,524 - - - -

        61,007 47,278 127 120 12,395 13,879

Other Revenues: 
From Outside Operating Activities: 
Dividend received:
 Entities in wholly-owned group     - - 269 80,500 - -
 Associates     - - 3,746 - - -
Interest received:     

Entities in wholly-owned group     - - 6,294 2,601 11,752 8,080
Other parties     4,549 1,921 2,700 786 815 -

Management fee received: 
Entities in wholly-owned group     - - 101 280 - -
Other parties     1,279 1,047 363 624 537 -

Trust distribution received     917 378 379 931 - -
Net fair value gain on financial assets     6 - - - - -
Net gain or loss on disposal of assets other than goods: 

Property, plant & equipment     (551) 1,045 (101) - - -
Other      3,623 540 3,164 - - -

        9,823 4,931 16,915 85,722 13,104 8,080

Government Grants

Aged Care grants of $3.988m (2005: $3.831m) were recognised as Other Income by the Combined Group during the financial year. There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants.  
The Combined Group did not benefit directly from any other forms of government assistance.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

2.  REVENUE  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Additional information on the nature of expenses: 
Depreciation: 
Plant & equipment     932 757 289 265 - -
Nursing home     24 23 - - - -
Building       131 27 - - - -
        1,087 807 289 265 - -
Amortisation: 
Leased plant & equipment     5 4 4 4 - -
Other intangibles     564 213 - - - -
Leasehold improvements     548 453 281 247 - -
        1,117 670 285 251 - -
Finance Costs:
Entities in the Combined Group     - - 11,752 7,821 - -
Other Parties: 

Bank loans & overdraft     24,297 11,505 18,313 4,925 4,664 4,893
Finance charges on capitalised leases     15 18 1 1 - -

Less: capitalised finance costs     (5,913) (2,604) - (2,604) - -
        18,399 8,919 30,066 10,143 4,664 4,893

Impairment of equity accounted investment in associate     10,282 - 10,282 - - -

Write down of inventory to realisable value     1,160 - - - - -

4. TAXATION
(a) Income Tax Expense

Current Tax: 
Current year movements     28,849 14,324 (8,676) 14,324 - -
(Over) / under provisions     499 - 500 - - -

        29,348 14,324 (8,176) 14,324 - -
Deferred Tax Expense from Temporary Differences: 
Current year movement     24,577 18,892 (2,455) 325 - -
(Over) / under provisions     (157) (649) (884) - - -
Income Tax Expense Attributable to Profit from Ordinary Activities    53,768 32,567 (11,515) 14,649 - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

3.  EXPENSES  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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(b) Reconciliation of Income Tax Expense to Prima Facie Profit

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense    198,494 122,972 (43,768) 57,104 26,699 10,821
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30%     59,548 36,891 (13,131) 17,131 8,010 3,246
Tax effect of non-deductible amounts: 

Non-assessable income     (9,691) (4,344) (1,251) (977) (8,010) (3,246)
Assessable income not booked     108 547 - 500 - -
Non-deductible expenses     3,359 1,161 3,250 153 - -
Other deductible expenses     (3) (750) - (1,207) - -

        53,321 33,505 (11,132) 15,600 - -
Over / under provisions      525 (648) (200) (661) - -
Income tax losses & timing differences not carried forward as a future tax benefit   106 - - - - -
Prior year tax losses not recognised now recouped     (184) (290) (183) (290) - -
Income tax expense     53,768 32,567 (11,515) 14,649 - -

(c) Deferred Tax Assets

The Balance Comprises Temporary Differences Attributable to: 
Amounts recognised in income statement: 

Provisions     1,619 4,095 341 310 - -
Accrued expenditure     4,402 52 3,435 872 - -
Tax losses     3,625 3,982 - 34 - -
Unearned revenue     11,520 8,441 520 - - -
Other     385 - - - 

Net deferred tax assets     21,551 16,570 4,296 1,216 - -
Less: amounts set-off against deferred tax liabilities     (21,551) (16,570) - (217) - -

        - - 4,296 999 - -
Movements: 
Opening balance at 1 July     16,570 19,837 1,216 782 - -
Accrued expenditure     2,712 (983) 2,079 364 - -
Provisions     580 (385) 51 36 - -
Tax losses     (336) 454 (34) 34 - -
Unearned revenue     3,186 323 520 - - -
Other      44 (2,676) - - - -
Over / under provisions     (1,205) - 464 - - -

        21,551 16,570 4,296 1,216 - -
Less: amounts set-off (from) against deferred tax liabilities    (21,551) (16,570) - (217) - -
Closing balance at 30 June     - - 4,296 999 - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

4.  TAXATION (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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(d) Deferred Tax Liabilities

The Balance Comprises Temporary Differences Attributable to: 
Amounts recognised in income statement: 

Accrued income     7,207 - - - - -
Fair value of investment properties     330,884 296,658 - - - -
Fair value of resident loan obligations     (189,112) (182,134) - - - -
Differences in depreciation & amortisation of property,  
plant & equipment for accounting & income tax purposes    (1,257) 2,252 - - - -
Intangibles     237 - - - - -
Equity accounted profits     21,330 766 - - - -
Other expenditure currently deductible for tax but deferred & amortised for accounting   3,815 1,762 - 217 - -

Net deferred tax liabilities     173,104 119,304 - 217 - -
Less: amounts set-off from (against) deferred tax assets    (21,551) (16,570) - (217) - -

        151,553 102,734 - - - -

Movements: 
Opening balance at 1 July     119,304 100,915 217 152 - -
Over / under provisions     (1,156) - (419) - - -
Accrued income     7,207 - - - - -
Borrowing costs     (19) - - - - -
Equity accounted profits     20,564 509 - - - -
Differences in depreciation & amortisation of property,  
plant & equipment for accounting & income tax purposes    (987) (4,288) - - - -
Prepaid expenses     1,254 - - - -
Fair value of investment properties     34,226 28,360 - - - -
Fair value of resident loan obligations     (6,978) (9,121) - - - -
Other expenditure currently deductible for tax but deferred & amortised for accounting   (311) 2,929 202 65 - -

        173,104 119,304 - 217 - -
Less: amounts set-off from (against) deferred tax assets    (21,551) (16,570) - (217) - -
Closing balance at 30 June     151,553 102,734 - - - -

(e) Tax Losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised    24,646 25,146 - - - -
Potential tax benefit at 30%     7,394 7,544 - - - -
All unused tax losses were incurred by Australian entities.

(f) Tax Consolidation Legislation
The Combined Group has implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003. The accountancy policy in relation to this legislation is set out in Note 1(f).

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

4.  TAXATION (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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(a) Basic and Diluted Earnings per Security
Net profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Combined Group   140,812 88,324

(b) Weighted Average Number of Shares used as the Denominator    NUMBER NUMBER

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary securities used in calculating diluted earnings per security  183,720,288 159,117,821

(c) Other Information
The weighted average number of options converted or lapsed during the year  
included in the calculation of diluted EPS     - 166,777

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

6.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank      5,134 28,761 596 21,312 706 4,869
Short term deposits (i)     - 363 - - - -
        5,134 29,124 596 21,312 706 4,869
(i)  Bank Short Term Deposits are at Call and Pay Interest at a Weighted Average Interest Rate of 3.7 % (2005: 5.3%).  

For the Property Trust the weighted average interest rate is 3.1% (2005: 3.9%).

7.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current: 
Trade receivables     91,944 38,906 5,944 963 4,104 2,583
Provision for doubtful receivables     (1,801) (905) (1,800) (900) - (5)
        90,143 38,001 4,144 63 4,104 2,578
 
Due from Associate     54,897 - 39,663 - - -
Due from Associate (non-interest bearing)     571 4,986 (67) - 638 -
Due from Parent Entity (interest bearing)     - - - - 15,000 15,000
Due from wholly owned subsidiaries of the Parent Entity     - - 356,779 210,753 - -
Non trade accounts receivable due from other than related parties    - 337 - - - 337
Total Current Receivables     145,611 43,324 400,519 210,816 19,742 17,915

 COMBINED GROUP 
 2006 2005

5.  EARNINGS PER SECURITY  $’000 $’000
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Non-Current: 
Trade receivables     15,965 5,211 - - 1,960 -
Provision for doubtful debts     (135) (119) - - - -
        15,830 5,092 - - 1,960 -
Aggregate amounts receivable from Managing Director      1,789 - 1,789 - - -
Provision for loan forgiveness     (243) - (243) - - -
        1,546 - 1,546 - - -
Due from Parent Entity (interest bearing)     - - - - 115,419 115,694
Due from other than related parties     5,171 600 - - - 600
Total Non-Current Receivables     22,547 5,692 1,546 - 117,379 116,294

Fair Values

The carrying amounts of receivables approximate fair values.

Interest - Trade Receivables

Represents amounts to be settled on due dates nominated in written contracts. If settlement does not occur on the date or within normal trading terms the contracts provide for interest to accrue until settlement at commercial rates.

The weighted average effective interest rate on interest bearing trade receivables at 30 June 2006 is 8.58% pa (2005: 13.02% pa). For the Property Trust the weighted average effective interest rate on interest bearing trade receivables at 30 June 
2006 is 8.7% pa (2005: 8.9% pa).

No other receivables, current or non-current, earn interest on outstanding balances.

Security - Trade Receivables

Trade receivables totalling $45,374,458 (2005: $15,125,211) are secured by first mortgage over real property assets of the debtor. All other receivables are unsecured.

Trade Receivables: 
Debtors with Extended Settlement Terms are Expected to Settle as Follows: 

Within one year     45,836 19,251 - 577 - -
One year or later & no later than 5 years     4,648 2,688 - - - -
Later than 5 years     997 130 - - - -

        51,481 22,069 - 577 - -

All other trade receivables are subject to normal terms of trade which provide for settlement within 30 days or are subject to a contractual settlement date within 12 months of year end. Other receivables that are non-current are contractual 
obligations due after 30 June 2007.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

7.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Held for Trading: Marketable Securities – Shares in Listed Companies 
At beginning of year     - - - - -
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 & AASB 139     21 - - - - -
Disposals       (2) - - - - -
At end of year     19 - - - 

Financial Assets Carried at Cost: 
Marketable securities - at cost     - 15 - - - -
Investment in unlisted property trust - at cost     3,450 3,450 3,450 3,450 - -
Investment in Controlled Entities - at cost     - - 53,806 58,443 - -
        3,450 3,465 57,256 61,893 - -
Total Non-Current Other Financial Assets     3,469 3,465 57,256 61,893 - -

Changes in Fair Value
Changes in Fair Value of other financial assets at Fair Value through the profit or loss are recorded in Other Income in the Income Statement.

Transition to AASB 132 and AASB 139
The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1: ‘First Time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards’ to apply AASB 132: ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’  
and AASB 139: ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ from 1 July 2005. At the date of transition to these standards 1 July 2005 for the Combined Group:
• marketable securities with a carrying value of $15,000 under previous AGAAP, were designated and re-classified as other financial assets at fair value through the Income Statement; and
• an adjustment of $6,000 was recognised. This represented an initial gain on remeasurement to fair value of assets that under previous AGAAP had been measured at cost.

Investment in Unlisted Property Trust
The investment in the unlisted property trust has been measured at cost as the securities are traded in an inactive market.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

8.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Current: 
Land & development properties held for resale:
Cost of land acquisition     47,075 35,073 - - - -
Capitalised development costs     94,677 39,864 - - 21,431 -
Other capitalised costs     4,801 1,443 - - - -
Less: provision for diminution in value     (1,160) - - - - -
        145,393 76,380 - - 21,431 -
Construction work in progress:
Construction costs incurred & attributable net profit     21,201 14,771 - - - -
Less: progress billings (including retention allowances)     (19,949) (11,387) - - - -
        1,252 3,384 - - - -
Other inventory:
At cost       - - - - - -
At net realisable value     - 534 - - - -
        - 534 - - - -
Total Current Inventories     146,645 80,298 - - 21,431 -

Non-Current: 
Land & development properties held for resale:
Cost of land acquisition     91,282 66,073 - - - -
Capitalised development costs     35,865 67,381 - - - -
Other capitalised costs     1,420 746 - - - -
Less: provision for diminution in value     - (409) - - - -
Total Non-Current Inventories     128,567 133,791 - - - -
Aggregate consideration received & receivable as progress billings (including retentions)  
& advances received on amount of construction work in progress    20,129 11,835 - - - -

Inventory Pledged as Security
Inventory of $224.509m is pledged as first mortgage security for bank overdraft and bank loans. Bank loans are secured by floating charge over assets of the Consolidated Group. (Refer Note 16 for further details).

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

9.  INVENTORIES  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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At Fair Value Opening Balance:     1,145,117 999,205 - - 134,566 91,259
Acquisitions      239,274 45,976 - - - 45,976
Capitalised subsequent expenditure     26,472 8,136 - - 23,388 -
Change in fair value of investment properties     93,671  91,800  - - 9,537 (2,669)
Disposal of investment property     (50,139) - - - (50,139) -
Transfer (to) / from inventories      (4,599) - - - (4,599) -
Closing balance at 30 June 2006     1,449,796 1,145,117 - - 112,753 134,566

Amounts Recognised in Profit & Loss for Investment Property: 
Rental income     12,692 13,879 - - 12,395 13,879
Change in fair values of investment properties     93,671 91,800   9,537 (2,699)
Change in fair value of resident loans     (23,259) (29,894) - - - -
Direct operating expenses from properties that generated rental income    (3,530) (3,088) - - (3,530) (3,088)
        79,574 72,697 - - 18,402 8,092

Leasing Arrangements: 
Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases of investment properties  
not recognised in the financial statements are receivable as follows:
Within one year     12,776 11,867 - - 12,776 11,867
Later than one year but not later 5 years     33,421 29,475 - - 33,421 29,475
Later than 5 years     17,098 16,558 - - 17,098 16,558
        63,295 57,900 - - 63,295 57,900

Valuation Basis – Commercial and Retail Properties

The carrying amount of investment property is the fair value of the property as determined by a registered independent appraiser having a recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of property being 
valued. Fair values were determined having regard to recent market transactions of similar properties in similar locations to the Consolidated Entity’s investment properties.

Valuation Basis – Retirement Villages

The fair value method to account for investment property requires any movements in the fair value of the investment property to be taken directly to the Income Statement. The fair value has been determined by Directors’ valuation using the 
discounted cash flow valuation methodology. These valuations are based on projected cashflows using the current market value of individual retirement units and individual resident contracts. In determining these market values, a rolling program of 
external valuations is undertaken so that each unit is independently valued every three years. During the intervening period, Management separately assesses the value of individual units on a six monthly basis to reaffirm valuations and reflect the most 
current pricing and market conditions.

Key assumptions used in Directors’ valuation are:

Discount rate  13% (2005: 13%)

Long term property growth rate 5% (2005: 5%)

Tenure Period:  Individually estimated for existing residents based on age and sex.  
 For future residents, 10 years for independent living units (2005: 10 years)  
and 5 years for serviced apartments (2005: 5 years).

Contractual Obligations
Refer to Note 22 for disclosure of any contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment property or for repairs, maintenance or enhancements.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

10. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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(a) Carrying Amounts
Details of Investment in Associates are as Follows:
Ownership Interest: 
Forest Place Cleveland Syndicate (1)   Retirement villages 78.8 75.0 16.3 16.3 - -
Forest Place Clayfield Syndicate   Retirement villages 44.4 40.0 10.0 10.0 - -
Retirement Villages Group   Retirement villages 48.0 - - - - -
FKP Core Plus Fund   Property investment 49.5 - 9.5 - 40.0 -
Mulpha FKP Pty Ltd    Land developer 38.0 - - - - -
Carrum Downs JV Pty Ltd (2)   Land developer 50.1 - - - - -
Formica Pty Ltd   Land developer 50.0 - - - - -

(1)   The investment in the Forest Place Cleveland Syndicate has been treated as an investment in associate as the Combined Group does not have the ability to make the key financial and operating decisions as this requires unanimous agreement by all syndicate members and precludes the  
Combined Group from voting on matters benefiting the Combined Group.

(2)   The Carrum Downs JV Pty Ltd constitution provides that the Combined Group has a 50% voting right, however key decision making requires a majority on key constitutional changes and decision making. In addition an Investment Committee with two-thirds (independent of unit holders  
and voting rights) external members are responsible for key investment decisions, which the Combined Group cannot alter.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Investment Carrying Amounts:
Forest Place Cleveland Syndicate     9,099 6,114 1,635 1,635 - -
Forest Place Clayfield Syndicate     6,837 5,412 1,992 1,992 - -
Retirement Villages Group     160,140 - 87,476 - - -
FKP Core Plus Fund     23,139 - 4,447 - 18,692 -
Mulpha FKP Pty Ltd     109,774 - 108,500 - - -
Carrum Downs JV Pty Ltd     - - - - - -
Formica Pty Ltd     - - - - - -

        308,989 11,526 204,050 3,627 18,692 -

(b) Movement in the Carrying Amount of the Investment
Carrying amount of investment in associates at the beginning of the financial year   11,526 8,429 3,627 3,054 - -
Purchase of investment in associates     229,930 1,354 210,705 - 18,262 -
Share of net profit      81,561 1,170 - - 430 -
Dividends received     (3,746) - - - - -
Reversal / (write down) to recoverable amount     (10,282) 573 (10,282) 573 - -
Carrying amount of investments in associates at the end of the financial year   308,989 11,526 204,050 3,627 18,692 -

 ACTIVITY COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

11. EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS  % %  % %  % %
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(c) Summarised Financial Information of Associates

2006 
Forest Place Cleveland Syndicate     31,006 21,557 5,368 2,778
Forest Place Clayfield Syndicate     26,563 20,371 1,898 608
Retirement Villages Group     517,978 365,392 14,710 72,665
FKP Core Plus Fund     46,932 24,202 1,757 490
Mulpha FKP Pty Ltd     166,206 28,900 18,153 5,020
Carrum Downs JV Pty Ltd     3,775 3,751 - -
Formica Pty Ltd     13,415 13,386 - -

2005 
Forest Place Cleveland Syndicate      24,332 18,617 2,461 530
Forest Place Clayfield Syndicate     27,833 19,164 2,115 640

(d) Share of Associates’ Expenditure Commitments, other than for the Supply of Inventories
There are no expenditure commitments contracted for at balance date payable but not provided for and payable by the Associates.

(e) Contingent Liabilities of Associates
There are no known contingent liabilities.

(f) Impairment Loss

An acquisition during the year of an equity interest in an associate, Mulpha FKP Pty Ltd (formerly Mulpha Norwest Pty Ltd), gave rise to goodwill of $10.282m which was written off during the period. The goodwill arose because of the 
requirement to calculate the acquisition price utilising the higher price of the Combined Group’s securities on the date of settlement (December 2005), some eight months after the commercial arrangements had been concluded.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

12. OTHER ASSETS  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Current: 
Deposits       3,984 2,561 177 307 100 -
Prepayments      17,273 9,720 3,844 1,070 893 539
Rights to acquire syndicate shares     816 924 - - - -
Total Current Other Assets     22,073 13,205 4,021 1,377 993 539
 
Non-Current: 
Deposits       - 2,125 - - - -
Lease incentives     228 1,064 - - 229 1,064
Rights to acquire syndicate shares     544 1,360 - - - -
Total Non-Current Other Assets     772 4,549 - - 229 1,064

 COMBINED GROUP’S SHARE OF:

 ASSETS LIABILITIES REVENUE PROFIT
11. EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000
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 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Freehold Land: 
At cost      7,252 7,238 - - - -

 
Nursing Home: 

At cost      4,103 2,876 - - - -
Provision for depreciation     (710) (686) - - - -

        3,393 2,190 - - - -
Freehold Buildings: 

At cost      2,593 2,574 - - - -
Provision for depreciation     (171) (40) - - - -

        2,422 2,534 - - - -
Leasehold Improvements: 

At cost      2,543 2,334 1,886 1,552 - -
Provision for amortisation     (1,375) (918) (942) (700) - -

        1,168 1,416 944 852 - -
Total Land & Buildings     14,235 13,378 944 852 - -
 
Plant & Equipment

At cost      6,069 4,961 1,716 1,184 - -
Provision for depreciation     (2,824) (2,003) (1,006) (726) - -

Under Finance Lease: 
At cost      23 23 22 22 - -
Provision for amortisation     (9) (4) (8) (4) - -

Total Plant & Equipment     3,259 2,977 724 476 - -
Total Non-Current Property, Plant & Equipment     17,494 16,355 1,668 1,328 - -
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Movements during the Year 
Freehold Land: 
Beginning of year     7,238 7,136 - - - -
Transfers (to) / from inventory     14 102 - - - -
End of year      7,252 7,238 - - - -

Leasehold Land: 
Beginning of year     - 215 - - - -
Transfers to inventory     - (215) - - - -
End of year      - - - - - -

Nursing Home: 
Beginning of year     2,190 2,210 - - - -
Additions - capitalised costs     1,227 3 - - - -
Acquisitions through entities acquired     - - - - - -
Depreciation      (24) (23) - - - -
End of year      3,393 2,190 - - - -

Freehold Buildings: 
Beginning of year     2,534 2,503 - - - -
Additions - capitalised costs     19 58 - - - -
Depreciation      (131) (27) - - - -
End of year      2,422 2,534 - - - -

Leasehold Improvements: 
Beginning of year     1,416 3,006 852 820 - -
Additions       529 1,006 448 279 - -
Disposals at written down value     (229) (2,143) (75) - - -
Amortisation expense     (548) (453) (281) (247) - -
End of year      1,168 1,416 944 852 - -

Plant & Equipment: 
Beginning of year     2,977 2,530 476 463 - -
Additions       1,697 1,562 567 304 - -
Acquisition through entities acquired     - - - - - -
Disposals at written down value     (478) (354) (26) (22) - -
Depreciation expense     (932) (757) (289) (265) - -
Amortisation expense finance leased assets     (5) (4) (4) (4) - -
End of year      3,259 2,977 724 476 - -

Valuations

An independent valuation of $4.870m for the Minkarra nursing home was obtained on 31 January 2003 on the basis of open market values for existing use. As the nursing home is recorded at cost ($1.484m), the valuation has not been brought to 
account. For all other land and buildings fair value equates to the carrying value. Fair values have been determined by reference to Directors’ valuations based upon independent valuations previously obtained. All valuations are performed on an open 
market basis, being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing buyers and sellers in an arms length transaction. This determination has been made at 30 June 2006.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Goodwill: 
At cost       2,172 2,172 - - - -
Accumulated amortisation & impairment     (1,571) (1,571) - - - -
        601 601 - - - -
Licence: 
At cost       4,279 4,279 - - - -
 
Rights: 
Cost       4,471 3,663 - - - -
Accumulated amortisation & impairment     (786) (222) - - - -
        3,685 3,441 - - - -
Total Intangibles     8,565 8,321 - - - -
 
Movements during the Year 
Goodwill: 
Beginning & end of year     601 601 - - - -
 
Licence: 
Beginning & end of year     4,279 4,279 - - - -
 
Rights: 
Beginning of year     3,441 3,293 - - - -
Amortisation charge     (564) (213) - - - -
Acquisitions      808 361 - - - -
End of year      3,685 3,441 - - - -

Impairment Tests for Goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Combined Group’s Cash Generating Units (‘CGU’s’)  
identified according to business segment. A segment level summary of goodwill is presented below:
Goodwill – developments segment     601 601 - - - -

Impairment Tests for Licences
Licences are allocated to the Combined Group’s Cash Generating Units (‘CGU’s’)  
identified according to business segment. A segment level summary of licences is presented below:
Licences – retirements segment      4,279 4,279 - - - -

Nursing home bed licences are not amortised as they have an indefinite useful life. The licences are issued for an unlimited period and there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate  
net cash inflows for the Combined Group.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Current: 
Trade accounts payable     52,808 63,553 21,949 14,374 1,282 626
Deferred revenue     40,187 29,380 1,735 - - 146
Put option liability to acquire syndicate shares     1,131 1,346 - - - -
Due to associates     2,495 - 2,495 - - -
Non trade accounts payable     1,304 4,742 882 4,314 - 67
Total Current Trade and Other Payables     97,925 99,021 27,061 18,688 1,282 839
 
Non-Current: 
Trade accounts payable     2,162 8,620 - - - -
Put option liability to acquire syndicate shares     754 1,795 - - - -
Total Non-Current Trade and Other Payables     2,916 10,415 - - - -

Trade accounts payable are usually due within 30 days. No interest is charged on balances paid outside normal terms.

Fair Values
The carrying amounts of payables approximate fair values.

Secured Amounts Payable
None of the payables are secured.

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Current: 
Secured 
Bank loans      104,105 - 104,105 - - -
Loan from FKP Property Trust     - - 15,000 15,000 - -
Finance lease liabilities (Note 23)     43 44 - 10 - -
Total Secured Current Loans and Borrowings     104,148 44 119,105 15,010 - -
Non-Current: 
Secured 
Bank loans      332,808 125,932 262,468 28,000 57,787 79,320
Loan from FKP Property Trust     - - 115,419 115,694 - -
Other loans      60,243 243 60,000 - - -
Finance lease liabilities (Note 23)     90 25 - - - -
Total Secured Non-Current Loans and Borrowings     393,141 126,200 437,887 143,694 57,787 79,320

Amounts payable in foreign currencies
Included in bank loans are amounts payable in New Zealand dollars    38,784 - 38,784 - - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Financing Arrangements: 
The Combined Group has access to the following lines of credit 
Total Facilities Available: 

Bank overdraft     2,500 2,500 2,000 2,000 - -
Bank loans     523,794 298,569 439,872 177,064 62,820 90,480
Loan from FKP Property Trust     - - 500,000 500,000 - -
Other loans     60,243 243 60,000 - - -
Performance guarantee facilities (Note 23)     43,314 46,415 41,052 41,890 - -
Finance lease liability     133 69 - 10 - -

        629,984 347,796 1,042,924 720,964 62,820 90,480

Facilities Utilised at Balance Date: 
Bank loans     437,544 125,932 366,932 28,000 57,787 79,320
Loan from FKP Property Trust     - - 130,419 130,694 - -
Other loans     60,243 243 60,000 - - -
Performance guarantee facilities (Note 23)     19,153 18,409 16,892 14,590 - -
Finance lease liability     133 69 - 10 - -

        517,073 144,653 574,243 173,294 57,787 79,320

Facilities not Utilised at Balance Date: 
Bank overdraft     2,500 2,500 2,000 2,000 - -
Bank loans     86,250 172,637 72,940 149,064 5,033 11,160
Loan from FKP Property Trust     - - 369,581 369,306 - -
Other loans     - - - - - -
Performance guarantee facilities (Note 23)     24,161 28,006 24,160 27,300 - -
Finance lease liability     - - - - - -

        112,911 203,143 468,681 547,670 5,033 11,160

Restrictions as to use or Withdrawal

There are no restrictions on use or withdrawal of any facilities however the facilities are subject to the Combined Group complying with covenants concerning such matters as minimum interest times cover, maximum loan to value ration, current 
ratios and net tangible assets.

Bank Overdraft

Interest on bank overdrafts is charged at prevailing market rates. The weighted average interest rate for all overdrafts as at 30 June 2006 is 9.4% (2005: 9.1%). Collateral pledged comprises first mortgages over properties held in inventory, 
investments and property, plant and equipment. Overdrafts of Controlled Entities are guaranteed by the Parent Entity and other Entities in the Combined Group. The bank overdrafts are payable on demand and are subject to annual review.

Bank Loans (Wholly Secured)

The weighted average interest rate at 30 June 2006 is 6.2% (2005: 6.3%). For the Property Trust the weighted average interest rate at 30 June 2006 is 5.9% (2005: 5.8%).

Collateral pledged comprises first mortgages over certain properties and a floating charge over assets of the Parent Entity and its controlled entities. The Parent Entity guarantees bank loans of Controlled Entities within the Parent Entity and its controlled entities.

Loan From FKP Property Trust

FKP Funds Management Limited has entered in to a loan agreement with the Parent Entity to make available a $500 million loan facility. Interest is payable quarterly at the rate of the prevailing 90 day bank bill swap reference rate plus a margin of 3.5%.

Performance Guarantee Facilities
These facilities are used to provide performance guarantees related to projects. Interest rates applicable to the facilities provided by lending institutions range from 0.95% to 1.5% per annum.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Current: 
Employee benefits     2,524 2,418 948 779 - -
Warranty maintenance     850 240 - - - -
Dividends & distributions payable     8,040 26,755 - 17,584 8,040 9,171
Total Current Provisions     11,414 29,413 948 18,363 8,040 9,171
 
Non-Current: 
Employee benefits     492 384 40 38 - -
Total Non-Current Provisions     492 384 40 38 - -

Reconciliations
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of provision, except for employee benefits, is set out below:

Warranty Maintenance: 
Carrying amount at beginning of year     240 240 - - - -
Provisions made during the year     610 - - - - -
Reversal of provisions no longer required during the year     - - - - - -
Carrying amount at the end of year     850 240 - - - -
 
Dividends & Distributions Payable: 
Carrying amount at beginning of year     26,755 - 17,584 - 9,171 -
Provisions made during the year     8,040 26,755 - 17,584 8,040 9,171
Payments made during the period     (26,755) - (17,584) - (9,171) -
Carrying amount at the end of year     8,040 26,755 - 17,584 8,040 9,171

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

17. PROVISIONS  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Issued Capital: 
Ordinary securities fully paid     191,161,904 176,017,115 191,161,904 176,017,115 191,161,904 176,017,125
Movement in Securities on Issue: 
Beginning of the financial year     176,017,115 132,338,137 176,017,115 132,338,137 176,017,125 10
Securities Issued as a Result of: 

Employee security plan issue 1     172,696 - 172,696 - 172,696 -
Dividend reinvestment plan     3,000,848 - 3,000,848 - 3,000,848 -
Issue in consideration for acquisition of an associate  4    11,583,333 - 11,583,333 - 11,583,333 -
Issue of shares under Managing Director Security Plan 3    387,912 - 387,912 - 387,912 -
Employees exercising security options 2     - 778,493 - 778,493 - -
Return of capital      - - - - - -
Stapling book build     - 35,714,285 - 35,714,285 - 35,714,285
Costs of stapling      - - - - - -
Security purchase plan      - 7,186,200 - 7,186,200 - 7,186,200
Capital raising      - - - - - 133,116,630

End of the financial year     191,161,904 176,017,115 191,161,904 176,017,115 191,161,914 176,017,125

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

Movement in Securities on Issue 
Beginning of the financial year     304,000 152,238 114,652 152,238 189,348 -
Securities Issued as a Result of:     

Employee security plan issue 1     673 - 287 - 386 -
Dividend reinvestment plan     12,149 - 5,003 - 7,146 -
Issue in consideration for acquisition of an associate 4    49,449 - 23,449 - 26,000 -
Issue of shares under Managing Director Security Plan 3    1,817 - 862 - 955 -
Employees exercising security options 2     - 824 - 824 - -
Return of capital      - (99,837) - (99,837) - -
Stapling book build     - 233,802 - 53,215 - 180,587
Costs of stapling      - (5,147) - (2,490) - (2,657)
Security purchase plan      - 22,120 - 10,702 - 11,418

End of the Financial Year     368,088 304,000 144,253 114,652 223,835 189,348

1 During the year 172,696 (2005: Nil) Ordinary Securities were issued to employees under the Employee Share Plan which was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 29 October 2004.
2 During the year Nil (2005: 778,493) Ordinary Securities were issued from the exercise of options granted under the Employee Share Option Plan.
3 On 22 December 2005 the Combined Group issued 387,912 ordinary securities to the Managing Director, in accordance with a resolution of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 28 October 2005.
4 On 22 December 2005 the Combined Group raised $49.449m in capital by the issue of 11,583,333 ordinary securities as part of the acquisition of an associate (FKP Mulpha Pty Ltd). 

 

COMBINED GROUP  
NUMBER OF STAPLED SECURITIES

PARENT ENTITY  
NUMBER OF SHARES

PROPERTY TRUST  
NUMBER OF UNITS

 
18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
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Terms and Conditions

Holders of Ordinary Securities are entitled to receive dividends and distributions as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per security at Securityholders’ Meetings.

In the event of winding up of the Parent Entity, Ordinary Securityholders rank equally with all other Securityholders and Unsecured Creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

Refer to Note 28 for further details about the Employee Share Option Plan and Employee Share Plan and options granted and securities issued under these plans and participation arrangements.

19. RETAINED PROFITS
Retained profits at beginning of year     196,605 196,263 (13,983) 20,037 (3,431) (2,191)
Net profit attributable to members of the Combined Group    140,812 88,324 (32,253) 42,455 26,699 10,821
Dividends & distributions recognised during the year     (34,941) (87,982) (12,653) (76,475) (22,287) (12,061)
Retained profits at the end of the year     302,476 196,605 (58,889) (13,983) 981 (3,431)

20. DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS
Details of dividends and distributions proposed or paid by the Combined Group are:

TYPE
CENTS  

PER SECURITY

TOTAL  
AMOUNT  

$’000 DATE OF PAYMENT
FRANKED  
TAX RATE

PERCENTAGE 
FRANKED

 
2006: 
Dividends recognised in the current year: 

Interim 2006 ordinary dividend     6.68 12,654 13 April 2006 30% 70%
Interim 2006 distribution     7.52 14,247 13 April 2006  N/A 0%
Final 2006 distribution     4.21 8,040 13 October 2006  N/A 0%

         34,941 
After the balance date the following dividend was proposed by the Directors. The dividend has not been provided. 

Final 2006 ordinary dividend     10.39 19,869 13 October 2006 30% 80%
         54,810 
 
2005: 
Final 2004 ordinary     8.00 10,650 15 October 2004 30% 100%
Special       25.00 33,279 12 November 2004 30% 100%
Interim 2005 ordinary dividend     8.50 14,961 16 April 2005 30% 100%
Interim 2005 distribution     1.33 2,337 16 April 2005  N/A 0%
Final 2005 ordinary dividend     9.99 17,585 14 October 2005 30% 100%
Final 2005 distribution     5.21 9,170 14 October 2005  N/A 0%
         87,982   

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Dividend Franking Account: 
Balance of the 30% franking credits at the end of the year      4,289 (3,443)

The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for:

(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax; 
(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year-end; 
(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised at the year-end; and 
(d) franking credits that the Entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The impact on the dividend franking account of dividends proposed after balance sheet date  
but not recognised as a liability is to reduce it by $6.812m.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends.

21. MINORITY INTERESTS
Minority Interests in Controlled Entities Comprise: 
Interests in retained profits at the beginning of the year after adjusting for  
minority interests in entities acquired during the year     5,502 3,421
Interests in profit from ordinary activities after income tax     3,914 2,081
Interest in retained profits at the end of the financial year     9,416 5,502
Interest in share capital     13,152 8,434
Total Minority Interests     22,568 13,936

22. COMMITMENTS
Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Expense Commitments: 
Future Operating Lease Commitments not provided for in the Financial Statements & Payable: 

Within one year     1,671 1,755 1,068 961 - -
One year or later & no later than 5 years     534 1,694 214 1,096 - -
Later than 5 years     - - - - - -

        2,205 3,449 1,282 2,057 - -

The above amounts payable arise from lease agreements for office & retail premises accommodation containing options to renew, which have not yet been exercised.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

20. DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000
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Finance Lease & Hire Purchase Payment Commitments: 
Finance Lease & Hire Purchase Commitments are Payable: 

Within one year     51 47 - 10 - -
One year or later & no later than 5 years     105 25 - - - -
Later than 5 years     - - - - - -

Total minimum lease & hire purchase payments     156 72 - 10 - -
 
Less: Future Finance Lease & Hire Purchase Charges Payable: 

Within one year     (8) (3) - - - -
One year or later & no later than 5 years     (15) - - - - -
Later than 5 years     - - - - - -

        133 69 - 10 - -

The Combined Group leases motor vehicles and equipment under finance leases and hire purchase agreements expiring from one to five years. At the end of the lease or agreement the Combined Group has the option to purchase the asset  
at the nominated residual value.

Lease Liabilities Provided for in these Financial Statements: 
Current liability (Note 16)     43 44 - 10 - -
Non-current liability (Note 16)     90 25 - - - -

Total Lease Liabilities     133 69 - 10 - -

Finance Leases
Interest on finance leases is charged at prevailing market rates.  
The weighted average interest rate for all finance leases as at 30 June 2006 is 7.82% (2005: 7.78%).

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Particulars and estimated maximum amounts of contingent liabilities arising in respect of:

Related Corporations: 
The Parent Entity has guaranteed bank loans to entities within the Consolidated Entity   - - 57,787 79,320 - -

Performance Guarantees
The Consolidated Entity has various performance and other guarantees provided to third parties. Refer to Note 16.

Rental Guarantees
The Parent Entity has provided a rental guarantee to the FKP Property Trust for a period of 2 years, in the amount of $4,426,250 per annum, commencing on 14 January 2005 in the event that at the time, the current monies outstanding under  
the Bank of New Zealand Australia finance facility is not equal or less than 50% of the sworn valuation of the properties secured by the facility.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
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Put Options - Syndicates

As part of the syndicate arrangements for the Cleveland and Clayfield retirement villages, members of the syndicates have the right to put their shares in the syndicate to the Consolidated Entity based upon a formula set out in the Trust Deed. 
A number of these options have been exercised by syndicate investors and have been recognised in the Balance Sheet. The net present value of the amounts which would be payable under the put options for the remaining shares if they were 
exercised by the investors of the Cleveland and Clayfield Syndicates at reporting date is as follows:

Cleveland Syndicate     3,176 3,430 - - - -
Clayfield Syndicate     10,288 9,602 - - - -

Call Options - Syndicates

As part of the syndicate arrangements for the Cleveland and Clayfield retirement villages, the Consolidated Entity has a call option over the other shares in the syndicates, exercisable on completion of the villages.  
The net present value of the payments for the remaining shares under each call option if exercised by the Consolidated Entity at reporting date using a new Master Plan Development, are estimated as follows:

Cleveland Syndicate     4,171 3,890 - - - -
Clayfield Syndicate     14,580 13,888 - - - -

24. FINANCE COSTS CAPITALISED
Finance costs have been capitalised during the year as part of the carrying amounts of the following assets: 
Current Inventories: 
Land & Development Properties Held for Resale     5,914 2,604 - - - -

Interest was capitalised at a weighted average rate of 6.41% (2005: 6.24%).

25. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES
A Subsidiary has entered into an unincorporated joint venture known as the Brookvale Strata Joint Venture to develop a site for residential and commercial use. The Subsidiary has an 81% participating interest in the Joint Venture profit  
and is entitled to 81% of its return on the completed project. The Group’s interest in the assets employed in the Joint Venture are included in the Combined Group’s Balance Sheet, in accordance with the accounting policy described  
in Note 1, under the following classifications:
Non-Current Assets: 
Trade & other receivables     5,171 - - - - -
        5,171 - - - - -
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(a) Acquisition of Business

On 23 December 2005 the Combined Group acquired a portfolio of 14 retirement villages from a syndicate of private investors. The villages are situated in South Australia and Queensland. Details of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired  
and goodwill are as follows:
 
Purchase consideration     56,138
Direct costs relating to the acquisition     4,399
Total purchase consideration     60,537
Fair value of net assets acquired     (60,537)
Goodwill     -

On 1 May 2006 the Combined Group acquired a real estate business from private investors. The business is situated in Queensland. Details of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows:
 
Purchase consideration     847
Direct costs relating to the acquisition     -
Total purchase consideration     847
Fair value of net assets acquired     (847)
Goodwill     -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
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 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

The aggregate assets and liabilities acquired from the above acquisitions are as follows:

Cash      927 - - - - -
Fair value of retirement villages     239,274 - - - - -
Fair value of resident obligations     (171,020) 
Inventories     3,018 - - - - -
Interest bearing loans & borrowings     148 - - - - -
Management Rights     808 - - - - 
Property plant & equipment     58 - - - - 
Trade Creditors     (19) - - - - 
Unearned income     (6,771) - - - - 
Deferred tax liabilities     (5,039) - - - - -

        61,384 - - - - -
Outflow of Cash to Acquire Business, net of Cash Acquired: 
Cash consideration     61,384 - - - - -
Less: cash acquired     (927) - - - - -
Outflow of Cash     60,457 - - - - -

 
 

26. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  $’000
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(b) Disposal of Interest in Peregian Springs Golf Holding Limited
During the period the Combined Group disposed of 40.67% of the ordinary shares of Peregian Springs Golf Holding Limited. Details of the disposal are as follows:

Consideration     5,338 - - - - -
Carrying value of investment     (4,760) - - - - -
Selling Costs     (628) - - - - -
Loss on disposal     (50) - - - - -
 
Net assets of interest disposed      - - - - -
Cash      2 - - - - -
Property Plant & Equipment     4,246 - - - - -
Debtors      512 - - - - -

        4,760 - - - - -

(c) Acquisition of Subsidiary Post Balance Date
On 3 July 2006 the Combined Group acquired 100% of Albion Flour Mill Pty Ltd for $7.5m, representing the fair value of land and buildings owned by the company.

27. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
Directors
The names and position held by each person holding a position of Director of the Combined Group during the financial year were:

B Macdonald Chairman (Non-Executive) (previously Non-Executive Director until appointed Chairman on 29 October 2004)

P Brown   Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

R Forrester  Non-Executive Director

P Parker   Non-Executive Director

D Crombie  Non-Executive Director

D Forrester  Non-Executive Director (resigned 28 October 2005)

L McKinnon Non-Executive Director 

SH Lee   Non-Executive Director (appointed 9 February 2006)
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Other Key Management Personnel
The following persons also held authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the Combined Entity:

D Guihot Chief Financial Officer
M Miller  Queensland Development Manager
G Brown  Manager - Retirements (Executive with responsibility for Corporate Services until 21 November 2005)
E Delfabbro Manager - New South Wales
J Smith  Manager – Victoria
S Stewart Group Company Secretary (appointed 29 May 2006)
T Toner  Group Company Secretary (resigned 23 December 2005)
T Russell  General Manager - Investments (resigned 21 November 2005)
S Ponton   Manager – Victoria (resigned 1 April 2005)
C Macdonald General Manager – Retirements (resigned 31 December 2004)

Aggregate of remuneration for Key Management Personnel:
Key Personnel Compensation: 
Short-term employee benefits     5,296,356 3,448,179 5,296,356 3,448,179 - -
Post-employment benefits     388,433 344,568 388,433 344,568 - -
Equity compensation     404,406 200,000 404,406 200,000 - -
Other compensation     51,564 726,803 51,564 726,803 - -
        6,140,759 4,719,550 6,140,759 4,719,550 - -

The Combined Group has taken advantage of the relief provided by ASIC Class Order 06/50 and has transferred the detailed remuneration disclosures to the Directors’ Report. The relevant information can be found in the Remuneration Report on 
Pages 23 to 27 of this Report.

Loans to Key Management Personnel
The details of loans made to Directors of the Combined Group and other key management personnel, including their personally related parties, are set out below:

COMBINED GROUP
BALANCE AT THE  

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR
INTEREST PAID  

& PAYABLE FOR THE YEAR
INTEREST  

NOT CHARGED
BALANCE AT THE  

END OF THE YEAR
NUMBER IN THE COMBINED  

GROUP AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Aggregates for Key Management Personnel:
2006   - - - 1,545,337 1
2005   - - - - -

NAME
BALANCE AT THE  

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR
INTEREST PAID  

& PAYABLE FOR THE YEAR
INTEREST  

NOT CHARGED
BALANCE AT THE  

END OF THE YEAR
NUMBER IN THE COMBINED  

GROUP AT THE END OF THE YEAR

Individuals with Loans above  
$100,000 during the Financial Year:
P Brown   - - - 1,545,337 1

The highest balance of the loan during the period was $1,817,500. Details of the terms and conditions of the loan are included in the Remuneration Report. In 2005, there were no loans to key management personnel.
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Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel
Nil.

Equity Holdings and Transactions Relating to Key Management Personnel

The movement during the reporting period in the number of securities of the Combined Group held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by key management personnel, including their personally-related entities and close family members is as follows:

DIRECTORS HELD AT 1 JULY 2005 PURCHASE
RECEIVED ON  

EXERCISE OF OPTIONS SALES OTHER HELD AT 30 JUNE 2006

B Macdonald 238,237 - - - - 238,237
P Brown  - - - - 387,9121 387,912
R Forrester 7,012,937 - - - - 7,012,937
P Parker  12,741,934 - - - - 12,741,934
D Crombie 98,737 - - - 7,9892 106,726
D Forrester 1,194,445 - - - (1,194,445)3 -
L McKinnon - - - - - -
SH Lee  - - - - - -

1 Issued under Managing Director’s Security Plan.
2 Issued under Distribution Reinvestment Plan.
3 Relevant interest at commencement or cessation of employment.

OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL HELD AT 1 JULY 2005 PURCHASE

RECEIVED ON  
EXERCISE OF OPTIONS SALES OTHER HELD AT 30 JUNE 2006

D Guihot 21,624 32,000 - - 1962 53,820
S Stewart - - - - - -
G Brown  76,453 - - (50,000) 5242 26,977
M Miller  - - - - 5242 524
J Smith   - - - - 1962 196
E Delfabbro - - - - 5242 524
T Toner  111,958 - - (99,672) (12,286)1 -
T Russell  30,000 - - (30,000) - -

1 Relevant interest at commencement or cessation of employment.
2 Issued under Employee Security Plan.
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Employee Security Plan (‘ESP’)

A scheme under which shares may be issued by FKP Limited to employees for no cash consideration was approved 
by a special resolution of Forrester Kurts Properties Ltd made on 28 October 1999 and amended by a resolution of 
the Board made on 28 February 2001 and amended by a special resolution of FKP Limited on 29 October 2004 in 
relation to the stapling of each of the shares in FKP Limited to each of the units in the FKP Property Trust effective from 
12 November 2004. The scheme provides all employees (upon completion of one year’s service) the opportunity to be 
rewarded for their service to the Combined Group by offering them $1,000 worth of FKP stapled securities, at no cost 
to the employee. Employees may elect not to participate in the scheme.

All employees of the Combined Group are entitled to participate in the Employee Security Plan. The Combined Group 
issued 172,696 securities to employees pursuant to the ESP during the financial year ended 30 June 2006 (2005: Nil). 
The securities were issued in two tranches of 101,352 securities on 1 August 2005 at a market value of $3.05 and 
71,344 securities on 4 April 2006 at a market value of $5.10. The total amount received from employees was Nil (2005: Nil).

Whilst there are no stipulated performance hurdles which must be achieved by an employee to be offered securities, 
the Board has absolute discretion in determining the conditions for participation in the scheme. The scheme has been 
established as an important incentive to all employees to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives and to more closely 
align their own interests with those of other securityholders by owing securities in the Group.

Employees are restricted from dealing with stapled securities issued to them pursuant to the ESP for a period which 
expires on the earlier of their termination of employment with the Group or three years from the date of issue.

Directors are not eligible to participate in the ESP.

Employee Option Plan (‘EOP’)

The EOP was established with the approval of a special resolution of FKP Limited made on 28 October 1999 and 
amended with the special resolution of FKP Limited made on 29 October 2004 in relation to the stapling of each of the 
shares of FKP Limited to each of the units in FKP Property Trust effective from 12 November 2004. The EOP provides 
all employees (upon completion of two year’s service) the opportunity to be rewarded for their service to the Group 
by offering them options to buy FKP stapled securities. The options may be exercised at anytime during the three year 
period which commences two years after the issue of the option. The exercise price is notified when the offer is made. 
The options are issued for nil consideration, cannot be transferred and will not be quoted on the ASX.

The exercise price and any other terms and conditions of the option are determined at the discretion of the Board. 
Whilst there are no stipulated performance hurdles which must be achieved by an employee to be offered options 
pursuant to the plan, the Board has absolute discretion in determining the conditions for participation in the plan.  
The plan has been established as an important incentive to employees to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives  
and to more closely align their own interests with those of other securityholders by owning securities in the Group.

Options are granted under the plan for no consideration.

Directors may participate in the EOP, however, no Director has been offered options pursuant to the EOP.

No options were issued to employees pursuant to the EOP during the financial year ended 30 June 2006 (2005: Nil).

There are no voting or dividend rights attached to the options over unissued ordinary securities. Voting rights will be 
attached to the unissued ordinary securities when the options have been exercised.

There were no unissued ordinary securities of the Parent Entity under option at 30 June 2006 (2005: Nil).

No amount is due and receivable from holders of options as at 30 June 2006. The market value of shares under these 
options at 30 June 2006 was Nil (2005: Nil). During the year ended 30 June 2006, no options expired (2005: Nil).

Security Appreciation Rights Plan (‘SARP’)

The SARP was established during the last financial year. The SARP is available to employees only. Eligibility to participate 
in the SARP is determined by the Board based on an employee’s ability to influence the future growth and success of the 
Combined Group. The SARP is intended to provide an incentive to eligible employees to drive continuing improvement 
in the Combined Group’s performance and to more closely align the eligible employee’s rewards with the long-term 
performance of the Combined Group and the performance achieved for securityholders.

During the financial year 850,000 Security Appreciation Rights (‘SAR’) were issued to a number of eligible employees. 
Each SAR was issued with effect from 1 July 2005 at a market value of $2.82. Each SAR entitles the holder to a cash 
payment equal to the increase in the market value of a stapled security over the three year period ending on 30 June 
2008, subject to the Combined Group meeting performance criteria specified by the Board.

The performance criteria for SAR issued during the financial year is the Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’) of the Combined 
Group over the three year period ending 30 June 2008 compared with the TSR of a comparator group of companies 
over the same period.

All of an employee’s SAR will vest if the Combined Group’s TSR is at least equal to the TSR of the company which is at 
the 75th percentile of the comparator group of companies, ranked according to their TSR performance. 50% of the SAR 
will vest if the Combined Group’s TSR is at least equal to the TSR of the company which is at the 50.1 percentile of the 
comparator group of companies.

SAR that do not vest will lapse. If an eligible employee ceases employment prior to 30 June 2008 other than for reasons 
of total and permanent disability, redundancy or death, the employee’s SAR will lapse.
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Parent Entity
FKP Limited is the Parent Entity within the Combined Group.

Subsidiaries
Interest in subsidiaries is set out in Note 31.

Key Management Personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 27.

Loans to Parent Entity from FKP Property Trust
FKP Funds management as the responsible entity for the FKP Property Trust has entered into a loan agreement with the Parent Entity to make available a $500 million loan facility. Interest is payable quarterly at the rate of the prevailing 90 day bank bill 
swap reference rate plus a margin of 3.5%. Details of movements in the loan are as follows:
Beginning of the year     - - 130,694 - - -
Loans advanced     - - 58,250 178,999 - -
Loan repayments made     - - (70,277) (56,125) - -
Interest charged     - - 11,752 7,820 - -
End of year      - - 130,419 130,694 - -

Loans from the FKP Property Trust to Entities within the Combined Group
FKP Funds management as the responsible entity for the FKP Property Trust has entered into a loan agreement with the Parent Entity to make available a $500m loan facility. Interest is payable quarterly at the rate of the prevailing 90 day bank bill swap 
reference rate plus a margin of 3.5%. Details of movements in the loan are as follows:

Beginning of the year     - - - - 130,694 -
Loans advanced     - - - - 58,250 178,999
Loan repayments made     - - - - (70,277) (56,125)
Interest charged     - - - - 11,752 7,820
End of year      - - - - 130,419 130,694

Loans from Associates
The Parent Entity has borrowed $60 million from the equity accounted associate Mulpha FKP Pty Ltd. The interest rate is based on the Westpac base rate plus 60 basis points. Details of movements in the loan are as follows:

Beginning of the year     - - - - - -
Loans advanced     60,000 - 60,000 - - -
Loan repayments made     (1,894) - (1,894) - - -
Interest charged     1,894 - 1,894 - - -
End of year      60,000 - 60,000 - - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
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Loans to Associates
The Parent Entity has a loan to Retirement Villages New Zealand Limited, a subsidiary of the equity accounted Associated Entity, Retirement Villages Group, of $39.663m. The interest rate applicable to the receivable is 10%.  
The facility expires in September 2055.

Beginning of the year     - - - - - -
Loans advanced     44,807 - 44,807 - - -
Loan repayments made     (1,532) - (1,532) - - -
Interest charged     2,366 - 2,366 - - -
Foreign exchange loss      (5,978) - (5,978) - - -
End of year      39,663 - 39,663 - - -

The Combined Group has a loan to the equity accounted Associated Entity Carrum downs Joint Venture Pty Ltd of $3.658m. Interest is payable quarterly at the rate of the prevailing 90 day bank bill swap reference rate plus a margin of 2.0%.  
The loan is repayable 18 months from the initial draw down. Details of movements in the loan are as follows:

Beginning of the year     - - - - - -
Loans advanced     3,575 - - - - -
Interest charged     83 - - - - -
End of year      3,658 - - - - -

The Combined Group has a loan to the equity accounted Associated Entity Formica Pty Ltd of $11.576m. The interest rate applicable to the receivable is 7.75%. The facility expires on project completion. Details of movements in the loan are as follows:

Beginning of the year     - - - - - -
Loans advanced     11,536 - - - - -
Interest charged     40 - - - - -
End of year      11,576 - - - - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
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Other Transactions with Related Parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Sales Revenue: 
Entities within the Combined Group     19,459 - - - - -
Associates      5,500 - - - - -
Cost of Sales: 
Entities within the Combined Group     19,459 - - - - -
Rendering of Services: 
Associates      3,490 2,231 - - - -
Other Revenue: 
Interest received:
Entities within the Combined Group     - - 6,294 - 11,752 8,080
Associates      2,489 - 2,366 - - -
Dividend revenue:
Wholly owned subsidiaries     - - 269 80,500 - -
Associates      - - 3,746 - - -
Management fees received:
Wholly owned subsidiaries     - - 101 280 - -
Associates      250 - 250 - - -
Finance fees received:
Associates      3,164 - 3,164 - - -

Administration Expenses: 
Consultancy fees paid:
Director related entity     - 265 - 265 - -
Loan forgiveness:
Forgiveness of Managing Director Loan     243 - 243 - - -
Rent Paid 
Associate       120 - 120 - - -
Management fees paid: 
Responsible entity     - - - - 270 200
Wholly owned subsidiaries     - - 196 478 - -
Finance Costs: 
Interest paid:
Entities within the Combined Group     - - 11,752 7,821 - -
Associates      1,894 - 1,894 - - -

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
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The Combined Group engages Carlo Monte Pty Ltd, a company of which Mr D Forrester is a Director, on a retained basis for construction and development consultancy services. The fee payable for the year ended 30 June 2006 was $265,843.

Sale of Investment Property to Associates

During the year the FKP Property Trust disposed of its Queen Street Investment Property to the FKP Core Plus Fund for $51.5m.

Syndicate Put and Call Options

The Syndicate Deeds for the Cleveland and Clayfield Syndicates contain put and call options under which each investor has the right to require the Combined Group to buy, and the Combined Group has the right to require each investor to sell any share  
or shares upon specified terms. The put option in favour of each investor is exercisable by the investor at any time or times in respect of any shares held by it. The price payable by the Combined Group is a sum equal to the amount paid by the investor  
for the share or shares in question less any distributions previously made thereon plus interest calculated at 5% per year (calculated on a daily basis and compounded at the end of June and December in each year) on the amount from time to time 
paid by the investor thereon less any distributions previously made thereon. The Combined Group is not obliged to complete and make payment for more than one share (taking all investors together) in any single calendar month for each syndicate.

The call options in favour of the Combined Group are only exercisable after the sale of new leases following completion of the development at a syndicate village. The option can only be exercised simultaneously in respect of all remaining shares and 
all remaining investors (but not the Combined Group itself) in each syndicate and the price payable by the Combined Group is calculated as 27.5% of the aggregate standard lease entry price paid by residents at the date of the option exercise less 
the aggregate price paid by residents (to secured capital growth in the value of their leases and/ or pre-pay the deferred payments) in respect of leases current at the date of option exercise. The option price payable by the Combined Group will be 
adjusted for GST if applicable.

Outstanding Balances with Related Parties
The following balances are also outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:

Current Receivables 
Due from subsidiaries     - - 356,779 210,753 - -
Due from associates (non-interest bearing)     6,326 4,986 (67) - 638 -
 
Non-Current Receivables 
Due from Managing Director     1,789 - 1,789 - - -
Less provision for loan forgiveness     (243) - (243) - - -
Net amount due from Managing Director     1,546 - 1,546 - - -
 
Due from Joint Venture     5,171 - - - - -
 
Current Payable 
Deferred revenue from associates     1,735 - 1,735 - - -
Other due to associates     2,495 - 2,495 - - -

There are no other transactions with related parties other than disclosed above.
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Statutory Audit 
Auditors of the Group: 

Audit & review of Financial Reports (PKF Chartered Accountants)    276,590 178,635 276,590 168,635 - 10,000
Other Auditors: 

Audit & review of Forest Place Group Limited (KPMG Australia)    24,371 67,470 - - - -
        300,961 246,105 276,590 166,635 - 10,000
Non-Audit Services 
PKF Chartered Accountants: 
Agreed upon procedures reports     5,800 7,955 5,800 7,955 - -
Due diligence and costs associated with preparation of Assurance Report    3,500 7,500 3,500 7,500 - -
Review of accounting treatment of investment acquisitions    52,150 - 52,150 - - 
Taxation compliance services     4,000 - 4,000 - - -
PKF Investment Services Pty Ltd: 
Due diligence services     - 82,000 - 82,000 - -
Other Auditors: 
Tax compliance     31,092 2,500 - - - 2,500
        96,542 99,955 65,450 97,455 - 2,500

31. CONTROLLED ENTITIES
All of the following entities are incorporated / formed in Australia with the exception of FKP Real Estate NZ Pty Ltd which is incorporated in New Zealand. 

The Parent Entity is FKP Limited. 

The FKP Property Trust (‘the Trust’) is stapled to the shares of the Parent Entity.

Controlled Entities:
ARH Leisure Services Pty Ltd Data Plan Unit Trust (Ordinary Units) FKP Marketing Services Pty Ltd Forest Place Unit Trust 2

Australian Retirement Homes (No. 2) Pty Ltd Evo-Con Pty Ltd FKP Queen Street Pty Ltd Forrester Parking Holding Trust 1

Australian Retirement Homes Limited Esplanade Unit Trust (Ordinary Units) 1 FKP Real Estate Pty Ltd Great Sandy Straits Marina Pty Ltd
Australian Retirement Homes (Sales & Marketing) Pty Ltd Extra Care Services Pty Ltd FKP Real Estate NZ Pty Ltd GSSM Terminal Pty Ltd
Forest Place Clayfield Pty Ltd 2 FKP Ann Street Pty Ltd FKP Real Estate (NSW) Pty Ltd Home Finance Pty Ltd
Aust-Wide Mini Storage Pty Ltd FKP Commercial Developments Pty Ltd FKP Residential Developments Pty Ltd Lindsay Gardens Management Pty Ltd
B/P Asset Pty Ltd FKP Commercial Property Trust FKP Retirement Village Trust No. 1 Ntonio Pty Ltd
B/P Land Pty Ltd FKP Constructions Pty Ltd FP Asset Holdings Pty Ltd 2 Omega Group Pty Ltd
B/P Sub Land Pty Ltd FKP Developments Pty Ltd FP Asset Holdings (No. 2) Pty Ltd 2 Peregian Springs Golf Holdings Limited3

Carmist Pty Ltd FKP Funds Management Limited FP Investments Pty Ltd Starwisp Pty Ltd
Cleveland Gardens Pty Ltd FKP Golden Key Pty Ltd Forest Place Pty Ltd 2 Sunshine Lifestyle Resorts Pty Ltd
Cloudland Development Trust (Ordinary Units) FKP Group Superannuation Pty Ltd Forest Place Group Limited 2 Tasmanian Retirement Living Management Pty Ltd
Cloudland Village Pty Ltd FKP Holdings Pty Ltd Forest Place Management Ltd 2 The Domain Retirement Country Club Pty Ltd

Except where shown, the investments in Controlled Entities are held in ordinary shares and are wholly-owned.

1 No equity held in this Entity but all the beneficial rights are attributable to the Group.
2 Represents Entities in the Forest Place Group owned 85% by the Parent Entity.
3 Owned 60% by the Parent Entity.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
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(a) Reconciliation of Cash
For the purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash at the end of the year as shown in the  
Statements of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheets as follows:

Cash on hand & at bank     5,134 29,124 596 21,312 706 4,869

(b) Financing Facilities Available
Financing facilities available are detailed in Note 16 ‘Interest Bearing Liabilities’.

(c) Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Operating Profit after Income Tax
Operating profit after income tax     144,726 90,405 (32,253) 42,455 26,699 10,821
Depreciation     1,087 807 289 265 - -
Amortisation - leased assets     553 457 285 251 - -
Amortisation - intangibles     564 213 - - - 403
Share of profits of associates     (81,561) (1,170) - - (430) -
Change in fair value of resident loans     23,259 29,894 - - - -
Change in fair value of investment properties     (93,671) (91,800) - - (9,537) 2,669
Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets    (6) - - - - -
Write down in value of investments     - (573) - (573) - -
Losses / (gains) on sale of investments     50 - 50 - - -
Increase / (decrease) in income taxes payable     (1,353) (2,771) (1,343) 4,890 - -
Increase / (decrease) in provision for deferred income tax    32,924 17,065 (3,297) 1,629 - -
Increase / (decrease) in interest payable     (5,493) (211) - - - -
Decrease / (increase) in future income tax benefit     10,856 3,606 - - - -
Decrease / (increase) in provision for doubtful debts     (758) 174 - - - (5)
Losses / (gains) on sale of plant & equipment     551 (1,045) 101 - - -
Changes in assets & liabilities net of effects of purchase & disposal of controlled entities 
Decrease / (increase) in receivables: 

Trade receivables     (62,728) (20,831) (5,855) 3,833 (1,423) (1,929)
Non-trade – other     (52,973) 304 (150,110) (35,664) (731) (219)

Decrease / (increase) in inventories     (56,624) (2,014) 299 213 (18,560) (1,045)
Decrease / (increase) in other assets     (4,943) (3,005) - 115 1,077 -
Increase / (decrease) in other non current receivables    (628) - (3,571) - - -
Increase / (decrease) in accounts payable:       

Payables     (24,307) 10,024 8,899 3,418 72 (98)
Unearned income     (1,415) 254 - - (77) -

Increase / (decrease) in other accruals     (19) (1,347) - - 447 (3,033)
Increase / (Decrease) in other provisions: 

Employee entitlements     211 (263) 170 (95) - -
Other     923 296 (185) 23 - -

Shares issued to employees     673 - 287 - 386 -
GST clearing     (2,918) 5,438 (1,688) 4,931 (1,090) -
Net Cash Provided / (Used) in Operating Activities    (173,020) 33,907 (187,922) 25,691 (3,167) 7,564

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
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(d) Acquisition of Controlled Entities
During the financial year the Combined Group acquired a portfolio of 14 retirement villages from a syndicate of private investors as well as the assets and liabilities of a real estate business on the Sunshine Coast. Details of the acquisitions in 
aggregate are as follows:

Consideration     61,425 - 65 - - -
Cash acquired     (927) - - - - -
Cash Outflow     60,498 - 65 - - -
Fair Value of Net Assets of Entity Acquired: 
Cash      927 - - - - -
Other financial assets     - - 24 - - -
Inventories     3,018 - - - - -
Other assets     148 - - - - -
Rights      808 - - - - -
Property, plant & equipment     58 - - - - -
Investment properties     239,274 - - - - -
Accounts payable     (6,790) - - - - -
Resident obligations     (171,020) - - - - -
Deferred tax liability     (5,039) - - - - -
Minority interest     41 - 41 - - -

        61,425 - 65 - - -

(e) Non-Cash Financing and Investment Activities

During this year the Parent Entity and Combined Group acquired property, plant and equipment under finance lease and hire purchase agreements with an aggregated fair value of $0.100m for the Combined Group and nil for the Parent Entity.

During the year the Combined Group acquired an interest in Mulpha FKP Pty Ltd for a total consideration of $118.782m. Of this consideration $49.994m was paid through the issue of securities in the Combined Group.

During the year the Combined Group reinvested $12.149m via a Dividend Reinvestment Plan.

During the year the Combined Group loaned the Managing Director $1.817m for purchase of securities.

The above transactions have not been reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows.

(f) Restrictions on Amount of Cash
Amounts of cash not available to the Combined Group for use are $2,797,384 (2005: $1,511,014)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 Interest Rates Risk and Credit Risk Exposures

The Combined Group manages its exposure to interest rate through a formal set of policies and procedures approved by the Board of Directors.

The integral part of the Entities’ risk management practices may involve the use of interest rate swaps. There have been no such transactions during the year.

 COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST
 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

32. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)  $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000



Notes To The Financial Statements For The Year Ended 30 June 2006 continued

74 FKP 2006 ANNUAL REPORT

The Combined Group does not engage in any significant transactions which are speculative in nature.

(a) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
Exposures to interest rate risks on financial assets and liabilities are summarised as follows:

FIXED INTEREST RATE MATURING

NOTE

WEIGHTED AVERAGE 
INTEREST RATE 

 %

NON INTEREST 
BEARING  

$’000

1 YEAR  
OR LESS  

$’000

OVER 1  
TO 5 YEARS  

$’000

MORE THAN  
5 YEARS  

$’000

FLOATING  
INTEREST RATE  

$’000
TOTAL  

$’000

2006 
Financial Assets: 
Cash assets 6 3.7 819 - - - 4,315 5,134
Receivables 7 4.7 80,493 39,663 - - 48,678 168,834
Other financial assets 8 0.0 3,469 - - - - 3,469
Syndicate rights  0.0 1,360 - - - - 1,360
Total Financial Assets   86,141 39,663 - - 52,993 178,797

Financial Liabilities: 
Payables  15 0.0 58,769 - - - - 58,769
Resident obligations  0.0 801,395 - - - - 801,395
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16 6.2 - 43 90 - 497,156 497,289
Syndicate put options  5.0 - 1,131 754 - - 1,885
Total Financial Liabilities   860,164 1,174 844 - 497,156 1,359,338
Net Financial Assets (Liabilities)   (774,023) 38,489 (844) - (444,163) (1,180,541)

2005 
Financial Assets: 
Cash assets 6 5.3 20 - - - 29,104 29,124
Receivables 7 0.3 44,710 2,406 - - 1,900 49,016
Other financial assets 8 0.0 3,465 - - - - 3,465
Syndicate rights   2,284 - - - - 2,284
Total Financial Assets   50,479 2,406 - - 31,004 83,889

Financial Liabilities: 
Payables  15 0.0 82,253 - - - - 82,253
Resident obligations  0.0 607,116 - - - - 607,116
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16 6.3 - 44 25 - 126,175 126,244
Syndicate put options  5.0 - 1,346 1,795 - - 3,141
Total Financial Liabilities   689,369 1,390 1,820 - 126,175 818,754
Net Financial Assets (Liabilities)   (638,890) 1,016 (1,820) - (95,171) (734,865)

(b) Credit Risk Exposure
The maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is represented by the carrying amounts of assets recognised in the balance sheet net of any provisions for losses.

(c) Concentrations of Credit Risk
There are no concentrations of credit risk with any specific industry segments from which trade accounts receivable are due.

 
 

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)



FKP 2006 ANNUAL REPORT 75

Notes To The Financial Statements For The Year Ended 30 June 2006 continued

Business Segments

The Combined Group comprises the following main business segments, based on the group’s management reporting system:

• Land Subdivision - acquisition of land for development and sale ranging from small infill projects to master planned residential communities. 
• Property Development - development and construction of residential commercial, retail, retirement villages and industrial property. 
• Retirement - management of retirement villages. 
• Investment and Funds Management - investment and management of income producing properties and managed investment schemes.

Geographical Segments
The Combined Group operates only in Australia.

LAND  
SUBDIVISION 

2006 
$’000

PROPERTY  
DEVELOPMENT 

2006 
$’000

RETIREMENT 
2006 
$’000

INVESTMENTS & FUNDS 
MANAGEMENT 

2006 
$’000

OTHER 
2006 
$’000

ELIMINATIONS 
2006 
$’000

COMBINED GROUP 
2006 
$’000

Revenue: 
Revenue outside the Combined Group   53,071 184,583 47,410 13,785 3,744 - 302,593
Inter-segment revenue   - 19,459 - - - (19,459) -
Total Segment Revenue   53,071 204,042 47,410 13,785 3,744 (19,459) 302,593
Other unallocated revenue         4,550
Revenue from Ordinary Activities         307,143

Result: 
Segment Result   24,346 34,633 81,202 18,560 (13,127) - 145,614
Share of net profit of equity accounted investments         81,561
Unallocated expenses         (28,681)
Profit from ordinary activities before income tax         198,494
Income tax expense         (53,768)

Net Profit:          144,726
Depreciation & amortisation   740 723 117 - 624 - 2,204
Non-cash expenses other than depreciation & amortisation 
Individually Significant Items: 

Change in fair value of resident obligations   - - (23,259) - - - (23,259)
Write-down of inventory   - (1,160) - - - - (1,160)
Impairment loss on equity accounted investment   - - - - - - (10,282)

Assets: 
Segment Assets   99,538 293,553 1,365,236 139,903 52,443 - 1,950,673
Equity accounted investments         308,989
Unallocated corporate assets         -
Consolidated Total Assets         2,259,662

Liabilities: 
Segment liabilities   5,196 22,569 855,469 8,320 22,588 - 914,142
Unallocated corporate liabilities         652,388

Consolidated Total Liabilities         1,566,530
Acquisitions of Non-Current Assets   502 540 244,156 34,290 1,119 - 280,607
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Revenue: 
Revenue outside the Combined Group 66,531 175,293 40,914 20,101 139 - 302,978
Inter-segment revenue - - - - - - -
Total Segment Revenue 66,531 175,293 40,914 20,101 139 - 302,978
Other unallocated revenue       1,921
Revenue from Ordinary Activities       304,899
Result: 
Segment Result 38,206 26,035 67,526 8,892 (9,938) - 130,721
Share of net profit of equity accounted investments       1,170
Unallocated expenses       (8,919)
Profit from ordinary activities before income tax       122,972
Income tax expense       (32,567)
Net Profit:       - 90,405
Depreciation & amortisation 278 623 23 6 547  1,477
Non-cash expenses other than depreciation & amortisation 
Individually Significant Items: 

Change in fair value of resident obligations - - (29,894) - - - (29,894)
Write-down of investment in property syndicates - - (573) - - - (573)

Assets: 
Segment assets 90,676 193,103 1,025,610 149,491 24,361 - 1,483,241
Equity accounted investments       11,526
Unallocated corporate assets       -
Consolidated Total Assets       1,494,767
Liabilities: 
Segment liabilities 4,676 49,881 650,025 10,016 13,769 - 728,367
Unallocated corporate liabilities       251,859
Consolidated Total Liabilities       980,226
Acquisitions of Non-Current Assets 982 1,013 7,604 45,583 517 - 55,699

34. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
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2005 
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PROPERTY  
DEVELOPMENT 

2005 
$’000

RETIREMENT 
2005 
$’000

INVESTMENTS & FUNDS 
MANAGEMENT 

2005 
$’000

OTHER 
2005 
$’000

ELIMINATIONS 
2005 
$’000

COMBINED GROUP 
2005 
$’000
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Conditional Adjustment Payment Segmentation
The financial requirements of the Conditional Adjustment Payment (CAP) funding allows the financial reports for approved aged care facilities to be provided at a service level provided that the eligible income, expenditure, assets and liabilities can be 
readily identifiable. Accordingly the segmented Retirements information has been reconciled to reflect the allocation of aged care facilities information within the segment. The details are as follows:

MINKARA  
NURSING HOME

2006 
$’000

MINGARRA  
HOSTEL

2006 
$’000

DURACK  
NURSING HOME

2006 
$’000

VILLAGE  
OPERATIONS

2006 
$’000

CONSOLIDATED 
RETIREMENTS

2006 
$’000

Revenue: 
Revenue outside the Combined Group 3,152 1,903 1,554 40,801 47,410
Inter-segment revenue - - - - -
Total Segment Revenue 3,152 1,903 1,554 40,801 47,410
Result: 
Segment Result 422 143 111 80,526 81,202
Depreciation & amortisation - - 36 81 117
Assets: 
Segment assets 3,211 1,539 955 1,359,531 1,365,236
Liabilities: 
Segment liabilities 348 1,268 127 853,726 855,469
Acquisitions of Non-Current Assets - - - 244,156 244,156

MINKARA  
NURSING HOME

2005 
$’000

MINGARRA  
HOSTEL

2005 
$’000

DURACK  
NURSING HOME

2005 
$’000

VILLAGE  
OPERATIONS

2005 
$’000

CONSOLIDATED 
RETIREMENTS

2005 
$’000

Revenue: 
Revenue outside the Combined Group 3,098 1,850 1,493 34,473 40,914
Inter-segment revenue - - - - -
Total Segment Revenue 3,098 1,850 1,493 34,473 40,914
Result: 
Segment Result 241 143 113 66,759 67,256
Depreciation & amortisation - - 23 - 23
Assets: 
Segment assets 2,943 1,493 970 1,020,204 1,025,610
Liabilities: 
Segment liabilities 502 1,364 249 647,910 650,025
Acquisitions of Non-Current Assets - - 3 7,601 7,604

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Other than as disclosed in this Report, no matter or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year and up until the date of this Report which significantly affect or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent years.

34. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
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(1) Reconciliation of Equity Reported Under Previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP) to Equity Under Australian Equivalents to IFRS (AIFRS)
 At the Date of Transition to AIFRS: 1 July 2004

REFERENCE 

COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST

PREVIOUS  
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

PREVIOUS  
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

PREVIOUS  
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

Current Assets
Cash & cash equivalents 22,738 - 22,738 16,433 - 16,433 910 - 910
Trade & other receivables (e)(g)(i) 126,012 (104,114) 21,898 253,150 (17,640) 235,510 46 766 812
Inventories (b)(d) 84,150 (14,629) 69,521 511 - 511 - - -
Other 10,658 - 10,658 1,193 - 1,193 320 - 320
Total Current Assets 243,558 (118,743) 124,815 271,287 (17,640) 253,647 1,276 766 2,042

Non-Current Assets
Trade & other receivables (e) 34,765 (28,991) 5,774 - - - 239 - 239
Other financial assets 3,465 - 3,465 61,749 - 61,749 - - -
Inventories (g) 68,346 74,208 142,554 - - - - - -
Investment property (b)(d)(h)(i) 94,216 904,989 999,205 - - - 94,216 (2,957) 91,259
Property, plant & equipment (b) 74,085 (55,389) 18,696 1,283 - 1,283 - - -
Equity accounted investments (m) 7,574 855 8,429 3,054 - 3,054 - - -
Intangible assets (k) 8,116 76 8,192 - - - - - -
Other 4,301 - 4,301 - - - - - -
Total Current Assets 294,868 895,748 1,190,616 66,086 - 66,086 94,455 (2,957) 91,498
Total Assets 538,426 777,005 1,315,431 337,373 (17,640) 319,733 95,731 (2,191) 93,540

Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables (e) 99,623 26,115 125,738 10,315 - 10,315 64,963 - 64,963
Interest bearing loans & borrowings 10,439 - 10,439 7 - 7 10,256 - 10,256
Resident loans (b) - 576,713 576,713 - - - - - -
Current tax liabilities 7,670 - 7,670 - - - - - -
Provisions 2,994 - 2,994 889 - 889 - - -
Total Current Liabilities 120,726 602,828 723,554 11,211 - 11,211 75,219 - 75,219

Non-Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables (e) 18,906 (6,573) 12,333 32,636 - 32,636 - - -
Interest bearing loans & borrowings 136,629 - 136,629 104,218 - 104,218 20,512 - 20,512
Deferred tax liabilities (j) 12,988 69,075 82,063 (669) 39 (630) - - -
Provisions 311 - 311 23 - 23 - - -
Total Non-Current Liabilities 168,834 62,502 231,336 136,208 39 136,247 20,512 - 20,512
Total Liabilities 289,560 665,330 954,890 147,419 39 147,458 95,731 - 95,731
Net Assets 248,866 111,675 360,541 189,954 (17,679) 172,275 - (2,191) (2,191)

Equity
Contributed equity 152,238 - 152,238 152,238 - 152,238 - - -
Retained profits 90,212 108,242 198,454 37,716 (17,679) 20,037 - (2,191) (2,191)
Total Equity Interests 242,450 108,242 350,692 189,954 (17,679) 172,275 - (2,191) (2,191)

Minority Interest
FKP Property Trust (a) - (2,191) (2,191) - - - - - -
Minority interests 6,416 5,624 12,040 - - - - - -
Total Equity 248,866 111,675 360,541 189,954 (17,679) 172,275 - (2,191) (2,191)
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(2)  Reconciliation of Equity Reported Under Previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP) to Equity Under Australian Equivalents to IFRS (AIFRS) (continued)
 At the Date of Transition to AIFRS: 30 June 2005

REFERENCE 

COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST

PREVIOUS 
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

PREVIOUS 
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

PREVIOUS 
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

Current Assets:
Cash & cash equivalents 29,124 - 29,124 21,312 - 21,312 4,869 - 4,869
Trade & other receivables (e)(g)(i) 112,641 (69,317) 43,324 231,958 (21,142) 210,816 15,720 2,195 17,915
Inventories (b)(d) 103,201 (22,903) 80,298 - - - - - -
Other 13,205 - 13,205 1,377 - 1,377 539 - 539
Total Current Assets 258,171 (92,220) 165,951 254,647 (21,142) 233,505 21,128 2,195 23,323

Non-Current Assets:
Trade & other receivables (e) 39,551 (33,859) 5,692 - - - 116,294 - 116,294
Other financial assets 3,465 - 3,465 61,893 - 61,893 - - -
Inventories (g) 92,677 41,114 133,791 - - - - - -
Investment property (b)(d)(h)(i) 140,192 1,004,925 1,145,117 - - - 140,192 (5,626) 134,566
Property, plant & equipment (b) 78,982 (62,627) 16,355 1,328 - 1,328 - - -
Equity accounted investments (m) 8,974 2,552 11,526 3,627 - 3,627 - - -
Intangible assets (k) 8,094 227 8,321 - - - - - -
Other 4,549 - 4,549 - - - 1,064 - 1,064
Total Non-Current Assets 376,484 952,332 1,328,816 66,848 - 66,848 257,550 (5,626) 251,924
Total Assets 634,655 860,112 1,494,767 321,495 (21,142) 300,353 278,678 (3,431) 275,247

Current Liabilities:
Trade & other payables (e) 71,439 27,582 99,021 18,688 - 18,688 839 - 839
Interest bearing loans & borrowings 44 - 44 15,010 - 15,010 - - -
Resident loans (b) - 607,116 607,116 - - - - - -
Current tax liabilities 4,899 - 4,899 4,890 - 4,890 - - -
Provisions 29,413 - 29,413 18,363 - 18,363 9,171 - 9,171
Total Current Liabilities 105,795 634,698 740,493 56,951 - 56,951 10,010 - 10,010

Non-Current Liabilities:
Trade & other payables (e) 17,354 (6,939) 10,415 - - - - - -
Interest bearing loans & borrowings 126,200 - 126,200 143,694 - 143,694 79,320 - 79,320
Deferred tax liabilities (j) 16,680 86,054 102,734 16,680 (17,679) (999) - - -
Provisions 384 - 384 38 - 38 - - -
Total Non-Current Liabilities 160,618 79,115 239,733 160,412 (17,679) 142,733 79,320 - 79,320
Total Liabilities 266,413 713,813 980,226 217,363 (17,679) 199,684 89,330 - 89,330
Net Assets 368,242 146,299 514,541 104,132 (3,463) 100,669 189,348 (3,431) 185,917

Equity:
Contributed equity 304,000 (189,348) 114,652 114,652 - 114,652 189,348 - 189,348
Retained profits 57,166 142,870 200,036 (10,520) (3,463) (13,983) - (3,431) (3,431)
Total Equity Interests 361,166 (46,478) 314,688 104,132 (3,463) 100,669 189,348 (3,431) 185,917

Minority Interest:
FKP Property Trust (a) - 185,917 185,917 - - - - - -
Minority interests 7,076 6,860 13,936 - - - - - -
Total Equity 368,242 146,299 514,541 104,132 (3,463) 100,669 189,348 (3,431) 185,917
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(3) Reconciliation of Profit Reported Under Previous AGAAP to Equity Under Australian Equivalents to IFRS (AIFRS)
 Reconciliation of Profit for the Year Ended 30 June 2005

REFERENCE 

COMBINED GROUP PARENT ENTITY PROPERTY TRUST

PREVIOUS  
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

PREVIOUS  
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

PREVIOUS  
AGAAP 

$’000

EFFECT OF 
TRANSITION 

TO AIFRS 
$’000

AIFRS 
$’000

Sale of goods 244,261 8,429 252,690 - - - - - -
Cost of sales (180,702) (12,917) (193,619) - - - - - -
Gross profit / (loss) (c)(g) 63,559 (4,488) 59,071 - - - - - -
Revenue from rendering services (b)(h) 55,419 (8,141) 47,278 120 - 120 12,450 1,429 13,879
Other income (f) 7,468 (2,537) 4,931 85,722 - 85,722 8,080 - 8,080
Change in fair value  
of investment properties (b)(c)(h) - 91,800 91,800 - - - - (2,669) (2,669)
Change in faire value of resident loans (b) - (29,894) (29,894) - - - - - -

Employee expenses (24,717) - (24,717) (10,671) - (10,671) - - -
Marketing expenses (3,478) - (3,478) - - - - - -
Occupancy expenses (2,169) - (2,169) (538) - (538) - - -
Administration expenses (f) (12,814) 1,697 (11,117) (3,938) - (3,938) - - -
Other expenses (k) (2,501) 1,517 (984) (3,448) - (3,448) (3,576) - (3,576)
Finance costs (8,919) - (8,919) (10,143) - (10,143) (4,893) - (4,893)
Share of net profits of associates 
accounted for using the equity method (m) (527) 1,697 1,170 - - - - - -
Profit from Continuing Operations 
before Income Tax Expense 71,321 51,651 122,972 57,104 - 57,104 12,061 (1,240) 10,821
Income tax expense  
relating to ordinary activities (j) (15,581) (16,986) (32,567) (28,865) 14,216 (14,649) - - -
Profit from Continuing Operations 
after Income Tax Expense 55,740 34,665 90,405 28,239 14,216 42,455 12,061 (1,240) 10,821
Profit attributable to minority interests (804) (1,277) (2,081) - - - - - -
Profit Attributable  
to the Combined Group 54,936 33,388 88,324 28,239 14,216 42,455 12,061 (1,240) 10,821
Profit attributable to members of the 
FKP Property Trust (12,061) 1,240 (10,821) - - - (12,061) 1,240 (10,821)
Profit Attributable  
to Members of FKP Limited 42,875 34,628 77,503 28,239 14,216 42,455 - - -
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(4) Reconciliation of Equity Reported Under Previous AGAAP to Retained Earnings Under Australian Equivalents to IFRS (AIFRS)
Balance under AGAAP at 1 July 2004        90,212 37,716 -
Effect of Transition to AIFRS:    
Lease adjustment        766 - 766
Receivables – residential sales       (i) (85,040) (17,640) -
Inventory – residential sales       (g) 74,208 - -
Inventory – other       (b) (1,014) - -
Deferred management fee revenue       (d)(b) (48,831) - -
Unearned income       (e) (19,542) - -
Property plant & equipment       (e) (55,389) - -
Income tax expense       (j) (69,075) (39) -
Fair value of retirement villages       (b) 894,331 - -
Fair value of resident loans       (b) (576,713) - -
Fair value of investment properties       (i) (2,957) - (2,957)
Equity accounted investments       (m) 855 - -
Intangibles       (k) 76 - -
Minority interest        (3,433) - -
Balance under AIFRS at 1 July 2004        198,454 20,037 (2,191)

(5) Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2005

The adoption of AIFRS has not resulted in any material adjustments to the Cash Flow Statement.

 1 JULY 2004
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(6) Notes

This is the first full year audited result of the Group under the Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘AIFRS’) and reflects significant changes to operating profit and the Balance Sheet. The accounts 
for the half year to 31 December 2005 were the first interim accounts to be presented in accordance with AIFRS. 
At the time of preparation of those accounts, the Directors observed that the accounting profession had not arrived 
at a clear view on the appropriate accounting treatment for retirement villages. Those accounts were presented on 
the basis that the transactions between the company and the residents in its villages were sales transactions. This is 
the perspective that the company had traditionally adopted under AGAAP.

Different companies operating in the Australian retirement village industry adopted different accounting 
methodologies in their December 2005 accounts. The difficulty in establishing a uniform approach appears to stem 
from the fact that the industry uses a variety of contractual forms to govern what are, in essence, the same cash flow 
outcomes. That lack of consistency is particularly apparent within the FKP Property Group portfolio, as many of the 
Group’s villages have been acquired as the result of acquisition, and a wide variety of contractual forms are in use, 
even within single villages. 

Since the half year, the Directors have continued to consider the appropriate accounting treatment. There has been 
wide consultation with members of the accounting profession, and with other companies in the industry in Australia, 
and also in New Zealand, where a similar retirement village business model is widely used. The Directors note that 
members of the accounting profession have continued to enunciate views in this area as recently as June 2006.

The Directors’ review has focussed on the balance of risk and reward in the Group’s relationships with its residents 
for all contract types, particularly strata title units, where legal title has passed to the resident. Although title has legally 
passed there are a number of caveats attached which indicate that the risks and rewards commonly associated with 
ownership have not effectively transferred from the operator. It is noted that changes to legislation in 2006 in both 
Queensland and Victoria, and pending legislation in New South Wales, are continuing a legislative trend towards 
greater responsibility being placed on the operator in the village environment. This trend echoes wider consumer 
protection laws in general, and it is likely that the risks and rewards of ownership will fall even more strongly upon 
operators in future.

Based on their review, the Directors have formed the view that on balance, it is more appropriate to treat the 
retirement villages owned by the company as investment properties, to be accounted for in accordance with AASB 
140: ‘Investment Property’. These Accounts are presented on that basis, and the financial results for 2004 / 2005 
have been restated accordingly.
The key differences in accounting policy adopted in preparing AIFRS reconciliations are listed below:
(a) Parent Entity

Under UIG Interpretation 1002: ‘Post-Date-of-Transition Stapling Arrangements’, the Combined Group 
identifies FKP Limited as the Parent Entity as at 1 July 2005.

(b) Investment Properties and Resident Loans
Retirement village assets including communal facilities, buildings and infrastructure under AGAAP were held at 
cost and were not depreciated because they were considered to be in the nature of investment properties with 
fair values in excess of carrying amounts.
Under AIFRS retirement villages are treated as investment properties held to earn revenues and capital 
appreciation, comprising land and buildings intended to be held for the long term relating to independent living 
units, serviced apartment, common facilities and integral plant and equipment. Investment properties are carried 
at fair value with any changes recorded in the Income Statement. The fair value is determined using discounted 
cash flow valuation methodology.

The impact of this accounting treatment is to recognise retirement villages as investment properties at fair 
value, to recognise residents’ incoming contributions as resident loans and to derecognise property, plant and 
equipment that is reflected on the balance sheet as part of the fair value of investment properties. The financial 
impact is as follows:
(i) At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group is to increase investment properties to $894.331m with resident 
obligations recognised as a liability of $576.713m. The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment 
is decreased by $55.389m whilst inventory decreased by $1.014m, with a resulting before tax increase to 
retained earnings of $261.215m.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
The effect on the Combined Group is to increase investment property fair values by $94.533m and 
increase resident loans by $30.403m. Written back depreciation on assets transferred to investment 
properties and no longer depreciated was $1.366m. This results in a net before tax reduction in retained 
earnings of $62.764m.

(c) Sales Revenue
Under the investment property approach to retirement village accounting, a sale is not recognised on the 
commencement of a resident lease or strata property transfer. Previous AGAAP profits on sale are shown 
as a fair value increase to retirement villages. The impact on the Consolidated Entity is to reduce gross profit 
on sale for the year ended 30 June 2005 by $10.980m and to increase fair value of retirement villages by a 
corresponding amount.

(d) Inventory
Completed units of inventory are included in investment properties at fair value.
(i) At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group is a reduction in the balance of the current inventory of $13.615m 
and an increase in investment properties of a corresponding amount.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
The effect on the Combined Group is a reduction in the balance of the current inventory of $8.072m and 
an increase in investment properties of a corresponding amount.

(e) Deferred Management Fees Receivable and Unearned Revenue
Deferred management fees (‘DMF’) under AGAAP were calculated as the present value of the accrued DMF 
recognised over the contract term.
Under AIFRS AASB 118: ‘Revenue’, DMF fees are initially recognised in the Balance Sheet on a contractual 
basis as unearned income and subsequently recognised in the Income Statement as follows:
•  ‘entry’ based contracts - calculated as the anticipated final DMF receivable based on the entry market value 

amortised over the expected average period of tenure of the resident; and
•  ‘exit’ based contracts - calculated as the expected DMF receivable based on the current market value 

amortised over the expected average period of tenure of the resident.
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The financial impact of this accounting treatment is as follows:
(i) At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group is a reduction in the balance of the current DMF receivable of 
$19.840m, a reduction of the non-current DMF receivable of $28.991m, an increase in current unearned 
revenue of $26.115m, and a decrease in non-current unearned revenue of $6.573m. The net decrease in 
revenue and corresponding decrease to retained earnings was $82.002m.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
The effect on the Combined Group is a further reduction in the balance of DMF receivables and unearned 
income of $9.967m with a corresponding decease in DMF income.

(f) Revenue Disclosures in Relation to the Sale of Non-Current Assets
Under AIFRS the revenue recognised in relation to the sale of non-current assets is the net gain on the sale. 
This is in contrast to the AGAAP treatment under which the gross proceeds from the sale are recognised as 
revenue and the carrying amount of the assets sold is recognised as an expense. The net impact on the Income 
Statement is nil.
The impact on the Combined Group for the year ended 30 June 2005 was to decrease other revenue by 
$2.537m with a corresponding reduction in expenses.

(g) Emerging Profits - Residential Developments
The Urgent Issues Group has elected to withdraw UIG Abstract 53 ‘Pre-completion Contracts for the Sale  
of Residential Development Properties’. Pursuant to this abstract the Combined Group was required to  
record profits in a given accounting period to the extent that the residential apartments under contract had 
been pre-sold as at the end of that period and taking into account the percentage to which the development 
had been physically completed. The withdrawal of the UIG Abstract 53 means that, from 1 July 2005 the 
Combined Group will only record profit on residential developments when the developments are completed 
and sales are settled.
(i) At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group is a decrease in trade and other receivables of $85.040m, an increase 
in inventories of $74.208m and a reduction to retained earnings of $10.832m.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
The effect on the Combined Group is an increase in trade and other receivables of a further $39.586m, a 
decrease in inventories of $33.094m and a credit to the Income Statement of $6.492m.

(h) Investment Property
AASB 140 ‘Investment Property’ allows investment properties to be accounted for using either the cost 
method or the fair value method. The Combined Group has adopted the fair value method which requires 
any movements in the fair value of the investment property to be taken directly to the Income Statement 
rather than the asset revaluation reserve, as was previously the practice. In prior years under AGAAP the FKP 
Property Trust may have included investment properties that as a result of acquisition costs were carried at 
above fair value immediately upon acquisition.
(i) At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group and the Trust is a fair value adjustment required to be written off to 
retained earnings under the transition to AIFRS as at 1 July 2004 is $2.191m.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
The effect on the Combined Group and the Trust is an additional fair value decrement to be taken to the 
Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2005 amounted to $1.240m.

(i) Receivables - Operating Leases
Under previous AGAAP, operating lease income was recognised when legally due. However, under AASB 
117: ‘Leases’, lease income from operating leases is only recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which the benefit derived from the 
leased asset is diminished.
In accordance with AASB 140: ‘Investment Property’, the fair value of the investment property excludes the 
accrued operating lease income and instead recognises it as a separate receivable. The effect on previous 
financials prepared under AGAAP is as follows:
(i) At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group and the Trust is to bring to account a current receivable of $0.766m. 
The fair value of the investment property is reduced by this amount.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
The effect on the Combined Group and the Trust is to bring to account a current receivable of $1.429m. 
The fair value of the investment property is reduced by this amount. Rental income is increased by 
$1.429m and a decrement in the fair value of the investment property of the same amount is taken to 
the Income Statement. The net profit effect is nil. This movement is in addition to the increase in the 
receivable balance of $0.766m at 1 July 2004.

(j) Income Tax
AASB 112: ‘Income Tax’ requires all income tax balances to be calculated using the comprehensive balance 
sheet liability method. Deferred tax items will be calculated by comparing the difference in carrying amounts to 
tax bases for all assets and liabilities and multiplying this by the tax rates expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability settled. Recognition of the resulting amounts is subject to some exceptions, 
but generally deferred tax balances must be calculated for each item in the Balance Sheet. Deferred tax assets 
will only be recognised where there exists the probability that future taxable profit will be available to recognise 
the asset.
Application of the Standard will result in FKP Limited having to take to account a deferred tax liability applicable 
to retirement village assets, owned by its subsidiary, Forest Place Group, not accounted for under current 
accounting practices. Whilst the Company has no intention of selling its retirement villages, AASB 112: ‘Income 
Taxes’ requires that a deferred tax liability may be required on the presumption that the asset will be recovered 
wholly or partly through use. The deferred tax asset relates to unused tax losses and has been brought to 
account as it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise these tax losses.
(i) At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group is to increase the deferred tax liabilities by $69.075m with a resulting 
decrease to retained earnings of $69.075m. This represents the current period tax effect of changes to 
DMF revenue, fair value adjustments, reversal of depreciation on property, plant and equipment and 
inventory adjustments.

(ii) At 30 June 2005
The effect on the Combined Group is an addition to deferred tax liabilities by $16.986m, with a resulting 
decrease to profit via income tax expense for the year of $16.986m. These movements reflect the current 
period tax effect of changes to DMF revenue, fair value adjustments, property, plant and equipment and 
inventory adjustments.
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(6) Notes (continued)
(j) Income Tax (continued)

Parent Entity:
Under AGAAP, the head entity in the tax-consolidated group recognised both current and deferred taxes 
in relation to the wholly-owned subsidiaries in the group, whereas under UIG1052, the subsidiaries initially 
recognise both current and deferred tax balances before recognising the head entity’s assumption of the current 
tax liability/tax losses. Deferred tax assets/liabilities relating to temporary differences are recognised in the subsidiaries.
i) At 1 July 2004

The effect on the parent entity is a decrease in receivables from subsidiaries of $17.640m, a decrease in 
deferred tax asset of $0.039m, resulting in a decrease of $17.679m to retained profits.

ii) At 30 June 2005
The effect on the parent entity is a further decrease in receivables from subsidiaries of $3.502m, a 
decrease in deferred tax liability of $17.718, resulting in a decrease in income tax expense of $14.216m.

(k) Intangible Assets

AASB 138: ‘Intangible Assets’ generally requires derecognition of all items that do not qualify as identifiable 
intangible assets. The transition rules allow items that were purchased as part of a business combination and do 
not qualify as an identifiable intangible to be transferred back to the related intangible balance. The treatment of 
each specific intangible is set out below:

Goodwill

Amortisation of goodwill will no longer be permitted under the new standard. At the date of adoption of IFRS, 
goodwill will be allocated to cash generating units of the Entity and will be impairment tested on initial adoption 
of IFRS and annually thereafter. Any necessary impairment write down in relation to goodwill will be expensed 
through the Income Statement.

(i)  At 1 July 2004

The balance of goodwill at 1 July 2004 for the Combined Group is $0.601m.

(ii) At 30 June 2005

The effect on the Combined Group is that amortisation expense of $0.139m has been reversed under AIFRS.

License

All licenses assessed as having an indefinite useful life will be impairment tested annually in accordance with 
the standards. Regardless of the useful life classification, the Directors must assess at the end of each reporting 
period the classification, subsequent method employed and rates used to ensure appropriateness. No 
adjustment for impairment is required under IFRS, however the asset will no longer be amortised.

(i)  At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group is to reverse amortised licences under AGAAP on transition to AIFRS 
of $0.076m.

(ii) At 30 June 2005

The effect on the Combined Group is to reverse the amortisation of intangibles of $0.012m.

Rights

Under AIFRS, Rights with a finite life will continue to be amortised over the life of which benefits are expected. 
At the date of adoption of AIFRS, rights will be allocated to cash generating units of the Group and will be 
impairment tested on initial adoption of AIFRS and annually thereafter. Any potential impairment write down 
will be expensed through the Income Statement. There is no financial impact as this approach is consistent with 
previous policy.

(l)  Business Combinations

The Combined Group has elected under AASB 1 to apply AASB 3: ‘Business Combinations’, prospectively.

(m) Equity Accounted Investments

Equity accounted investments increase profit as a result of the fair value approach for recognising retirement 
villages as investment properties.

(i)  At 1 July 2004

The effect on the Combined Group is to increase the investment value and the profits from syndicates of 
$0.855m.

(ii) At 30 June 2005

The effect on the Combined Group is to increase the investment value and the profits from syndicates of 
$1.697m.

(n) Disclosure and Presentation of Equity

Under AASB 132: ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation of Financial Instruments’ Unit Holders 
funds may be regarded as liabilities where there is no unconditional right to avoid settling a contractual 
obligation to pay out the Trusts’ equity to Unit Holders at the end of the life of the Trust. The constitution of 
FKP Property Trust has been amended in accordance with ASIC IR 05-29 and Class Order 05/566 to remove 
the termination date. Trust capital is shown as minority interest in this Finanacial Report in accordance with UIG 
1002: ‘Post-Date-of-Transition Stapling Arrangments’.
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In the opinion of the Directors of FKP Limited and FKP Funds Management Limited as Responsible Entity for FKP 
Property Trust:

(a)  the Financial Statements and Notes, set out on Pages 31 to 84, are in accordance with the Corporations Act, 
comply with the Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations and give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Parent Entity and Combined Group as at 30 June 2006 and of their operations and cash flows for the 
year ended on that date; and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Parent Entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable; and

(c)  the audited Remuneration Report set out in pages 23 to 27 of the Director’s Report comply with Accounting 
Standards AASB 124: ‘Related Party Disclosures’ and the Corporations Regulations.

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer required by section 295A of the Corporations Act.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

B W MACDONALD P R BROWN

Chairman   Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

Dated at Brisbane 18 September 2006.

Directors’ Declaration
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To the Members of FKP Property Group:

Scope

The Financial Report and Directors’ Responsibility

The Financial Report comprises the Balance Sheet, Income Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow 
Statements, Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements and the Directors’ Declaration for both FKP Limited (“the 
Parent”) and FKP Funds Management Limited as Responsible Entity for FKP Property Trust and the Combined Entity, for 
the year ended 30 June 2006. The Combined Entity comprises both the Parent Entity and the Entities it controlled during 
that year and the FKP Property Trust (“the Trust”).

The Combined Group has disclosed information about the remuneration of key management personnel (“remuneration 
disclosures”), as required by Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures under the heading “Remuneration 
Report” on pages 23 to 27 of the Directors’ Report, as permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The Directors of the Parent Entity and FKP Funds Management Limited as Responsible Entity for FKP Property Trust are 
responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the Financial Report in accordance with the Corporations 
Act. This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are 
designed to prevent and detect fraud and error and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the 
Financial Report.

Audit Approach

We conducted an independent Audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the Combined Group. Our 
Audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to 
whether the Financial Report is free of material misstatement and the remuneration disclosures comply with Accounting 
Standard AASB124 and the Corporations Regulations 2001. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the 
use of professional judgement, selective testing, and the inherent limitations of internal control and the availability of 
persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have 
been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the Financial Report presents fairly, in accordance 
with the Corporations Act, including compliance with Accounting Standards and other mandatory financial reporting 
requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of the Parent Entity’s, the Trust’s, and  
the Combined Group’s financial position and of their performance as represented by the results of their operations  
and cash flows and whether the remuneration disclosures comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001.

We formed our Audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

•  examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Financial 
Report; and

•  assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the 
nature and extent of our procedures, our Audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

Independence

In conducting our Audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical 
pronouncements and the Corporations Act.

Audit Opinion

In our opinion, the Financial Report of FKP Property Group is in accordance with:

(a) The Corporations Act, including:

  (i)   giving a true and fair view of the Parent Entity’s, the Trust’s and the Combined Group’s financial position as at  
30 June 2006 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

  (ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) Other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

(c)  The remuneration disclosures required by Accounting Standard AASB124 which are contained in the Remuneration 
Report, comply with the standard and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

PKF      C G BELLAMY

Chartered Accountants  Partner

Dated at Brisbane 18 September 2006.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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The information set out below was prepared as at 18 September 2006 and applies equally to the FKP Property Trust 
and FKP Limited, as members are required to hold equal numbers of units in the Property Trust and shares in the Parent 
Entity under the terms of the joint quotation on the Australian Stock Exchange. 

LARGEST TWENTY SECURITYHOLDERS
NUMBER  

OF SECURITIES
PERCENTAGE  

OF ISSUED SECURITIES

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,605,039 6.07
Mulpha Australia Limited 11,583,333 6.06
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 10,001,290 5.23
ANZ Nominees Limited 9,549,071 5.00
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 8,456,063 4.42
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 5,697,901 2.98
Philip Parker Pty Ltd 5,463,714 2.86
Suncorp Custodian Services Pty Limited 4,899,866 2.56
Spotlake Pty Ltd 3,885,455 2.03
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,818,005 2.00
Spotville Pty Ltd 3,640,000 1.90
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,615,699 1.89
Spotville Pty Ltd 3,596,596 1.88
Seymour Group Pty Ltd 3,401,739 1.78
Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 3,381,811 1.77
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 2,792,924 1.46
AMP Life Limited 2,311,522 1.21
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 2,192,424 1.15
National Nominees Limited 2,012,234 1.05
Milton Corporation Limited 1,999,071 1.05

103,903,757 54.35

The total number of securities on issue as at 18 September 2006 is 191,161,904.

SUBSTANTIAL SECURITYHOLDERS NUMBER OF SECURITIES

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,605,039
Mulpha Australia Limited 11,583,333
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 10,001,290

DISTRIBUTION OF SECURITYHOLDERS
CATEGORY

NUMBER  
OF SECURITIES

NUMBER OF 
 SECURITYHOLDERS

1 – 1,000 1,127,313 1,963
1,001 – 5,000 12,149,141 4,279
5,001 – 10,000 14,004,331 1,913
10,001 – 100,000 32,479,513 1,533
100,001 and over 131,401,606 92

191,161,904 9,780

There were 82 securityholders holding less than a marketable parcel.

VOTING RIGHTS
On a show of hands every securityholder, present in person or by proxy or by attorney or by duly authorised 
representative, shall have one vote and on a poll, every securityholder so present shall have one vote for every security 
held by such securityholder. 

STOCK EXCHANGE 
FKP Limited and FKP Property Trust, are jointly quoted on the ASX with a home exchange in Brisbane. 

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK
There is no current on-market buy-back.

Securityholders
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SECURITYHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES
Securityholders with enquiries about their holding should contact the FKP Share Registrar as follows:

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
Level 19, 307 Queen Street 
BRISBANE QLD 4000

Telephone: 1300 658 814 
Facsimile: (07) 3237 2152 
Email: web.queries@computershare.com.au 

Enquiries of a general nature should be directed to the Company Secretary on (07) 3223 3817 and institutional enquiries 
should be directed to the Institutional Relationship Manager on 1300 658 814.

DISTRIBUTION/DIVIDEND
The final distribution/dividend of 14.6 cents per security will be paid on 13 October 2006 to securityholders entitled to 
receive distributions/dividends and registered on 30 June 2006. 

REINVESTMENT PLAN
FKP operates a Distribution Reinvestment Plan which allows securityholders to have their payments used to buy more 
stapled securities in FKP at a discount up to 10% as determined by the Board. The discount applicable for the October 
2006 DRP will be 2.5%. Any future changes to the DRP will be disclosed to the ASX and notified on the FKP website. 
Application forms can be sent to you by Computershare. 

eTree
As a FKP Property Group securityholder, every year you are sent a number of securityholder communications via post. 
Register your email address via www.eTree.com.au/fkp to receive your securityholder communications electronically and 
FKP Property Group will donate $2 to Landcare Australia to support urgent reforestation projects. 

ANNUAL REPORT
Securityholders have a choice as to whether or not they receive the annual report. If you do not wish to receive the 
annual report please advise the Share Registrar in writing. These securityholders will continue to receive all other 
securityholder information. 

The annual report, together with all announcements made by FKP to the ASX are available on the FKP website  
at www.fkp.com.au.

TO CONSOLIDATE SECURITYHOLDINGS
Securityholders who want to consolidate their separate securityholdings into one account should write to the Share 
Registrar or their sponsoring broker, whichever is applicable. 

TAX FILE NUMBERS (TFN)
Whilst not compulsory, most Australian resident securityholders prefer to quote their TFN to avoid having withholding 
tax deducted from dividends which are unfranked or from distributions paid by property trusts. Securityholders should 
advise in writing their TFN details to the Share Registrar or sponsoring broker, whichever is applicable. 

Securityholder Information
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